
D&B Solutions
Risk Management Solutions

Sales & Marketing Solutions

Supply Management Solutions

E-Business Solutions

www.dnb.com
D&B
103 JFK Parkway
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078-2708
Telephone: 973.921.5500

trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence

insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted

customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight

confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers

trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence

insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted

customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight

confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers

trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence

insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted

customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight

confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers

trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence

insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted

customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight

confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers

trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence

insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted

customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight

confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers

trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence

insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted

customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight

confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers

trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence ■ trusted ■ insight ■ customers ■ confidence

2003 Annual Report

Notice of 2004 Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement

To be the most trusted source of 
business insight so our customers can

decide with confidence
“

”

™ ™



Directors Officers

Allan Z. Loren
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation

John W. Alden (3)

Retired Vice Chairman

United Parcel Service, Inc. 

(Express Package Carrier Company) 

Steven W. Alesio
President and Chief Operating Officer

The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation

Ronald L. Kuehn, Jr. (1,3)

Chairman of the Board

El Paso Corporation 

(Diversified Energy Company) 

Victor A. Pelson (1,3)

Senior Advisor

UBS Securities LLC

(Investment Banking Firm) 

Sandra E. Peterson (2,3)

Former Group President, Government

Medco Health Solutions, Inc. 

(Pharmacy Benefits Manager Company)

Michael R. Quinlan (2,3)

Chairman Emeritus

McDonald’s Corporation 

(Global Food Service Retailer) 

Naomi O. Seligman (1,2)

Senior Partner

Ostriker von Simson 

(Consultants on Information Technology) 

Board Committees

1 Audit Committee

2 Board Affairs

3 Compensation & Benefits

Allan Z. Loren
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Steven W. Alesio
President and Chief Operating Officer

Joanne B. Carson
VP, Communications

David T. Clarke
VP, U.S. Sales & Marketing Solutions

Patricia A. Clifford
VP, Human Resources and Winning Culture

Charles E. Gottdiener
VP, Strategy and Business Development

Kathleen M. Guinnessey
VP, Treasury and Investor Relations

Cynthia B. Hamburger
SVP, Customer Operations

Lawrence M. Kutscher
VP, E-Business Solutions and U.S. Supply

Management Solutions

David J. Lewinter
SVP, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Sara Mathew
SVP, Chief Financial Officer

Amy B. McIntosh
SVP, U.S. Risk Management Solutions 

Gary S. Michel
VP, Reengineering

Gregory E. Nordal
SVP, Europe

Michael Pepe
SVP, U.S. Sales

Vicki P. Raeburn
SVP, Chief Quality Officer and DUNSRight™

Mary Jane Raymond
VP, Corporate Controller

Corporate Office
103 JFK Parkway

Short Hills, New Jersey 07078-2708

Telephone: 973.921.5500

http://www.dnb.com

Transfer Agent, Registrar
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.

P.O. Box 43023

Providence, R.I. 02940-3023

Domestic: 800.519.3111

Foreign: 816.843.4299

Hearing Impaired: 781.575.2692

Fax: 781.828.8813

Online Shareholder Account Information:

http://www.equiserve.com

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

400 Campus Drive 

Florham Park, NJ 07932

Common Stock Information
The Company’s common stock (symbol DNB) 

is listed on the New York stock exchange.

© 2004 Dun & Bradstreet, Inc.



something we are striving to
achieve

a level of trust that is unrivaled and
is built on our 160-year heritage 

the one and only place a customer
should go for business information

what we provide; not just data, not
just information 

we always want to enable our
customers; they come first and our
success depends on their success 

to make critical business decisions
with the utmost confidence with
D&B; what our Brand stands behind

To be

the most trusted

source of

business insight

so our customers can

decide with confidence

Let’s take a closer look at each of its components:

We have evolved D&B’s aspiration to reflect our intense focus on our customers’success
because when our customers win, we win. Our new aspiration directs how we will achieve
year over year growth and create the most value for our shareholders.

Our Aspiration

“

”
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To Our Shareholders

Fellow Shareholders,

We are pleased to report to you that the D&B team continues to make good progress in our

journey to transform D&B into a growth company. 

As an indication of our continuing progress, in 2003, we:

delivered core revenue growth before the effect of foreign exchange of 4%,1 at the upper end of

our most recent guidance of 1-4%;

delivered earnings per share (EPS) growth of 18%2 before non-core gains and charges, at the

upper end of our guidance range of 16-18%; and

generated 76% of our revenue over the Web by year-end, exceeding our goal of 70%.

In short, the D&B team once again met our commitments to our shareholders as we continued

on our journey. We feel good about our accomplishments. So do our customers and our team

members: both customer and employee satisfaction levels improved in 2003. These

improvements in customer and team member satisfaction, coupled with our consistent financial

performance and our record of meeting our commitments to our shareholders, make us, we

believe, a good company. 

Being a good company is important, but it is not enough: we want to be a great company. We see

no reason to be satisfied with simply being good when we have the potential of being great. We

believe we can be a great company, and we intend to be.

Great can have a wide variety of meanings. Here is what great means to us at D&B. First, in terms

of revenue: it means 7-9% revenue growth, year after year, by 2007. Second, it means that our

customers recognize that we’re focused on their success. Third, it means that everyone at D&B

Allan Z. Loren, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Steven W. Alesio, President and Chief Operating Officer
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personally believes that we are best-in-class at

what we do, and acts like it day-in and day-out.

Finally, it means that we are continuing to

create shareholder value.

Our “New” Aspiration
In order to generate shareholder value and a

consistent 7-9% level of revenue growth, we

know that we need to be even more intensely

focused on our customers’ success. We’ve

always had a customer focus: in fact, “place 

the interests of our customers first” is one of 

our core values. But now we are taking that

focus to a higher level, and our intensified 

focus on our customers’ success is reflected in

our “new” aspiration:

“To be the most trusted source of

business insight so our customers can

decide with confidence.”

(please see more on our aspiration on p. 1)

Our intention to become a growth company has

not changed. Our new aspiration continues our

emphasis on growth: it gives us direction about

the best way for us to achieve year over year

growth and create the most value for our

shareholders. Our Blueprint for Growth strategy

remains the roadmap for our journey, and three

of our Blueprint components provide us with

powerful competitive advantages that will help

us achieve our aspiration: our Brand, our Flexible

Business Model, and our Winning Culture.

Our Competitive Advantages
Our Brand remains at the center of our

Blueprint, and at the core of our growth strategy.

One of the ways that we continue to leverage our

Brand is by helping our customers to understand

more fully the value of our proprietary

DUNSRight™ quality process. DUNSRight™

enables us to collect, aggregate, edit, and verify

data from thousands of sources daily. The output

of the DUNSRight™ process is insightful

information that our customers use to make

better, more informed business decisions (please

see “The DUNSRight™ Process” on p. 7).

We invested over a quarter of a billion dollars in

DUNSRight™ during 2003 to bring our customers

a level of insightful information that they can

find nowhere else. These investments in

DUNSRight™ enable us to continually improve

the quality of the information we bring to our

customers, enhance the value propositions 

we offer, and differentiate D&B from our

competitors. Our team members are

communicating the power of DUNSRight™ to our

customers every day so that our customers can

better understand how D&B can help them

grow their businesses and be more profitable. As

a result, we believe that DUNSRight™ is gaining

traction in the marketplace, and generating an

increasing number of competitive wins. 

We are able to make strategic investments in

DUNSRight™ and other growth initiatives

because of Financial Flexibility. We view our

financially flexible business model as the

engine that fuels our growth. It enables us to

view almost every dollar we spend as flexible.

This means that we consider very little of our

costs as fixed, and we continually evaluate

every investment to assure we are spending our

money on the most impactful activities. We

We’ve always had a customer focus ... But now we are taking

that focus to a higher level, and our intensified focus on our

customers’ success is reflected in our “new” aspiration.

“
”
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constantly seek to improve our performance in

terms of quality and cost and reallocate our

spending to maximize shareholder value. This

attitude reflects an ongoing mindset at D&B,

not a one-time effort or an activity that takes

place only in the budget planning process.

Through our ongoing Financial Flexibility

initiatives, over the past three years we have

reduced our expense base by approximately

$70-80 million per year on an annualized

basis (before any reallocation of spending).

We expect our initiatives in 2004 to generate

an additional $70-80 million in annualized

s av i n g s .  I n  a d d i t io n  t o  i nve s t i n g  t h o s e

savings in areas that will spur our long term

revenue growth, we return some of these

s av i n g s  t o  o u r  s ha r e h ol d e r s ,  f u r t h e r

enhancing EPS.

We also continue to invest  in our team

members’ leadership development as part of

building a Winning Culture. The foundation

of our Winning Culture initiative is  our

Leadership Model, which focuses on creating

a team of  great  leaders .  We emphasize

leadership improvement for one reason: we

believe that superb leadership leads to superb

execution which leads to superb results for

our shareholders. Our passion for improving

our leadership and focusing on our customers’

success provides us with a competitive

advantage in the marketplace. Over the past

three years, our team members’ improved

leadership has made D&B a good company:

we believe that our team members’ ongoing

commitment to becoming better leaders will

help us make D&B a great company. 

Our Customer Solution Sets
Our competitive advantages drive revenue

generation in our Current Business and in

our E-Business customer solution sets. These

solution sets ,  bui lt  on the power of

DUNRight,™ help our customers to grow their

businesses and become more profitable. In

2003, each of our solution sets contributed to

D&B’s revenue results. 

Risk Management Solutions ,  our largest

solution set, help our customers to increase

profitability and cash flow while managing

overall risk exposure. Our investments helped

us achieve 2% revenue growth in this area in

2003, mitigating historical declines in our

traditional solutions, and driving 10% growth in

our value-added Risk Management Solutions.

Our value-added solutions support automated

decision-making and portfolio management

through the use of scoring and integrated

software solutions. 

In 2003, we targeted the expanding small

business credit market more directly with our

DUNSRight™ powered integrated solutions. Our

Small Business Risk Insight (SBRI) initiative, for

example, speaks directly to customers operating

in this market. SBRI is our data repository that

collects and consolidates lending performance

data from financial institutions on small

businesses. Members leverage D&B’s powerful

predictive tools to make more informed small

business financial credit decisions. During 2003,

the number of financial institutions becoming

members of SBRI more than doubled to 90, and

the repository grew to include more than $60

billion in total outstanding transactions.

We invested over a quarter of a billion dollars in DUNSRight™

during 2003 to bring our customers a level of insightful

information that they can find nowhere else.

“
”
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Sales & Marketing Solutions help our

customers to obtain profitable new customers,

and to generate increased revenue from

existing customers. In the first quarter of 2003,

we faced a slowdown in sales of our traditional

products which we believe reflected

customers’ reluctance to conduct marketing

campaigns in the then current market

environment. We recognized the challenge in

traditional product sales and addressed it

through our investments and better

leadership. As a result, we saw continued

improvement quarter by quarter during 2003.

We also invested in our value-added Sales &

Marketing Solutions, which generally include

decision-making and customer information

management solutions. Our value-added

solutions grew by 18% and helped us achieve 

1% revenue growth for Sales & Marketing

Solutions in 2003.

Supply Management Solutions enable our

customers to manage their suppliers more

effectively to generate savings. Our solutions

help our customers to identify 100% of what

they spend throughout their  entire

organizations worldwide. Using this insightful

information, customers can mitigate supply

chain risk and manage their spending and

purchasing compliance more efficiently. They

can also negotiate more favorable terms with

their suppliers based on an informed under-

standing of their total purchases not only with

each individual supplier but also with all of

the supplier’s related companies. In 2003,

Supply Management Solutions revenue 

grew 16%. 

E-Business Solutions provide our customers

convenient access to our products over the Web.

In March of 2003, we added to our Web

capability through our acquisition of Hoover’s.

Hoover’s helps our customers drive revenue

growth by converting “prospects”to “customers”

more quickly and at a lower total cost. Hoover’s

provides in-depth industry and market

intelligence on more than 40,000 companies on

a subscription basis; primarily to sales,

marketing, and business development

professionals. Since the acquisition, our

investments have enabled us to more than

double the number of companies in Hoover’s

database. Hoover’s has become a significant

contributor to growth, with revenue that

exceeded our expectations.

Our focus on leveraging our Brand through

DUNSRight,™ our ongoing investments made

possible through Financial Flexibility, and

our team members’ leadership provided us

with important competitive advantages in

2003, and these competitive advantages

drove the performance results  outl ined

above.

Looking Ahead
To progress further toward consistent 7-9%

revenue growth year-over-year by 2007, we

realize that we will need to intensify our focus

on our customer-centered aspiration because,

put simply, our customers’ success is our

success. To achieve this aspiration, the D&B

team will focus on the following seven strategic

priorities which are derived from our Blueprint

strategy:

Our solution sets, built on the power of DUNSRight™, help 

our customers to grow their businesses and become more

profitable.

“
”
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1. Build the D&B brand around DUNSRight,™

the basis of our competitive advantage in

the marketplace.

2. Grow our Risk Management Solutions by 

3-5% annually.

3. Grow our Sales & Marketing Solutions by 

4-7% annually.

4. Grow our Supply Management Solutions by

25% annually.

5. Build and/or acquire a 5th product line that

leverages DUNSRight™ and creates

additional growth opportunities.

6. Grow our E-Business Solutions by 35-50%

annually.

7. Implement our financially flexible business

model.

Executing against each of these priorities will,

we believe, enhance shareholder value, and

move us forward as we transform D&B into a

growth company. 

Looking back, we feel good about our progress

thus far. We have focused on our Blueprint

strategy and delivered on our commitments to

our shareholders: we have made D&B a good

company. 

Looking ahead, we feel even better about our

future. We are confident that by continuing to

execute on our Blueprint we will achieve our

aspiration, and become a company that

consistently grows revenue and continues to

create shareholder value – year after year. That

is our focus, that is where we are headed as a

company – from good to great.

Sincerely,

Allan Z. Loren

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Steven W. Alesio

President and Chief Operating Officer

1 On a GAAP basis, our total revenue grew 9%. We define core revenue as total revenue excluding the results of divested businesses. All references in this letter
to revenue growth are before the effects of foreign exchange. For a presentation of the most directly comparable GAAP measure (total revenue), please see
the section “How We Manage Our Business” under “Item 7. Management’s Discussions and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of the
attached Form 10-K.

2 On a GAAP basis, our earnings per share grew 23%. We define non-core gains and charges as restructuring charges (whether or not recurring) and certain
other items we do not consider part of our underlying business performance. For a summary of these non-core gains and charges, please see the section
“Non-Core Gains and Charges” under “Item 7. Management’s Discussions and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of the attached
Form 10-K. 

Our team members’ ongoing commitment to becoming 

better leaders will help us make D&B a great company.“ ”
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The D&B Brand has stood for high quality business information for more than 160 years. Our Brand

reputation rests on providing our customers with the insightful information they need to make busi-

ness decisions with confidence. We know we have to “get it right,” and we do that by using our patent

pending process called DUNSRight.™

Using DUNSRight,™ we collect, aggregate, edit,

and verify data from thousands of sources

daily so that our customers can use the infor-

mation we provide to make profitable deci-

sions for their businesses. Our ability to turn

an enormous stream of data into high qual-

ity business information is what sets us

apart from our competitors. Maintaining

this capability in today’s exploding infor-

mation economy requires significant invest-

ment which is why we invest over a quarter

of a billion dollars a year.

Our database covers over 83 million businesses, and we update our database more than 1.5 million

times a day. Through our DUNSRight™ process, our customers have access to comprehensive data which

we constantly endeavor to make accurate, complete, timely, and consistent around the world. 

The insightful information we offer to our customers to help them make better business decisions is the

product of DUNSRight™ – a quality process that is second to none. The foundation of DUNSRight™ is

Quality Assurance which includes over 2000 separate automated checks, plus many manual ones, to

ensure that data meets our high quality standards. In addition, five Quality Drivers work sequentially

to collect and enhance the data. The process works like this:

■ Global Data Collection brings together data from a variety of sources worldwide. 

■ We integrate the data into our database through our patented Entity Matching, which produces a

single, more accurate picture of each business.

■ We apply the D-U-N-S® Number as a unique means of identifying and tracking a business globally

through every step in the life and activity of the business.

■ We use Corporate Linkage to enable our customers to view their total risk or opportunity across

related businesses.

■ Finally, our Predictive Indicators use statistical analysis to rate a business’ past performance and to

indicate how likely the business is to perform that same way in the future. 

The output of this extensive process? High quality business insight that our customers rely on to –

Decide with Confidence.

The DUNSRight™ Process

Entity 
Matching 

2

Global Data
Collection 

1

Quality
Information

D&B 
Global 

Database

D-U-N-S®

Number
3

Corporate
Linkage 

4

Predictive
Indicators 

5

Quality Assurance

➤➤

➤ ➤

Our unique DUNSRight™ process is the power behind 

business insight.“ ”
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Our Values

■ Treat all people with respect and dignity; value differences.

■ Pursue an unrelenting quest for quality; use speed and simplicity to

achieve goals.

■ Conduct ourselves with the highest level of integrity and business ethics.

■ Place the interest of customers first; our success depends on their success.

■ Commit to teamwork; seek out and utilize the ideas and skills of all team

members.

■ Reach for the highest standards of performance; show a passion for 

winning.

By behaving in accordance with these values, we will provide outstanding service

to our customers, maintain a leadership position in our business, improve satisfaction

for our team members and provide superior value to our shareholders.

All our activities and decisions must be based
on, and guided by, our values.“ ”



March 24, 2004

Dear Shareholder:

You are cordially invited to attend the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation on Tuesday, May 4, 2004, at 8:30 a.m. at The Ritz-Carlton New York,
Central Park, 50 Central Park South, New York, New York.

The Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement accompanying this letter more fully
describes the business to be acted upon at the meeting. The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2003 is also enclosed.

Your vote is important. Please vote your shares whether or not you plan to attend the meeting. In
addition to voting in person or by mail, shareholders of record have the option of voting by
telephone or via the Internet. If your shares are held in the name of a bank, broker or other
holder of record, check your proxy card to see which of these options are available to you.

On behalf of your Board of Directors, thank you for your continued support of D&B.

Sincerely,

ALLAN Z. LOREN

Chairman and Chief Executive OÇcer
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Notice of 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

The 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation will be held on
Tuesday, May 4, 2004, at 8:30 a.m. at The Ritz-Carlton New York, Central Park, 50 Central
Park South, New York, New York. The purpose of the meeting is to:

1. Elect three Class I directors for a three-year term;

2. Ratify the appointment of independent auditors; and

3. Transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting. The Company
knows of no other business to be brought before the meeting.

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on March 11, 2004, will be entitled to vote at
the meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

DAVID J. LEWINTER

Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Dated: March 24, 2004
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PROXY STATEMENT

GENERAL  INFORMATION

The Board of Directors of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (""D&B'' or the ""Company'') is soliciting
your proxy for use at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 4, 2004. These proxy materials
are being mailed to shareholders beginning on or about March 24, 2004. The principal executive oÇces of
D&B are located at 103 JFK Parkway, Short Hills, New Jersey 07078-2708, and the Company's main
telephone number is 973.921.5500.

On September 30, 2000, the company then known as The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (""Old D&B'')
separated into two publicly traded companies: the ""new'' Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (i.e., the company to
which this Proxy Statement relates) and Moody's Corporation. The separation of the two companies was
accomplished through a tax-free distribution by Old D&B of the shares of Common Stock of the Company
(the ""Spin-OÅ''). Old D&B then changed its name to ""Moody's Corporation.'' Information included in this
Proxy Statement concerning the Company and its management during periods prior to the Spin-OÅ actually
relates to Old D&B and its management.

ANNUAL  MEETING  ADMISSION

You will need an admission ticket to enter the Annual Meeting. For shareholders of record, an admission
ticket is attached to the proxy card sent to you. If your shares are held in the name of a bank, broker or other
holder of record and you plan to attend the meeting in person, you may obtain an admission ticket in advance
by sending a written request, along with proof of share ownership, such as a bank or brokerage account
statement, to the Company's Corporate Secretary at the address noted above. Shareholders who do not have
admission tickets will be admitted only following veriÑcation of ownership at the door.

WHO  CAN  VOTE

Shareholders of record at the close of business on March 11, 2004 are eligible to vote at the meeting. As
of the close of business on that date, D&B had outstanding 71,481,606 shares of Common Stock.

LIST OF  SHAREHOLDERS

The names of registered shareholders of record entitled to vote at the meeting will be available at the
Annual Meeting and, for 10 days prior to the meeting, at the oÇce of the Corporate Secretary of the
Company, 103 JFK Parkway, Short Hills, New Jersey.

HOW TO  VOTE

In addition to voting in person at the meeting, shareholders of record can vote by proxy by calling a toll-
free telephone number, by using the Internet or by mailing their signed proxy cards. The telephone and
Internet voting procedures are designed to authenticate shareholders' identities, to allow shareholders to give
their voting instructions and to conÑrm that shareholders' instructions have been recorded properly. SpeciÑc
instructions for shareholders of record who wish to use the telephone or Internet voting procedures are set
forth below and can also be found on the enclosed proxy card.

Registered Shareholders

VOTE BY TELEPHONE. Registered shareholders can vote by calling toll-free 1.800.690.6903. Easy to
follow voice prompts allow you to vote your shares and conÑrm that your instructions have been properly
recorded.



VOTE ON THE INTERNET. The website for registered shareholders to vote on the Internet is
www.proxyvote.com. As with telephone voting, you can conÑrm that your instructions have been properly
recorded.

VOTE BY MAIL. For registered shareholders choosing to vote by mail, simply indicate your response on
your proxy card, date and sign it, and return it in the postage-paid envelope provided. If the envelope is
missing, please mail your completed proxy card to The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, c/o Automatic Data
Processing, Inc. (""ADP''), 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY 11717.

BeneÑcial Holders

If your shares are held in the name of a bank, broker or other holder of record, you will receive
instructions from the holder of record that you must follow in order for your shares to be voted. Certain of
these institutions oÅer telephone and Internet voting.

REVOCATION OF  PROXIES

A shareholder of record can revoke a proxy at any time before the vote is taken at the meeting by sending
written notice of the revocation to the Corporate Secretary of the Company, by submitting another proxy that
is properly signed and bears a later date, or by voting in person at the meeting. All properly executed proxies
not revoked will be voted at the meeting in accordance with their instructions. A proxy that is signed and
returned by a shareholder of record without speciÑcations marked in the instruction boxes will be voted in
accordance with the recommendations of the Board of Directors, as outlined in this Proxy Statement. If any
other proposals are brought before the meeting and submitted to a vote, all proxies will be voted in accordance
with the judgment of the persons voting the proxies.

CONSOLIDATION OF  YOUR  VOTE

You will receive only one proxy card for all the shares you hold in your name, in the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan and in the D&B Common Stock Fund of the D&B or Moody's Corporation ProÑt Participation
Plan (collectively, the ""PPP''). If you are a current or former employee of the Company who currently has
shares in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan or PPP, you are entitled to give voting instructions for the shares
held in your account. Your proxy card will serve as a voting instruction card for the plans' trustees.

If you do not vote your shares or specify your voting instructions on your proxy card, the plans' trustees
will vote your shares in the same proportion as the shares for which voting instructions have been received
from other participants of each plan, except as otherwise required by law. To allow suÇcient time for voting by
the trustees of the plans, your voting instructions must be received by April 28, 2004.

HOUSEHOLDING  INFORMATION

We have adopted a procedure approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the ""SEC'') called
""householding.'' Under this procedure, shareholders of record who have the same address and last name and
do not participate in electronic delivery of proxy materials will receive only one copy of our Proxy Statement
and Annual Report, unless one or more of the shareholders at that address notiÑes us that they wish to
continue receiving individual copies. We believe this procedure provides greater convenience to our
shareholders and saves money by reducing our printing costs and fees.

If you and other shareholders of record with whom you share an address and last name currently receive
multiple copies of our Proxy Statement and Annual Report and would like to participate in our householding
program, please contact ADP by calling toll-free at 800.542.1061, or by writing to ADP, Householding
Department, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY 11717. Alternatively, if you participate in householding and
wish to revoke your consent and receive separate copies of future Proxy Statements and Annual Reports,
please contact ADP as described above.
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A number of brokerage Ñrms have instituted householding. If you hold your shares in ""street name,''
please contact your bank, broker or other holder of record to request information about householding.

PROXY  SOLICITATION

Directors, oÇcers and employees of D&B may solicit proxies on behalf of the Company by communicat-
ing with shareholders personally or by telephone, facsimile, e-mail, telegraph or mail. D&B also has retained
the Ñrm of Morrow & Co., Inc. to assist in the solicitation of proxies for a fee estimated at $5,000 plus
expenses. D&B will pay all expenses related to such solicitations of proxies. D&B and Morrow will request
banks and brokers to solicit proxies from their customers, where appropriate, and will reimburse them for
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses.

QUORUM AND  VOTING  REQUIREMENTS

D&B's Bylaws provide that a majority of the shares entitled to vote, whether present in person or
represented by proxy, constitute a quorum at meetings of shareholders. Abstentions and broker ""non-votes''
are counted for purposes of establishing a quorum. A broker ""non-vote'' occurs when a broker holding shares
for a beneÑcial owner does not vote on a particular proposal because the broker has not received instructions
from the beneÑcial owner and does not have discretionary voting power for that particular matter. Brokers are
permitted by the New York Stock Exchange (""NYSE'') to vote shares without instructions from beneÑcial
owners on routine matters such as the election of directors and the ratiÑcation of the selection of independent
auditors.

Election of directors (Proposal No. 1) shall be determined by a plurality of the voting power present in
person or represented by proxy at the meeting (i.e., the director nominees receiving the greatest number of
votes will be elected). Only shares that are voted in favor of a particular nominee will be counted toward such
nominee's achievement of a plurality. Thus, shares present at the meeting that are not voted for a particular
nominee, shares present by proxy for which the shareholder properly withholds authority to vote for such
nominees, and broker ""non-votes'' will not be counted towards such nominee's achievement of a plurality.

RatiÑcation of the selection of independent auditors (Proposal No. 2) shall be determined by the
aÇrmative vote of the majority of the voting power represented at the meeting and entitled to vote on the
matter. If a shareholder abstains from voting or directs the shareholder's proxy to abstain from voting on the
matter, the shares are considered present at the meeting and entitled to vote on such matter, but since they are
not aÇrmative votes for the matter, they will have the same eÅect as votes against the matter. On the other
hand, shares resulting in broker ""non-votes'' are considered present at the meeting but not entitled to vote on
such matter and, therefore, have the practical eÅect of reducing the number of aÇrmative votes required to
achieve a majority for such matter by reducing the total number of shares from which the majority is
calculated.

SHAREHOLDER  ACCOUNT  MAINTENANCE

Our transfer agent is EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. All communications concerning accounts of
registered shareholders of record, including address changes, name changes, inquiries as to requirements to
transfer shares of common stock and similar issues, can be handled by calling EquiServe's toll-free number,
800.519.3111 (foreign holders dial 816.843.4299; hearing-impaired holders dial 781.575.2692), or by fax at
781.828.8813. In addition, you can access your account through EquiServe's website at
http://www.equiserve.com.
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CORPORATE  GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE  GOVERNANCE  PRINCIPLES AND  COMMITTEE  CHARTERS

The objective of our Board of Directors is to conduct our business activities so as to enhance shareholder
value. Our Board of Directors believes that good corporate governance practices support successful business
performance and thus the creation of shareholder value. To institutionalize the Board's view of governance,
our Board has adopted Corporate Governance Principles and Charters for each Committee of our Board. We
maintain a Corporate Governance website at http://www.dnb.com/us where we make available these
documents and other items relating to the governance of the Company, including our Bylaws and Code of
Conduct. Copies of these documents may also be obtained upon request to the Company's Corporate
Secretary.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE  BOARD AND  COMMITTEES

D&B's Corporate Governance Principles require that at least two-thirds of the Board of Directors meet
the criteria for independence established by the NYSE and other applicable laws. Additionally, all members
of the Audit Committee, the Compensation & BeneÑts Committee and the Board AÅairs Committee of the
D&B Board of Directors are required to be independent.

Under the NYSE listing standards, to be considered independent, the Board of Directors must
aÇrmatively determine that a director has no material relationship with D&B (either directly or as a partner,
shareholder or oÇcer of an organization that has a relationship with D&B). After considering all relevant facts
and circumstances, D&B's Board of Directors has determined that each of its members, except Allan Z. Loren
and Steven W. Alesio, are independent under the NYSE listing standards. It also determined that each
member of the Audit Committee, the Compensation & BeneÑts Committee and the Board AÅairs Committee
is independent under the NYSE standards.

BOARD  MEETINGS

The Board of Directors of the Company held nine meetings in 2003. No director attended fewer than 75%
of the aggregate meetings of the Board and of the Committees of the Board on which he or she served.

The Chairman of the Board and the Corporate Secretary of the Company draft the agenda for each Board
meeting and distribute it in advance of each meeting to the Board. Each Board member is encouraged to
suggest items for inclusion on the agenda.

Information and data that is important to the Board's understanding of the business and of scheduled
agenda items is distributed suÇciently in advance of each Board meeting to give the directors a reasonable
opportunity for review. Generally, directors receive Board materials no less than three days in advance of a
meeting.

D&B's non-management directors meet in regularly scheduled executive sessions without members of
management. The Chair of the Board AÅairs Committee (the ""presiding director'') presides over these
executive sessions. The presiding director is currently Michael R. Quinlan.
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COMMITTEES AND  MEETINGS

There were three standing committees of the Board of Directors: Audit, Board AÅairs and Compensa-
tion & BeneÑts.

The table below provides the current membership information for each of the Board's committees.

Name Audit Board AÅairs Compensation & BeneÑts

John W. Alden X
Ronald L. Kuehn, Jr. X X*
Victor A. Pelson X* X
Sandra E. Peterson X X
Michael R. Quinlan X* X
Naomi O. Seligman X X

2003 Meetings 11 2 9

* Committee Chair

The Audit Committee. Under the terms of its Charter, the Audit Committee's primary function is to
annually appoint the independent auditor and to assist the Board in the oversight of: (1) the integrity of the
Ñnancial statements of the Company, (2) the independent auditors' qualiÑcations and independence, (3) the
performance of the Company's internal audit function and independent auditors, and (4) the compliance by
the Company with legal and regulatory requirements. The Report of the Audit Committee can be found under
the ""Audit Committee Information'' section of this Proxy Statement.

All of the members of the Audit Committee are independent within the meaning of SEC regulations and
NYSE listing standards. The Board of Directors has determined that all members of the Audit Committee are
""Ñnancially literate'' within the meaning of NYSE regulations.

D&B's Board of Directors has reviewed the qualiÑcations and experience of each of the Audit Committee
members and determined that Frederic V. Salerno qualiÑed as an ""audit committee Ñnancial expert'' as that
term has been deÑned by the SEC. As noted under the ""Election of Directors'' section of this Proxy
Statement, Mr. Salerno resigned from the D&B Board eÅective March 16, 2004, and the Company is actively
recruiting for another director who qualiÑes as an ""audit committee Ñnancial expert.''

The Board AÅairs Committee. Under the terms of its Charter, the Board AÅairs Committee's primary
responsibilities include (1) identifying individuals qualiÑed to become Board members, (2) recommending
candidates to Ñll Board vacancies and newly created director positions, (3) recommending whether incumbent
directors should be nominated for reelection to the Board upon expiration of their terms, (4) developing and
recommending to the Board a set of corporate governance principles applicable to the Board and the
Company's employees, and (5) overseeing the evaluation of the Board.

In accordance with the Company's Corporate Governance Principles and its Board AÅairs Committee
Charter, the Board AÅairs Committee oversees the entire process of selection and nomination of Board
nominees, including screening candidates for directorships in accordance with the Board approved criteria
described below. The Committee, with input from the Chairman of the Board, will identify individuals
believed to be qualiÑed to become Board members. The Committee solicits candidates from its current
directors and, if deemed appropriate, retains for a fee a recruiting professional to identify and evaluate
candidates. The Committee will recommend candidates to the Board to Ñll new or vacant positions based on
such factors as it deems appropriate, including professional experience, personal character, diversity, outside
commitments (e.g., service on other Boards) and particular areas of expertise Ì all in the context of the needs
of the Board.

The Board AÅairs Committee will also consider nominees recommended by D&B shareholders. Any
shareholder wishing to propose a nominee for consideration by the Board AÅairs Committee may nominate
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persons for election to the Board of Directors if such shareholder complies with the notice procedures set forth
in the Bylaws and summarized under the ""Shareholder Proposals for 2005 Annual Meeting'' section of this
Proxy Statement.

No individuals were validly proposed for nomination by any shareholders in connection with this Proxy
Statement or the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

The Compensation & BeneÑts Committee. Under the terms of its Charter, the Compensation & BeneÑts
Committee's primary function is to discharge the Board's responsibilities relating to compensation of the chief
executive oÇcer and other executive oÇcers of the Company. Among other things, the Committee
(1) evaluates the chief executive oÇcer's performance and reviews with the chief executive oÇcer the
performance of other executive oÇcers, (2) establishes and administers the Company's policies, programs and
procedures for compensating its executive oÇcers and (3) has oversight responsibility for the administration
of the Company's employee beneÑts plans. The Report of the Compensation & BeneÑts Committee can be
found in the ""Compensation of Executive OÇcers and Directors'' section of this Proxy Statement.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE BOARD AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

D&B has a process in place that permits shareholders and other interested persons to communicate with
D&B's Board of Directors through the presiding director and the Audit Committee through its chair. Detailed
instructions can be found on the ""Contact the D&B Board'' web page under the Corporate Governance section
of D&B's website at http://www.dnb.com/us.

ATTENDANCE AT ANNUAL MEETINGS

The Company has a policy of director attendance at its Annual Meeting of Shareholders. All directors are
expected to attend the 2004 Annual Meeting. All directors attended the 2001 and 2002 Annual Meetings.
However, due to a change in the scheduled meeting date, only two directors attended the 2003 Annual
Meeting.

SERVICE ON MULTIPLE AUDIT COMMITTEES

Although the D&B Corporate Governance Principles do not include a pre-determined limitation on the
number of other Boards of Directors on which directors of the Company may serve, the Principles prohibit
D&B Audit Committee members from taking on more than two other corporate audit committees without the
Board's approval. Any determination by the Board of Directors approving of service on more than two other
public company audit committees will be disclosed in the Company's annual Proxy Statement. No Audit
Committee member currently serves on more than one other audit committee.

AUDIT  COMMITTEE  INFORMATION

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The membership of the Audit Committee fully complies with all current requirements of law and the
rules of the SEC and the NYSE. The Audit Committee selects the Company's independent auditors.
Management has the primary responsibility for the Company's Ñnancial reporting process, including its system
of internal controls, and for the preparation of consolidated Ñnancial statements in compliance with generally
accepted accounting principles, applicable laws and regulations. The Company's independent auditors are
responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of the audited Ñnancial statements to generally
accepted accounting principles and for ensuring that generally accepted auditing standards are met. The Audit
Committee's responsibility is to monitor and review these processes. It is not the Audit Committee's duty or
responsibility to conduct auditing or accounting reviews or procedures.
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Management has represented to the Audit Committee that the Company's Ñnancial statements were
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and the Audit Committee has reviewed
and discussed the Ñnancial statements with management and the independent auditors.

The Audit Committee has discussed with the independent auditors the matters required to be discussed
by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with Audit Committees). In addition, the
Audit Committee has received from the independent auditors the written disclosures required by Indepen-
dence Standards Board No. 1 (Independence Discussions with Audit Committees) and discussed with them
their independence from the Company and its management. The Audit Committee also considered whether
the independent auditors' provision of non-audit services to the Company is compatible with the auditors'
independence.

Based on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board
of Directors, and the Board has approved, that the audited Ñnancial statements be included in the Company's
Annual Report on SEC Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, for Ñling with the SEC.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Victor A. Pelson, Chairman
Ronald L. Kuehn, Jr.
Frederic V. Salerno
Naomi O. Seligman

March 2, 2004

AUDIT COMMITTEE PRE-APPROVAL POLICY

In 2003, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors adopted the D&B Audit Committee Pre-
Approval Policy (the ""Policy''). In accordance with this Policy, the Audit Committee must pre-approve the
engagement terms and fees, and any changes to those terms and fees, of all audit and non-audit services
performed by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. All pre-approval requests submitted to the Audit Committee are
required to be accompanied by detailed backup documentation and an opinion from PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP and D&B's chief Ñnancial oÇcer that the services will not impair auditor independence. The Policy does
not include any delegation of the Audit Committee's responsibilities to management. The Audit Committee
may delegate its authority to one or more of its members, subject to an overall annual limit. Pre-approvals by
the delegated member or members must be reported to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

FEES PAID TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The aggregate fees billed to the Company by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the last two Ñscal years
are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31,

2003 2002

(In thousands)

Audit Fees(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,905 $1,975

Audit Related Fees(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 241 442

Tax Fees(3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 683 1,575

All Other Fees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì

Total Fees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,829 $3,992
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(1) Consists primarily of fees for services provided in connection with the audit of the Company's Ñnancial
statements and review of its quarterly Ñnancial statements. Fiscal year 2002 includes $347,000 for work
associated with the restatement of the Company's Ñnancial statements.

(2) Consists primarily of fees for audit of the Company's employee beneÑt plans, consultation on Ñnancial
accounting and reporting standards, and due diligence on acquisitions and dispositions.

(3) Consists primarily of foreign and domestic tax planning and structuring, and assistance in the preparation
and review of the Company's foreign income tax returns.

PROPOSAL  NO.  1

ELECTION  OF  DIRECTORS

The members of the Board of Directors of D&B are classiÑed into three classes, one of which is elected at
each Annual Meeting of Shareholders to hold oÇce for a three-year term and until successors of such class are
elected and have qualiÑed.

Frederic V. Salerno, a director since 2002, resigned from the Board on March 16, 2004. Mr. Salerno was
a member of the Board AÅairs and Audit Committees. He resigned in order to reduce the overall number of
his Board commitments.

Upon recommendation of the Board AÅairs Committee, the Board of Directors has nominated
Mr. John W. Alden, Mr. Allan Z. Loren and Mr. Victor A. Pelson for election as Class I Directors at the 2004
Annual Meeting for a three-year term expiring at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

YOUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR THE ELECTION OF THE
NOMINEES NAMED ABOVE AS DIRECTORS.

NOMINEES FOR DIRECTORS WITH TERMS EXPIRING AT THE  2007 ANNUAL MEETING

John W. Alden
Retired Vice Chairman
United Parcel Service, Inc.

John W. Alden, age 62, has served as a director of D&B since December 2002, and is a member of the
Compensation & BeneÑts Committee. Mr. Alden served with United Parcel Service, Inc. (UPS), the largest
express package carrier in the world, for 35 years. His most recent role was as vice chairman of the board of
UPS from 1996 until his retirement in 2000. Mr. Alden is also a director of the following public companies:
Barnes Group, Inc. and Silgan Holdings, Inc.

Allan Z. Loren
Chairman and Chief Executive OÇcer
The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation

Allan Z. Loren, age 65, has served as chairman and chief executive oÇcer of D&B since October 2000, and as
a director since May 2000. Mr. Loren also served as president of D&B from October 2000 to April 2002.
Before our separation from Moody's, Mr. Loren served as chairman and chief executive oÇcer of the Dun &
Bradstreet operating company from May 2000 to September 2000. Before joining D&B, Mr. Loren served as
executive vice president and chief information oÇcer of the American Express Company from May 1994 to
May 2000, and was also a member of that company's Planning and Policy Committee. Before that, he served
as president and chief executive oÇcer of Galileo International from January 1991 to May 1994, and worked
at Apple Computer from September 1987 to December 1990, starting as chief information oÇcer and later
serving as president of Apple Computer U.S.A. Mr. Loren does not serve on the board of any public
companies other than D&B.
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Victor A. Pelson
Senior Advisor
UBS Securities LLC

Victor A. Pelson, age 66, has served as a director of D&B since April 1999, and is chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Compensation & BeneÑts Committee. Mr. Pelson has served as senior
advisor for UBS Securities LLC, an investment banking Ñrm, and its predecessors since 1996. He was a
director and senior advisor of Dillon Read at its merger in 1997 with SBC Warburg. Mr. Pelson was associated
with AT&T from 1959 to 1996. At the time of his retirement from AT&T, Mr. Pelson was chairman of global
operations and a member of the board of directors. Mr. Pelson is also a director of the following public
companies: Eaton Corporation and United Parcel Service.

DIRECTORS WITH TERMS EXPIRING AT THE  2005 ANNUAL MEETING

Steven W. Alesio
President and Chief Operating OÇcer
The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation

Mr. Alesio, age 49, was named president and chief operating oÇcer of D&B in May 2002, at which time he
was also elected to D&B's board of directors. Prior to that, he served as senior vice president of global
marketing, strategy implementation, e-business solutions and Asia-PaciÑc/Latin America from July 2001 to
April 2002, with additional leadership responsibility for data and operations from February 2001 to April 2002.
Mr. Alesio also previously served as D&B's senior vice president of marketing, technology, communications
and strategy implementation from January 2001 to June 2001. Before joining D&B, Mr. Alesio was with the
American Express Company for 19 years, most recently serving as president and general manager of the
business services group and as a member of that company's Planning and Policy Committee, a position he held
from January 1996 to October 2000. Mr. Alesio does not serve on the board of any public companies other
than D&B.

Ronald L. Kuehn, Jr.
Chairman of the Board
El Paso Corporation

Ronald L. Kuehn, Jr., age 68, has served as a director of D&B since 1996, and is chairman of the
Compensation & BeneÑts Committee and a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Kuehn was appointed as
chairman of the board of El Paso Corporation, a diversiÑed energy company, in March 2003, and also served
as El Paso's chief executive oÇcer from March 2003 to September 2003. He previously served as chairman of
the board of El Paso from the time its merger with Sonat Inc. in October 1999 until December 31, 2000. Prior
to that, Mr. Kuehn was chairman, president and chief executive oÇcer of Sonat Inc. from 1986 through
October 1999. In addition to serving on the board of El Paso, Mr. Kuehn is also a director of the following
public companies: AmSouth Bancorporation and Praxair, Inc.

Naomi O. Seligman
Senior Partner
Ostriker von Simson

Naomi O. Seligman, age 65, has served as a director of D&B since June 1999, and is a member of the Audit
and Board AÅairs Committees. Ms. Seligman has been a senior partner at Ostriker von Simson, an IT strategy
exchange which unites very large multinational corporations with premier venture capitalists and establish-
ment CEOs, since June 1999. Previously, Ms. Seligman served as a co-founder and senior partner of the
Research Board, Inc., a private-sector institution sponsored by one hundred Chief Information OÇcers from
major corporations, from 1977 to June 1999. Ms. Seligman is also a director of the following public
companies: Akamai Technologies, Inc. and Sun Microsystems, Inc.
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DIRECTORS WITH TERMS EXPIRING AT THE  2006 ANNUAL MEETING

Sandra E. Peterson
Former Group President of Government
Medco Health Solutions, Inc.

Sandra E. Peterson, age 45, has served as a director of D&B since September 2002, and is a member of the
Board AÅairs and Compensation & BeneÑts Committees. Ms. Peterson served as group president of
government for Medco Health Solutions, Inc., a pharmacy beneÑts manager company, from September 2003
until her resignation in February 2004. Prior to that, Ms. Peterson was senior vice president of health
businesses from April 2001 through August 2003, senior vice president of marketing for Merck-Medco
Managed Care L.L.C. from January 1999 to March 2001, and executive vice president of research and
development of RJR Nabisco Holdings Group, Inc., from April 1996 to December 1998. Ms. Peterson is also
a director of the following public company: Handleman Company.

Michael R. Quinlan
Chairman Emeritus
McDonald's Corporation

Michael R. Quinlan, age 59, has served as a director of D&B since 1989, and is chairman of the Board AÅairs
Committee and a member of the Compensation & BeneÑts Committee. Mr. Quinlan is also the presiding
director for the regularly scheduled executive sessions of non-management directors. Mr. Quinlan served as a
director of McDonald's Corporation, a global food service retailer, from 1979 until his retirement in 2002. He
was chairman of the board of McDonald's from March 1990 to May 1999. Mr. Quinlan also served as chief
executive oÇcer of McDonald's from March 1987 through July 1998. Mr. Quinlan is also a director of the
following public companies: May Department Stores Company and Warren Resources, Inc.

PROPOSAL  NO.  2

RATIFICATION  OF  APPOINTMENT  OF  INDEPENDENT  AUDITORS

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of D&B has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as
independent auditors to audit the consolidated Ñnancial statements of the Company for the year 2004.
Although shareholder approval of this appointment is not required, the Audit Committee and the Board of
Directors believe that submitting the appointment to the shareholders for ratiÑcation is a matter of good
corporate governance. If the shareholders do not ratify the appointment, the Audit Committee will review its
future selection of independent auditors.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP acted as independent auditors for the year 2003. In addition to its audit of
the Company's consolidated Ñnancial statements, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP also performed statutory
audits required by certain international jurisdictions, audited the Ñnancial statements of various beneÑt plans
of the Company, and performed certain non-audit services. Fees for these services are described under the
""Fees Paid to Independent Auditors'' section of this Proxy Statement.

A representative of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is expected to be present at the meeting. Such
representative will have the opportunity to make a statement, if he or she so desires, and is expected to be
available to respond to questions.

YOUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR RATIFICATION OF THE
APPOINTMENT OF PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP.
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SECURITY  OWNERSHIP  OF  DIRECTORS,  OFFICERS  AND  OTHERS

The following table shows the number of shares of the Company's Common Stock beneÑcially owned by
each of the directors, each of the executive oÇcers named in the Summary Compensation Table located under
the ""Compensation of Executive OÇcers and Directors'' section of this Proxy Statement (the ""named
executive oÇcers''), and all present directors and executive oÇcers of D&B as a group, on March 11, 2004.
The table also shows the names, addresses and share ownership of the only persons known to D&B to be the
beneÑcial owners (the ""Owners'') of more than 5% of the Company's outstanding Common Stock. This
information is based upon information furnished by each such person (or, in the case of the Owners, based
upon public Ñlings by such Owners with the SEC). Unless otherwise stated, the indicated persons have sole
voting and investment power over the shares listed. Percentages are based upon the number of shares of D&B
Common Stock outstanding on March 11, 2004, plus, where applicable, the number of shares that the
indicated person or group had a right to acquire within 60 days of such date. The table also sets forth
ownership information concerning ""Stock Units,'' the value of which is measured by the price of the
Company's Common Stock. Stock Units do not confer voting rights and are not considered ""beneÑcially
owned'' shares under SEC rules.

Aggregate
Number of

Shares D&B Percent of
BeneÑcially Stock Shares

Name Owned(a)(b) Units Outstanding

John W. Alden ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,008 2,941 *

Steven W. AlesioÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 174,439 0 *

Ronald L. Kuehn, Jr. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,494 14,147 *

Lawrence M. Kutscher ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 288 0 *

Allan Z. LorenÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,445,014 0 2.02%

Sara Mathew ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,226 0 *

Amy B. McIntosh ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,916 0 *

Victor A. Pelson ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26,436(c) 8,038 *

Sandra E. Peterson ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,959 3,112 *

Michael R. Quinlan ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,485 11,653 *

Naomi O. Seligman ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 21,141 3,598 *

All directors and executive oÇcers as a group (20 persons) ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,873,111 44,748 2.68%

Ariel Capital Management, Inc. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,812,461(d) 0 6.73%
200 E. Randolph Drive, Suite 2900
Chicago, Illinois 60601

Davis Selected Advisers L.P. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,748,828(e) 0 15.04%
2949 East Elvira Road, Suite 101
Tuscon, Arizona 85706

Harris Associates L.P. and its general partner, Harris Associates
Inc. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,908,261(f) 0 8.27%
Two North LaSalle Street, Suite 500
Chicago, Illinois 60602-3790

Harris Associates Investment Trust, 36-4032559 series designated
The Oakmark Select FundÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,034,900(g) 0 5.64%
Two North LaSalle Street, Suite 500
Chicago, Illinois 60602-3790
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* Represents less than 1% of the Company's outstanding Common Stock.

(a) Includes shares of restricted Common Stock as follows: Mr. Alesio, 15,350; Mr. Loren, 39,490;
Ms. Mathew, 10,170; Ms. McIntosh, 6,750; Mr. Pelson, 349; Ms. Seligman, 349; and group, 96,688.

(b) Includes the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be acquired within 60 days of
March 11, 2004, upon the exercise of vested stock options as follows: Mr. Alden, 9,008; Mr. Alesio,
100,000; Mr. Kuehn, 27,767; Mr. Loren, 1,250,000; Mr. Pelson, 23,087; Ms. Peterson, 8,959;
Mr. Quinlan, 27,767; Ms. Seligman, 20,587; and group, 1,541,610.

(c) Includes 3,000 shares as to which Mr. Pelson has shared voting and shared dispositive power.

(d) Ariel Capital Management, Inc. (""Ariel''), Ñled an amended Schedule 13G with the SEC on
February 13, 2004, on behalf of John W. Rogers, Jr. (""Mr. Rogers''), as chairman and chief executive
oÇcer of Ariel. This Schedule 13G reported that Ariel, a registered investment adviser, had sole voting
power over 3,584,090 shares and sole dispositive power over 4,753,489 shares. Mr. Rogers disclaims
beneÑcial ownership of all shares held by Ariel.

(e) Davis Selected Advisers L.P. (""Davis'') Ñled a Schedule 13G with the SEC on February 11, 2004. This
Schedule 13G reported that Davis, a registered investment adviser, had sole voting and dispositive power
over 10,748,828 shares. Davis's percentage of beneÑcial ownership of outstanding Common Stock
exceeds 15% solely as a result of recent share repurchases by D&B reducing the number of shares
outstanding, and therefore, has not resulted in Davis becoming an ""Acquiring Person'' under D&B's
Rights Agreement with EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. See ""Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data Ì Note 8'' in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 for
a discussion of the Rights Agreement.

(f) Harris Associates L.P. (""Harris'') and its sole general partner, Harris Associates Inc. (""Harris
Associates''), jointly Ñled an amended Schedule 13G with the SEC on February 13, 2004. This
Schedule 13G shows that Harris, a registered investment adviser, and Harris Associates each had shared
voting power over 5,908,261 shares, sole dispositive power over 1,873,361 shares and shared dispositive
power over 4,034,900 shares. Included in the shares beneÑcially owned by Harris and Harris Associates
are 4,034,900 shares also reported as beneÑcially owned by Harris Associates Investment Trust (""Harris
Trust'') (see footnote (g) below). Harris serves as investment adviser to the Harris Trust.

(g) Harris Trust, 36-4032559 series designated The Oakmark Select Fund (the ""Fund'') Ñled an amended
Schedule 13G with the SEC on February 13, 2004. This Schedule 13G shows that the Fund, an
investment company, had shared voting and dispositive power over 4,034,900 shares.
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FINANCIAL  PERFORMANCE  COMPARISON  GRAPH*
SINCE  OCTOBER  3,  2000

In accordance with SEC rules, the graph below compares the Company's cumulative total shareholder
return against the cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor's MidCap 400 Index and a published
industry index starting on October 3, 2000, the date on which the Company's Common Stock commenced
regular-way trading on the New York Stock Exchange after the September 30, 2000 Spin-OÅ from Moody's
Corporation (as described in the ""General Information'' section of this Proxy Statement). As an industry
index the Company chose the S&P MidCap DiversiÑed Commercial Services-Specialized Index because it is
a subset of the S&P 400 MidCap Index that includes companies that provide business-to-business services.
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* Assumes $100 invested on October 3, 2000, and reinvestment of dividends.

COMPENSATION  OF  EXECUTIVE  OFFICERS  AND  DIRECTORS

REPORT OF THE  COMPENSATION  &  BENEFITS  COMMITTEE

Overview of Executive Compensation Philosophy and Program

The Compensation & BeneÑts Committee has responsibility for establishing the compensation of the
Company's executive oÇcers, including Allan Z. Loren, its chairman and chief executive oÇcer (""Chairman
and CEO''). The Committee consists solely of independent directors of the Company, in accordance with
NYSE listing standards. The Committee meets regularly to review and administer the executive compensa-
tion program to ensure that it continues to support the Company's Blueprint for Growth strategy.

The Company's 2003 executive compensation program was designed to:

‚ Attract, motivate and retain top leadership by providing a total compensation opportunity that is
competitive with the Company's market for executive talent;
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‚ Strengthen the relationship between pay and Company performance and the alignment of executive
and shareholder interests; and

‚ Reinforce behaviors that are consistent with the Company's strategy to build a ""Winning Culture'' in
order to drive superior execution of its business plan.

To meet these objectives, the 2003 compensation program for executive oÇcers consisted of the following
four components:

BASE SALARIES. In setting the executive oÇcers' base salaries, a variety of factors were considered,
including: individual performance, competencies, skills and prior experience; scope of responsibility and
accountability within the organization; and pay levels in the compensation comparison group (i.e., a select
group of companies in business information and technology services as provided by an independent third-party
consulting organization). Companies were selected for the compensation comparison group on the basis that
they are representative of organizations that compete with the Company for executive talent and have
executive positions similar to those of the Company.

ANNUAL BONUS PLAN. Through the annual bonus plan, a signiÑcant portion of total 2003 cash
compensation was ""at risk'' since payment was based on performance against predetermined annual goals.
These goals, or performance measures, for 2003 were set early in the year by the Committee after a detailed
review by the Board of Directors of the Company's 2003 business plan.

In 2003, the Company's executive oÇcers' bonuses were based on four goals. These four goals were
apportioned as follows: 50% to Company-wide revenue growth; 30% to growth in earnings per share (""EPS'');
10% to employee satisfaction (an index measured by the Company's Winning Culture Survey, which gauges
employee perspectives in a number of important areas such as leadership, strategy and work environment);
and 10% to customer satisfaction (as measured by the Company's Customer Satisfaction Survey).

A target level of performance was established for each performance goal, which results in a full bonus
payout being earned if the target for the measure was achieved. Achievement below the target results in a
smaller or no bonus for that measure; achievement above the target yields a larger bonus up to a maximum of
200% of the full bonus amount tied to that measure.

Under the Company's bonus plan, payouts to individual executive oÇcers (other than the Chairman and
CEO) and other bonus plan participants are also subject to the Chairman and CEO's discretionary adjustment
of °/¿20%. Such adjustments are limited and are based on exceptional individual performance that positively
or negatively impacts Company performance.

In 2003, Company results against the four performance measures that comprise the individual executive
oÇcer's annual bonus were as follows:

‚ EPS growth (before non-core gains and charges) of 18%1, which met the upper range of both the
internal target and external guidance of 16% to 18%;

‚ Core revenue growth of 4%2, which, though below the internal target of 6% growth, was at the upper
range of external guidance of 1% to 4%; full year results reÖected a strong recovery in the second

1. The Company achieved 2003 reported EPS growth of 23%. See Schedule I to this Proxy Statement for a quantitative
reconciliation of reported EPS in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (""GAAP'') to EPS before
non-core gains and charges for the 2003 and 2002 Ñscal years. See ""Item 1. Business Ì How We Evaluate Our
Performance'' in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 for a discussion of why the
Company uses EPS before non-core gains and charges and why management believes this measure provides useful
information to investors.

2. The Company achieved 2003 total revenue growth of 9%. See Schedule II to this Proxy Statement for a quantitative
reconciliation of total revenue in accordance with GAAP to core revenue for the 2003 and 2002 Ñscal years, as well as
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through fourth quarters and a consistent quarter-over-quarter upward trend in revenue growth to 9% by
year-end;

‚ Employee satisfaction index as measured by the Winning Culture Survey increased 5 percentage
points, which was 1 percentage point below the internal improvement target; all 13 dimensions
measured in the survey resulted in positive trends ranging from an improvement of 3 to 9 percentage
points, and Company-wide employee participation in the survey was at 98%; and

‚ Customer satisfaction as measured by the Company's Customer Satisfaction Survey increased
5 percentage points, which was 4 percentage points below the internal improvement target set by the
Committee.

COMPANY SCORECARD. The Company Scorecard is an important part of the Company's annual bonus
plan; it ensures that the sum of total awards to all bonus plan participants is in line with overall Company
results. The Company Scorecard is based on three performance criteria: Ñrst, the Company-wide 2003 revenue
growth goal; second, 2003 growth in EPS; and third, a qualitative assessment by the Compensation & BeneÑts
Committee of the Company's overall performance. That assessment includes the Company's performance
against external guidance to shareholders and leadership as evidenced by the Company's execution of its
Blueprint for Growth strategy. Upon review of performance against these criteria, the Committee may
increase or decrease the size of the total bonus pool to ensure alignment with overall Company results.

The Committee's consideration of Company-wide core revenue growth and EPS growth before non-core
gains and charges has already been noted above. In addition to these measures, the Committee also considered
the following factors to be important in its overall assessment of Company performance:

‚ Net cash from operations of $236 million, which met external guidance of $232 million to $272 million;

‚ Delivery of 76% of Company-wide revenue over the Web, which was above external guidance of 70%°;

‚ Successful execution of the Company's acquisition strategy in line with expectations and as evidenced
by acquiring Hoover's in the United States and Datahouse and three real estate information companies
in Italy;

‚ Enhancement of the current business through successful implementation of the Company's European
strategy, including the formation of a strategic partnership with Bonnier Business Information in the
Nordic region to improve both the Company's global data quality and operating margins;

‚ Successful leveraging of the Company's brand through development and marketplace execution of the
Company's value propositions and continued investment in the Company's proprietary DUNSRightTM

quality process, one of the Company's key competitive advantages; and

‚ Strong leadership in the organization that enabled the Company to focus and deliver on its external
commitments for the year, despite a disappointing Ñrst quarter.

Based on the Committee's review and consideration of all of these results, the total bonus pool for 2003
was set at 105.0% of total target annual bonus opportunities. The sum total of individual bonus recommenda-
tions was within the bonus pool set by the Committee and resulted in the speciÑc 2003 compensation awards
for executive oÇcers shown in the Summary Compensation Table that follows this report.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES. Through the 2003 long-term incentive program, over 50% of the total
compensation opportunity provided to executive oÇcers was equity-based (i.e., stock options and restricted

the eÅects of foreign exchange on the 2003 core revenue growth rate. See ""Item 1. Business Ì How We Evaluate Our
Performance'' in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 for a discussion of why the
Company uses core revenue growth before the eÅects of foreign exchange and why management believes this measure
provides useful information to investors.
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stock). This emphasis on equity compensation reÖects the Committee's view that there should be a close
alignment between executive oÇcer rewards and shareholder value creation.

Compensation of the Chairman and Chief Executive OÇcer

TOTAL CASH COMPENSATION. Allan Z. Loren, the Company's Chairman and CEO, received a salary
of $700,000 in 2003. Mr. Loren's salary has remained unchanged since his hire in May 2000. Mr. Loren had a
2003 target annual bonus plan opportunity of 130% of base salary, or $910,000, reÖecting an increase of 13%
over 2002. Mr. Loren's target total cash compensation opportunity of $1,610,000 (salary plus target annual
bonus opportunity) reÖected an increase of 7% over 2002. In the Committee's view, increasing the ""at risk''
portion of Mr. Loren's target total cash compensation opportunity, while holding the salary component
constant, was in keeping with the Company's executive compensation program design principles and pay-for-
performance philosophy.

Mr. Loren's target annual bonus opportunity was apportioned to the same measures as other executive
oÇcers of the Company, namely 50% to revenue growth, 30% to EPS, 10% to improvements in the employee
satisfaction index as measured by the Company's Winning Culture Survey, and 10% to the results of the
Company's Customer Satisfaction Survey. Based on performance against these criteria, Mr. Loren's
calculated bonus was $955,500 or 105.0% of his target annual bonus opportunity. In addition, the Committee
awarded Mr. Loren $394,500 for delivery of the Company's results relative to external guidance and for his
leadership as evidenced by the Company's execution of its Blueprint for Growth strategy. In total, Mr. Loren's
bonus award was $1,350,000 representing 148.4% of his 2003 target annual bonus opportunity.

LONG-TERM COMPENSATION. Approximately 72% of Mr. Loren's 2003 target total compensation (i.e.,
base salary plus annual bonus opportunity plus the value of long-term grants) consisted of equity-based
awards. A grant to Mr. Loren of 236,500 stock options and 39,490 restricted stock shares was approved by the
Committee eÅective February 12, 2003, after consideration of performance and pay positioning versus the
Company's compensation comparison group.

Executive Stock Ownership Guidelines

The Company has in eÅect stock ownership guidelines whereby executive oÇcers and other members of
senior management are expected to acquire over time a minimum amount of Common Stock. These amounts
are 100,000 shares for the Chairman and CEO, 30,000 shares for the leadership team (i.e., senior executives
who report directly to the Chairman and CEO or president and chief operating oÇcer), and 5,000 shares for
other participants in the program. The establishment of these guidelines is another component of the
Company's eÅorts to align the interests of executives and shareholders.

Tax Deductibility

Section 162(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code limits the deductibility of compensation in excess of
$1 million paid to the Company's chairman and chief executive oÇcer or to any of the Company's four highest
paid other executive oÇcers unless certain speciÑc and detailed criteria are satisÑed. The Committee considers
the anticipated tax treatment to the Company and its executive oÇcers in its review and establishment of
compensation programs and payments, but has determined that it will not necessarily seek to limit
compensation to that deductible under Section 162(m).

Looking Ahead: Long-term Incentives for 2004

During 2003, the Company conducted a review of its compensation and beneÑts programs to ensure that
these programs are eÅectively aligned with the Company's Blueprint for Growth strategy. As a result of that
review, the Company is modifying its long-term incentive plan for 2004 to enhance the plan's performance
basis; motivate and reward superior performance; ensure the Company remains competitive in attracting and
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retaining key executive talent; align more closely with shareholder interests and value creation over the longer
term; and minimizing the dilutive eÅect of equity-based programs on shareholders.

Beginning in 2004, stock options will be limited to the senior leadership at the Company, approximately
50 executives worldwide versus approximately 270 in 2003. These senior leaders are focused on the long-term
health of the Company and long-term shareholder value creation. Generally, these leaders have the largest
revenue or resource accountability in the Company, as well as lead initiatives such as strategy execution,
product innovation and delivery, acquisition and development. For this group of senior leaders, the total value
of their equity-based compensation will comprise a grant of stock options (50% of the total value) and an
opportunity to be awarded a grant of restricted stock (remaining 50% of the total value). The stock option
grant will vest over a four year period. With respect to the restricted stock component, initially, the leader will
be provided an opportunity to receive an award of restricted stock in the future. That award is fully contingent
on performance against the same goals that drive payout of the annual bonus plan (i.e., revenue growth,
earnings per share or operating income growth, employee satisfaction, and customer satisfaction). The
restricted stock award will be granted, if at all, after the one year performance goal has been met and will then
vest over a three-year period.

Under the Company's new long-term incentive program for 2004, the named executive oÇcers received a
grant of stock options and were provided a restricted stock award opportunity as follows:

Restricted Stock Award
Name Stock Option Grant (#) Opportunity ($)

Allan Z. Loren ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 161,230 2,750,000

Steven W. AlesioÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 83,550 1,425,000

Sara Mathew ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 54,300 926,200

Amy B. McIntosh ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,660 250,000

Lawrence M. KutscherÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19,060 325,000

In addition to this senior leadership group, approximately 200 leaders worldwide, involved in implement-
ing, executing, and supporting key Blueprint for Growth initiatives will receive equity-based compensation
entirely in the form of the restricted stock opportunity, as described above. Again, these leaders will initially be
provided an opportunity to receive an award that is fully contingent on performance against the same goals
that drive payout of the annual bonus plan. These awards, when and if granted, will vest over a three-year
period.

COMPENSATION  &  BENEFITS  COMMITTEE

Ronald L. Kuehn, Jr., Chairman
John W. Alden
Victor A. Pelson
Sandra E. Peterson
Michael R. Quinlan

March 2, 2004
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SUMMARY  COMPENSATION  TABLE FOR  LAST  THREE  FISCAL  YEARS  (2001-2003)

Long-term Compensation
Awards

Annual Compensation Restricted Securities
Other Annual Stock Underlying All Other

Salary Bonus Compensation Award(s) Options/SARs Compensation
Name and Principal Position Year ($) ($)(1) ($)(2) ($)(3) (#)(4) ($)(5)

Allan Z. Loren ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2003 700,000 1,350,000 0 1,335,947 236,500 67,420
Chairman and Chief Executive 2002 700,000 975,000 0 0 0 79,854
OÇcer 2001 700,000 1,275,000 147,275 0 250,000 60,225

Steven W. Alesio(6)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2003 500,000 850,000 0 519,291 97,500 34,005
President and Chief Operating 2002 500,000 560,625 0 0 46,800 30,309
OÇcer 2001 490,530 495,000 0 960,000 428,200 12,332

Sara Mathew(7) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2003 375,000 315,000 0 344,051 56,500 29,061
Senior Vice President and 2002 375,000 451,000 0 0 0 28,225
Chief Financial OÇcer 2001 138,021 248,500 165,628 0 175,000 6,136

Amy B. McIntosh(8) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2003 350,000 315,000 0 228,353 37,500 20,369
Senior Vice President Ì U.S. Risk 2002 204,167 160,960 0 0 70,000 2,500
Management Solutions

Lawrence M. Kutscher(9)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2003 300,000 315,000 0 0 31,400 19,320
Vice President Ì 2002 300,000 385,000 0 0 0 31,763
E-Business Solutions 2001 137,500 275,000 0 0 130,600 7,013

(1) The bonus amounts shown were earned with respect to each year indicated and paid in the following year.
Mr. Loren's 2001 bonus amount of $1,275,000 includes the 2002 installment of his sign-on bonus of
$700,000, plus a performance-based bonus of $575,000. Ms. Mathew's 2002 and 2001 bonus amounts
each include a sign-on bonus of $100,000. Mr. Kutscher's 2002 bonus amount includes a sign-on bonus of
$200,000.

(2) The amounts shown for Mr. Loren include: personal use of automobile (2001 Ì $25,538), temporary
housing and relocation allowance (2001 Ì $67,650) and taxes related to the foregoing (2001 Ì
$54,087). The amounts shown for Ms. Mathew include: temporary housing and relocation allowance
(2001 Ì $98,500) and taxes related to the foregoing (2001 Ì $67,128).

(3) Amounts shown represent the dollar value of restricted stock on the date of grant, if any. Mr. Loren's
2003 restricted stock grant will vest in full on June 1, 2005 or upon his retirement, whichever is earlier.
Mr. Alesio's 2003 restricted stock grant will vest in full on February 12, 2006; furthermore, in the case of
certain predeÑned events, as described in Mr. Alesio's employment agreement, the vesting of a portion of
his restricted stock may be accelerated on a pro rata basis. Mr. Alesio's 2001 restricted stock vested in full
on January 8, 2004. Restricted stock granted in 2003 to Ms. Mathew and McIntosh vests in full on
February 12, 2006. The number and value of the aggregate restricted stock holdings of the named
executive oÇcers at December 31, 2003 were: Mr. Loren Ì 39,490 shares ($2,002,538); Mr. Alesio Ì
55,350 shares ($2,806,799); Ms. Mathew Ì 10,170 shares ($515,721); Ms. McIntosh Ì 6,750 shares
($342,293); and Mr. Kutscher Ì none. The terms of the grant provide for the payment of dividends at
the same rate established from time to time for the Common Stock. At present, the Company does not
pay dividends on its Common Stock. Mr. Loren's awards do not include 151,930 shares granted in 2000
which vested fully on May 30, 2003 and which he has retained.

(4) Amounts shown represent the number of non-qualiÑed stock options granted each year. Limited SARs
were granted in tandem with all options awarded to executive oÇcers.

(5) Amounts shown represent aggregate annual Company contributions for the account of each named executive
officer under the Dun & Bradstreet Profit Participation Plan (""PPP'') and the Profit Participation Benefit
Equalization Plan (""PPBEP''), which plans are open to all U.S. employees of the Company and certain
subsidiaries. The PPP is a tax-qualified defined contribution plan and the PPBEP is a non-qualified plan that
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provides benefits to participants in the PPP equal to the amount of Company contributions that would have
been made to the participants' PPP accounts but for certain Federal tax laws.

(6) The 2001 salary for Mr. Alesio represents the amount earned from his date of employment, January 8,
2001.

(7) The 2001 salary for Ms. Mathew represents the amount earned from her date of employment, August 20,
2001.

(8) The 2002 salary for Ms. McIntosh represents the amount earned from her date of employment, June 3,
2002.

(9) The 2001 salary for Mr. Kutscher represents the amount earned from his date of employment, July 16, 2001.

OPTION/SAR GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR  (2003)

Number of
Securities % of Total
Underlying Options/SARs Exercise

Options/SARs Granted to or Base Grant Date
Granted Employees in Price Expiration Present Value
(#)(1) Fiscal Year ($/Share) Date ($)(2)

Allan Z. Loren ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 236,500 12.78% 34.1650 2/12/2013 2,404,969

Steven W. Alesio ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 97,500 5.27% 34.1650 2/12/2013 1,061,385

Sara Mathew ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 56,500 3.05% 34.1650 2/12/2013 615,059

Amy B. McIntosh ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 37,500 2.03% 34.1650 2/12/2013 408,225

Lawrence M. Kutscher ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31,400 1.70% 34.1650 2/12/2013 341,820

(1) With the exception of Mr. Loren's grant, all options become exercisable in three equal annual
installments commencing on the third anniversary of the grant. With respect to Mr. Loren's grant, all
options become exercisable on June 1, 2005 or upon Mr. Loren's retirement, whichever is earlier. In the
case of certain predeÑned events, as described in Mr. Alesio's employment agreement, the vesting of a
portion of his options may be accelerated on a pro rata basis.

All option grants were made in tandem with limited SARs. Limited SARs are exercisable only if and to
the extent that the related option is exercisable and are exercisable only during the 30-day period
following the acquisition of at least 20% of the outstanding Common Stock pursuant to a tender or
exchange oÅer not made by the Company. Each limited SAR permits the holder to receive cash equal to
the excess over the related option exercise price of the highest price paid pursuant to a tender or exchange
oÅer for Common Stock that is in eÅect at any time during the 60 days preceding the date upon which
the limited SAR is exercised. Limited SARs can be exercised regardless of whether the Company
supports or opposes the oÅer.

(2) The grant date present value is based on the Black-Scholes option valuation model, which makes the
following assumptions: an expected stock-price volatility factor of 30%; a risk-free rate of return of 2.98%;
a dividend yield of 0.0%; and a weighted average exercise date of Ñve years for Mr. Alesio, Ms. Mathew,
Ms. McIntosh and Mr. Kutscher. The assumptions for Mr. Loren's grant were: an expected stock-price
volatility factor of 30%; a risk-free rate of return of 2.79%; a dividend yield of 0.0%; and a weighted
average exercise date of four and one-half years.

These assumptions may or may not be fulÑlled. The amounts shown cannot be considered predictions of
future value. In addition, the options will gain value only to the extent the stock price exceeds the option
exercise price during the life of the option.
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AGGREGATED OPTION/SAR EXERCISES IN LAST FISCAL YEAR AND FISCAL YEAR-END

OPTION/SAR VALUES  (2003)

Number of Securities Value of Unexercised
Underlying Unexercised In-the-MoneyShares
Options/SARs at Fiscal Options/SARs at FiscalAcquired on Value

Year-End (#) Year-End (1)($)Exercise Realized
Name (#) ($) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable

Allan Z. Loren ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0 0 1,250,000 486,500 42,512,960 7,550,393
Steven W. Alesio ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0 0 0 572,500 0 12,254,522
Sara MathewÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0 0 0 231,500 0 3,841,418
Amy B. McIntoshÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0 0 0 107,500 0 1,747,788
Lawrence M. KutscherÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0 0 0 162,000 0 3,050,868

(1) The values shown equal the diÅerence between the exercise price of unexercised in-the-money options
and the closing market price of the underlying Common Stock of $50.71 on December 31, 2003. Options
are in-the-money if the fair market value of the Common Stock exceeds the exercise price of the option.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The following table sets forth the estimated aggregate annual beneÑts payable under D&B's Retirement
Account Plan, Pension BeneÑt Equalization Plan (""PBEP'') and Supplemental Executive BeneÑt Plan
(""SEBP''), as in eÅect during 2003 to persons in speciÑed average Ñnal compensation and credited service
classiÑcations upon retirement at age 65. Amounts shown in the table include U.S. Social Security beneÑts
that would be deducted in calculating beneÑts payable under these plans. These aggregate annual retirement
beneÑts do not increase as a result of additional credited service after 20 years.

Estimated Aggregate Annual Retirement BeneÑt
Assuming Final Credited Service of:Average Final

Compensation 5 years 10 years 15 Years 20 Years 25 Years

$ 450,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 90,000 $180,000 $225,000 $ 270,000 $ 270,000
550,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 110,000 220,000 275,000 330,000 330,000
600,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 120,000 240,000 300,000 360,000 360,000
650,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 130,000 260,000 325,000 390,000 390,000
700,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 140,000 280,000 350,000 420,000 420,000
750,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 150,000 300,000 375,000 450,000 450,000
850,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 170,000 340,000 425,000 510,000 510,000
950,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 190,000 380,000 475,000 570,000 570,000

1,000,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 200,000 400,000 500,000 600,000 600,000
1,100,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 220,000 440,000 550,000 660,000 660,000
1,200,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 240,000 480,000 600,000 720,000 720,000
1,250,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 250,000 500,000 625,000 750,000 750,000
1,300,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 260,000 520,000 650,000 780,000 780,000
1,400,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 280,000 560,000 700,000 840,000 840,000
1,500,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 300,000 600,000 750,000 900,000 900,000
1,600,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 320,000 640,000 800,000 960,000 960,000
1,700,000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 340,000 680,000 850,000 1,020,000 1,020,000

The number of full years of credited service under the plans for Mr. Loren, Mr. Alesio, Ms. Mathew,
Ms. McIntosh and Mr. Kutscher are 4, 3, 3, 2 and 3, respectively.

Compensation, for the purpose of determining retirement beneÑts, consists of salary, wages, regular cash
bonuses, commissions and overtime pay. Severance pay, contingent payments and other forms of special
remuneration are excluded. Bonuses included in the Summary Compensation Table, contained within the
""Compensation of Executive OÇcers and Directors'' section of this Proxy Statement, are normally not paid
until the year following the year in which they are accrued and expensed. Therefore, compensation for
purposes of determining retirement beneÑts varies from the Summary Compensation Table amounts in that

20



bonuses expensed in the previous year, but paid in the current year, are part of retirement compensation in the
current year, and the current year's bonuses accrued and included in the Summary Compensation Table are
not.

For the reasons discussed above, compensation for determining retirement beneÑts for the named
executive oÇcers diÅered by more than 10% from the amounts shown in the Summary Compensation Table.
For purposes of determining retirement beneÑts for Mr. Loren, Mr. Alesio, Ms. Mathew, Ms. McIntosh and
Mr. Kutscher, compensation in 2003 was $1,675,000, $1,060,625, $726,000 $510,950, and $485,000,
respectively.

Average Ñnal compensation is deÑned as the highest average annual compensation during Ñve consecu-
tive 12-month periods in the last ten consecutive 12-month periods of the member's credited service.
Members vest in their accrued retirement beneÑt upon completion of Ñve years of service. The beneÑts shown
in the table above are calculated on a straight-life annuity basis.

The Retirement Account Plan, together with the PBEP, provides retirement income based on a
percentage of annual compensation. The percentage of compensation allocated annually ranges from 3% to
12.5%, based on age and credited service. Amounts allocated also receive interest credits based on the average
yield on 30-year Treasuries, with a minimum compounded annual interest credit rate of 3%.

The SEBP provides retirement beneÑts in addition to the beneÑts provided under the Retirement
Account Plan and the PBEP. The SEBP has the eÅect of increasing the retirement beneÑts under the
Retirement Account Plan and the PBEP to the amounts shown in the preceding table. The SEBP provides
maximum beneÑts after 20 years.

EMPLOYMENT, CHANGE-IN-CONTROL, SEVERANCE, DEFERRAL AND DETRIMENTAL CON-

DUCT ARRANGEMENTS

Employment Arrangements

On May 15, 2000, Old D&B entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Loren that was assigned to
the Company in connection with the Spin-OÅ. The agreement was amended in February 2002. The term of
the amended employment agreement ends on May 30, 2005. The amended employment agreement provides
that Mr. Loren will serve as chief executive oÇcer and chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company
through May 30, 2005. It also provides for an annual base salary of $700,000 and sign-on bonuses of $460,400
(paid in January 2001) and $700,000 (paid in January 2002). Mr. Loren is also entitled to an annual bonus if
certain performance criteria are attained. The amended employment agreement provides that the target bonus
for each Ñscal year after 2002 will be the greater of $805,000 or 100% of his annual base salary. Upon the
commencement of his employment, Mr. Loren was granted a stock option to purchase 500,000 shares of Old
D&B Common Stock and 75,000 shares of Old D&B restricted Common Stock. As of the Spin-OÅ, the stock
option was canceled and replaced with a stock option to purchase 1,012,867 shares of Common Stock of the
Company, and the grant of restricted stock was canceled and replaced with a grant of 151,930 shares of
restricted Common Stock of the Company. However, if Mr. Loren is terminated by the Company without
cause (as deÑned in the amended employment agreement), terminates his employment for good reason (as
deÑned in the amended employment agreement), dies or becomes disabled, or a change in control of the
Company occurs, the stock option and the restricted stock will immediately vest. In addition, if Mr. Loren's
employment is terminated by the Company without cause or Mr. Loren terminates his employment for good
reason, Mr. Loren will be entitled to continued payment of his annual base salary until May 30, 2005, and, to
the extent not previously paid, his target bonuses for each Ñscal year through Ñscal year 2005 (prorated for the
partial year), but in no event will Mr. Loren receive less than $805,000. Finally, if Mr. Loren is terminated by
the Company without cause, terminates his employment for good reason, or dies or becomes disabled, after
May 30, 2003 but before May 30, 2005, Mr. Loren will receive a beneÑt under the Company's Supplemental
Executive BeneÑt Plan calculated based on Ñve (5) years of service.

On January 8, 2001, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Alesio, which began
on January 8, 2001, and ended on July 8, 2002. On July 8, 2002, the Company entered into a new employment
agreement with Mr. Alesio, which began on July 8, 2002, and ends on July 8, 2005. The new employment

21



agreement provides that Mr. Alesio will serve as president and chief operating oÇcer of the Company as well
as a member of the Board of Directors of the Company. It also provides for an annual base salary of $500,000
and an annual bonus if certain performance criteria are attained. The target bonus for each Ñscal year will be
at least 100% of his annual base salary. The maximum annual bonus for each Ñscal year will be at least 200%
of his annual base salary. Upon commencement of his employment, Mr. Alesio was granted a stock option to
purchase 300,000 shares of D&B Common Stock and 40,000 restricted shares of D&B Common Stock. If
Mr. Alesio is terminated by the Company without cause (as deÑned in the new employment agreement) or
terminates his employment for good reason (as deÑned in the new employment agreement), Mr. Alesio will
be entitled to a lump-sum payment equal to the sum of his annual base salary and target annual bonuses
through July 8, 2005, an enhanced beneÑt under the Company's Supplemental Executive BeneÑt Plan, special
pro rata accelerated vesting of stock options granted to him before 2003, and the immediate vesting of the
stock option and restricted stock granted to him in 2003.

Change-in-Control Arrangements

The executive oÇcers named in the Summary Compensation Table, contained within the ""Compensation
of Executive OÇcers and Directors'' section of this Proxy Statement, will be provided certain beneÑts upon
actual or constructive termination of employment in the event of a potential change in control or change in
control of the Company. If, following a potential change in control or change in control, the executive is
terminated other than for cause or by reason of death, disability or normal retirement, or the executive
terminates employment for good reason (generally, an unfavorable change in employment status, compensa-
tion or beneÑts or a required relocation), the executive shall be entitled to receive: (i) a lump-sum payment
equal to three times the sum of salary plus the annual target bonus then in eÅect; (ii) continuation of welfare
beneÑts and certain perquisites for three years; (iii) retiree medical and life insurance beneÑts starting at age
55; (iv) outplacement consulting in the amount of 20% of the sum of salary plus the annual target bonus then
in eÅect, but not exceeding $100,000; (v) immediate vesting of certain entitlements; (vi) a prorated annual
target bonus for the year in which the change in control occurs and a full target bonus for all other bonus plans
in eÅect at the time of termination; and (vii) payment of any excise taxes due in respect of the foregoing
beneÑts.

Severance Arrangements

The Company has adopted an Executive Transition Plan (""ETP'') that provides severance beneÑts for
the Company's chief executive oÇcer and other designated executives. The ETP currently provides for the
payment of severance beneÑts if an eligible executive's employment terminates by reason of a reduction in
force, job elimination, unsatisfactory job performance (not constituting cause) or a mutually agreed
resignation. In the event of an eligible termination, the executive will be paid 104 weeks of salary continuation
and (unless the executive's employment is terminated by the Company for unsatisfactory performance) the
executive's guideline annual bonus opportunity for the year of termination, payment of which will be prorated
annually over a period equal to the number of weeks of salary continuation. Salary continuation is payable at
the times the executive's salary would have been paid if employment had not terminated. In addition, the
executive will receive continued medical, dental and life insurance beneÑts during the salary continuation
period and will be entitled to such outplacement services during the salary continuation period as are being
provided by the Company. Except in the case of a termination by the Company for unsatisfactory
performance, the executive also will receive: (i) a prorated portion of the actual bonus for the year of
termination that would have been payable to the executive under the annual bonus plan in which the executive
is participating; (ii) cash payments equal in value to a prorated portion of any ""performance-based awards''
under the Company's stock incentive plan, provided that the executive was employed for at least half of the
applicable performance period; and (iii) Ñnancial planning/counseling services during the salary continuation
period to the same extent aÅorded immediately prior to the termination of employment. The ETP gives the
Company's chief executive oÇcer the discretion to reduce or increase the beneÑts otherwise payable to, or
otherwise modify the terms and conditions applicable to, an eligible executive under the ETP, other than the
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chief executive oÇcer; the Compensation & BeneÑts Committee of the Board of Directors has this discretion
with respect to the chief executive oÇcer.

Executive oÇcers who do not participate in the ETP are eligible for severance beneÑts under the
Company's Career Transition Plan (""CTP''). The CTP generally provides for the payment of beneÑts if an
eligible executive's employment terminates by reason of a reduction in force, job elimination, unsatisfactory
job performance (not constituting cause) or a mutually agreed resignation. It does not apply to employee
terminations in connection with the sale of stock or assets, or an elimination or reduction of operations in
connection with an outsourcing or merger (or other combination, spin-oÅ, reorganization or other similar
transaction) where an oÅer of employment at a comparable base salary is made to the employee. In the event
of an eligible termination, an executive oÇcer will be paid 52 weeks of salary continuation (26 weeks if the
executive is terminated by the Company for unsatisfactory performance), payable at the times the executive's
salary would have been paid if employment had not terminated. For this purpose, salary consists of the
executive's annual base salary at the time of termination. In addition, the executive will receive continued
medical, dental and life insurance beneÑts during the applicable salary continuation period and will be entitled
to such outplacement services during the salary continuation period as are being provided by the Company.
Except in the case of a termination by the Company for unsatisfactory performance, the executive also will
receive: (i) a prorated portion of the actual bonus for the year of termination that would have been payable to
the executive under the annual bonus plan in which the executive is participating, provided that the executive
was employed for at least six full months during the calendar year of termination; (ii) cash payments equal in
value to a prorated portion of any ""performance-based awards'' under the Company's stock incentive plan,
provided that the executive was employed for at least half of the applicable performance period; and
(iii) Ñnancial planning/counseling services during the salary continuation period to the same extent aÅorded
immediately prior to termination of employment. The CTP gives the Company's chief executive oÇcer the
discretion to reduce or increase the beneÑts otherwise payable to, or otherwise modify the terms and
conditions applicable to, an eligible executive under the CTP.

Mr. Loren has waived participation in both the ETP and CTP, subject to the provisions of his revised
employment agreement with the Company described above. Mr. Alesio's employment agreement provides for
his severance arrangements. All other executive oÇcers named in the Summary Compensation Table,
contained within the ""Compensation of Executive OÇcers and Directors'' section of this Proxy Statement,
currently participate in the CTP.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any severance beneÑts paid to an executive oÇcer above the amounts
provided by the ETP or CTP requires the approval of the Compensation & BeneÑts Committee of the Board
of Directors.

Deferral Program

The Company has a Key Employees' NonqualiÑed Deferred Compensation Plan under which executives
may defer part of their current salary, annual cash incentive and certain cash-based, long-term incentives to a
later date. Under this program, executives have the opportunity to earn tax-deferred appreciation based on the
performance of the investment funds oÅered under the Company's PPP.

Detrimental Conduct Program

The Company has a detrimental conduct program under which employees are required to sign an
agreement upon receipt of an equity-based award that requires employees to return a portion of the amounts
received pursuant to such award if during their employment and for one year thereafter (two years in the case
of executive oÇcers), they engage in ""detrimental conduct,'' which includes working for a competitor,
disclosing conÑdential Company information and acting otherwise than in the interests of the Company.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

Only non-employee directors receive compensation for serving on the Board.

The Company's non-employee director compensation program consists of equity-based awards and cash,
with equity representing at least 75% of total targeted compensation. Each non-employee director receives an
annual grant of stock options with a nominal grant value (based on a Black-Scholes methodology) of
approximately $80,000 and an annual retainer of $75,000. Of the annual retainer, $40,000 is paid in restricted
share units (payable in shares of Common Stock upon vesting) and the balance in cash. Committee
chairpersons receive an additional $5,000 annual cash retainers. No separate fees are paid for attendance at
Board or Committee meetings. Directors may elect to convert Committee chairperson retainers and the cash
portion of their annual retainers into additional restricted share units at a 10% conversion premium or defer
such cash amounts in the directors' deferred compensation plan. In addition, each new non-employee director
receives a one-time stock option grant with a nominal grant value of $35,000 upon his or her appointment to
the Board.

Non-employee directors are also provided other beneÑts by the Company during their tenure as a director
as follows: reimbursement for reasonable Company-related travel and other expenses; travel accident
insurance when traveling on Company business; and participation in the Company's charitable matching gift
program (up to $4,000 per calendar year).

Director Stock Ownership Guidelines

Non-employee directors are required to hold no less than 50% of all shares or restricted share units
obtained through the non-employee director compensation program throughout their tenure as a director of
the Company. The establishment of these guidelines is another component of the Company's eÅorts to align
the interests of directors and shareholders.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires D&B's oÇcers and directors, and persons
who own more than 10% of a registered class of D&B's equity securities (""insiders''), to Ñle reports of
ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC. Insiders are required by SEC regulation to furnish the
Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they Ñle. Based solely on a review of the copies of such forms
furnished to the Company, the Company believes that during 2003 all Section 16(a) Ñling requirements
applicable to its insiders were complied with, except that, due to administrative oversight on the part of D&B,
a Form 4 Ñling on behalf of Mr. Pelson reporting his semi-annual restricted share unit retainer payment and an
award of stock options was Ñled one day late.

OTHER  MATTERS

D&B knows of no matters, other than those referred to herein, that will be presented at the meeting. If,
however, any other appropriate business should properly be presented at the meeting, the persons named in the
enclosed form of proxy will vote the proxies in accordance with their best judgment.

INFORMATION  CONTAINED  IN  THIS  PROXY  STATEMENT

The information under the captions ""Report of the Audit Committee'' and ""Report of the Compensation
& BeneÑts Committee'' does not constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed Ñled or incorporated
by reference into any other Company Ñling under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, except to the extent that the Company speciÑcally incorporates these Reports by reference therein.
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The information on our website is not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part of this Proxy Statement, or
incorporated into any other Ñlings we make with the SEC.

SHAREHOLDER  PROPOSALS  FOR  2005  ANNUAL  MEETING

Shareholder proposals intended to be included in the Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders in 2005 must be received by the Corporate Secretary of the Company no later than
November 24, 2004. The Company will consider written proposals received by that date in accordance with
regulations governing the solicitation of proxies.

Under the Company's Bylaws, a shareholder proposal for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders that
is not intended to be included in the Company's Proxy Statement must be received by the Corporate Secretary
of the Company between January 4, 2005 and February 3, 2005.

For a shareholder seeking to nominate a candidate for D&B's Board of Directors, the notice must
describe various matters regarding the nominee, including name, age, business address and the nominee's
written consent to being named in the Proxy Statement and to serving as a director if elected. For a
shareholder seeking to bring other business before a shareholder meeting, such notice must include a
description of the proposed business, the text of the proposal, the reasons for conducting such business at the
meeting, any material interest in such business of the proposing shareholder, and other speciÑed matters. In
each case, the notice must also include information regarding the proposing shareholder, including the name
and address of such shareholder and class and number of shares owned by such shareholder.

The notice must be given to the Corporate Secretary of the Company, whose address is 103 JFK
Parkway, Short Hills, New Jersey 07078. Any shareholder desiring a copy of the Company's Bylaws will be
furnished one without charge upon written request to the Corporate Secretary or may obtain a copy from the
Corporate Governance section of D&B's website at http://www.dnb.com/us. A copy of the Bylaws is also Ñled
as an exhibit to the Company's Form 10 Ñled on June 27, 2000 and is available at the SEC website at
www.sec.gov.

March 24, 2004
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SCHEDULE I

THE DUN & BRADSTREET CORPORATION

RECONCILIATION OF REPORTED EARNINGS PER SHARE TO EARNINGS PER SHARE
BEFORE NON-CORE GAINS AND CHARGES

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2003 2002

Diluted EPS ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2.30 $1.87

Impact of non-core (gains) and charges:

Restructuring costs related to our Financial Flexibility program ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ .16 .28

Loss on the sale of our High Wycombe, England buildingÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ .14 Ì

Insurance recovery related to the World Trade Center Tragedy ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (.06) Ì

Diluted EPS before non-core (gains) and charges ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2.54 $2.15

All numbers are rounded to the nearest cent. Therefore, totals may diÅer from the sum of each line item due
to rounding.
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SCHEDULE II

THE DUN & BRADSTREET CORPORATION

RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL REVENUE TO CORE REVENUE AND EFFECT OF FOREIGN
EXCHANGE ON CORE REVENUE GROWTH RATE

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2003 2002 Growth Rate

Total revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,386.4 $1,275.6

Less: Revenue from divested business ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.3 6.1

Core revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1.383.1 $1,269.5 9%

Less: EÅect of foreign exchangeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5%

Core revenue before eÅect of foreign exchange ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4%
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

D&BTM (NYSE:DNB), the leading provider of global business information, tools and insight, has
enabled customers to Decide with ConÑdenceTM for over 160 years. D&B's proprietary DUNSRightTM process
provides customers with quality business information. This quality information is the foundation of D&B's
solutions that customers rely on to make critical business decisions. Customers use D&B Risk Management
SolutionsTM to mitigate credit risk, increase cash Öow and drive increased proÑtability, D&B Sales &
Marketing SolutionsTM to increase revenue from new and existing customers, and D&B Supply Management
SolutionsTM to identify purchasing savings and manage purchasing risk and compliance within their supply
base. D&B's E-Business SolutionsTM help customers convert prospects to clients faster.

Our Aspiration and Our Strategy

Upon separation from Moody's Corporation (""Moody's'') in October 2000, we launched a new business
strategy called the Blueprint for Growth, and announced our aspiration to become a ""growth company with an
important presence on the Web.'' (See ""Organizational Background of our Company'' below.) To us, a
growth company has annual core revenue growth of 7% to 9% and annual earnings per share (""EPS'') growth,
excluding non-core gains and charges, in the mid-to-upper teens, both on a consistent basis. We deÑne an
important presence on the Web as having approximately 80% of our revenue derived from products ordered or
delivered using Internet technology. (Our deÑnitions of core revenue and non-core gains and charges are
explained under ""How We Evaluate Our Performance'' below. A reconciliation of our Generally Accepted
Accounting Principals in the United States (""GAAP'') and non-GAAP results can be found in Item 7.
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in this Form 10-K.)

Since we deÑned our aspiration and launched our Blueprint for Growth strategy, we've gained some
important insights. We've learned that to achieve sustainable revenue growth of 7% to 9%, we need to be even
more intensely focused on our customers' success. We have always had a customer focus, but now we are
intensifying that focus. To better reÖect our commitment to our customers' success, we have decided to evolve
our aspiration. Our new aspiration is ""To be the most trusted source of business insight so our customers can
decide with conÑdence.''

Our intention to become a growth company has not changed. But our new aspiration provides the way for
us to achieve growth and create value for our shareholders.

While our aspiration has shifted focus, our underlying strategy remains the same as when we launched it
in October 2000.

Our Blueprint for Growth strategy is the roadmap to our aspiration. This strategy has Ñve components,
which we believe, taken together, will drive our Ñnancial performance:

‚ Leverage our Brand;

‚ Create Financial Flexibility;

‚ Enhance our Current Business;

‚ Become an Important Player in E-Business; and

‚ Build a Winning Culture.

For the reasons described further below, we believe that our Brand, our Flexible Business Model, and our
Winning Culture form a powerful competitive advantage.
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Leverage our Brand

We believe that the D&B BrandTM stands for conÑdence: our customers rely on D&BTM when they make
critical business decisions.

This conÑdence is the product of DUNSRightTM Ì a quality proprietary process that we believe is the
best in our industry. Through our DUNSRightTM process, our customers have access to comprehensive
business information that we constantly endeavor to make accurate, complete, timely and consistent, globally.

The foundation of DUNSRightTM is Quality Assurance which includes over 2,000 separate automated
checks, plus many manual ones, to ensure that data meets our high quality standards. In addition, Ñve Quality
Drivers work sequentially to enhance the data and make it useful to our customers in making critical business
decisions. Each of these quality drivers is described below:

‚ First, by leveraging our core competency in Global Data Collection, we bring together data from
thousands of sources worldwide and enhance it into quality information to help our customers make
proÑtable decisions. We have the world's largest global business database, with over 83 million
businesses in over 200 countries, including over 32 million businesses in the United States. We update
our database more than 1.5 million times a day. As a result, we provide our customers a one-stop shop
for global business data from around the world.

‚ We integrate the data into our database through our patented Entity Matching process, which
produces a single, more accurate picture of each business. Entity Matching ensures that disparate data
elements are associated with the right businesses in our database by doing such things as allowing and
correcting for variations in spelling, format, trade names and addresses.

‚ We apply our nine-digit global D-U-N-STM Number as a unique means of identifying and tracking a
business globally through every step in the life and activity of the business. We use the D-U-N-STM

Number to link headquarters, branches, parents and subsidiaries. In today's global economy, the
D-U-N-STM Number has become a standard for business identiÑcation and veriÑcation. The
D-U-N-STM Number is exclusively ours and is never reassigned to another business. It follows a
business through every phase of its life, including bankruptcy, and allows veriÑcation of information at
every stage of the DUNSRightTM process.

‚ We use the Corporate Linkage process to enable our customers to view their total risk or opportunity
across related business entities. Linkage means we view each entity in relation to its corporate family,
providing our customers with increased awareness of risk exposure, new opportunities to penetrate
existing customers, and increased leverage with their suppliers.

‚ Finally, our Predictive Indicators use statistical analysis to rate a business's past performance and to
indicate how the business is likely to perform in the future. As an example, Predictive Indicators are
used to predict the likelihood of a company going out of business or not paying its bills. By providing
Predictive Indicators, we make the information in our database even more actionable for our
customers.

With the power of DUNSRightTM at its foundation, we believe the D&B BrandTM is a competitive
advantage that will help us achieve our aspiration.

Create Financial Flexibility

As part of our Blueprint for Growth strategy, we continually seek opportunities to reallocate our spending
to activities that drive revenue growth while, at the same time, improving our proÑtability. We view almost
every dollar that we spend as Öexible. What we mean is that we view very little of our costs as Ñxed Ì we
make a conscious decision about every investment we make.

Through the structured process we call ""Creating Financial Flexibility,'' we continually and systemati-
cally seek ways to improve our performance in terms of quality and cost. SpeciÑcally, we seek to eliminate,
consolidate, standardize, and automate our business functions, or migrate them to the Web. After we have
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fully realized internal eÇciencies, we evaluate the possibility that others can provide improved quality and
greater eÇciencies through outsourcing.

As part of our Financial Flexibility initiatives, we have:

‚ eliminated non-core operations, such as our Receivable Management Services business, which we sold
during 2001;

‚ within our International segment, consolidated our European operations from 19 separate country
operations into one continent-wide operation, begun to standardize our best practices, and substantially
reduced country-level management infrastructure;

‚ consolidated data collection telecenters;

‚ automated and simpliÑed data collection from third-party data sources; and

‚ outsourced certain technology functions, including our data center operations, and certain data
collection functions.

Since the launch of our Blueprint for Growth strategy, we have implemented four phases of Financial
Flexibility initiatives. In each of these phases we identiÑed ways to reduce our expense base, then reallocated
some of the identiÑed spending to other areas of our operations to improve revenue growth. With each phase
of initiatives we have incurred a restructuring charge (which generally consists of employee severance and
termination costs, asset write-oÅs, and/or costs to terminate lease obligations) and transition costs (which
consist of other costs necessary to accomplish the process changes such as consulting fees, costs of temporary
workers, relocation costs and stay bonuses).

The initial impact of each phase on our expense base before any restructuring charges and transition costs
and before any reallocation of spending, and the related restructuring charge and transition costs for each
phase, are as follows:

‚ Phase 1 initially reduced our 2001 expense base by $130 million on an annualized basis before any
reallocation of spending. It resulted in a $41.5 million restructuring charge in the fourth quarter of
2000, of which $4.0 million was reversed in 2001 as excess. It also resulted in $17.2 million of transition
costs incurred primarily in 2001.

‚ Phase 2 initially reduced our 2001 expense base by $70 million on an annualized basis before any
reallocation of spending. It resulted in a $32.8 million restructuring charge in the second quarter of
2001. It also resulted in an aggregate of $30.6 million of transition costs primarily in 2001 and 2002.

‚ Phase 3 initially reduced our 2002 expense base by $80 million on an annualized basis before any
reallocation of spending. It resulted in a $30.9 million restructuring charge in the second quarter of
2002. It also resulted in an aggregate of $27.4 million of transition costs in 2002 and 2003.

‚ Phase 4 initially reduced our 2003 expense base by $75 million on an annualized basis before any
reallocation of spending. It resulted in an aggregate of $17.4 million of restructuring charges in 2003. It
also resulted in $9.3 million of transition costs in 2003, with minimal related costs expected for 2004.

In February 2004, we announced plans to create additional Financial Flexibility through cross-functional
re-engineering that is expected to reduce our 2004 expense base by $70 million to $80 million on an
annualized basis, before any restructuring charges and transition costs and before any reallocation of spending.
We expect to incur related restructuring charges of approximately $30 million to $35 million in 2004 related to
these initiatives.

The decision about how much to reallocate to other areas of our operations to drive revenue growth is
initially made as part of our annual business planning and budgeting process. We then revisit the allocation of
our expenditures over the course of the year.

The success of our Öexible business model is illustrated by a comparison of our Ñnancial results from 2000
(the year our Blueprint for Growth strategy was launched) through 2003. During this period, our total revenue
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declined by $28.7 million, or 2%, primarily due to the sale of non-core businesses, partially oÅset by our core
revenue growth and the impact of our acquisitions. Over the four-year period, we incurred restructuring
charges totaling $118.6 million and transition costs totaling $84.5 million. Even after incurring these charges,
our total operating costs were reduced over the period by $150.2 million, or 12% and our operating income
increased $121.5 million, or 71%.

This re-engineering phase will have a high start-up cost, due to the use of consultants in lieu of in-house
staÅ. As such, we will incur a signiÑcant amount of consulting costs, within Corporate and Other, in the Ñrst
quarter of 2004. In April 2004, we plan on communicating the Ñnal program estimates for each of these
actions including Ñnal annual savings amounts, restructuring charges, transition costs, and headcount
impacted by this series of initiatives.

Build a Winning Culture

By building a Winning Culture, we are transforming D&BTM into a company focused on winning in the
marketplace and creating shareholder value.

We believe that superb leadership will enable our transformation by driving the results that will lead to
the achievement of our aspiration. To build superb leadership, we have developed and deployed a consistent,
principles-based leadership model throughout the company.

Our leadership development process ensures that team member performance goals and Ñnancial rewards
are linked to our Blueprint for Growth strategy. It also enables team members to receive ongoing feedback on
their performance goals and on their leadership. All team members are expected to have a personal leadership
action plan that is focused on their own personal development, building on their leadership strengths and
working on their areas of development.

We also have a talent assessment process that provides a framework to assess and improve skill levels and
performance across the organization and acts as a tool to aid talent development and succession planning.

To measure our progress, we have an employee survey mechanism that enables team members worldwide
to give feedback on our progress in building a Winning Culture.

We believe that our passion around improving our leadership daily to win in the marketplace is another of
our competitive advantages.

Enhancing Our Current Business and Becoming an Important Player in E-Business

We have four customer solution sets: Risk Management Solutions, Sales & Marketing Solutions, Supply
Management Solutions, and E-Business Solutions. We believe each of our solution sets will contribute to our
growth and enable us to achieve our aspiration.

We believe we have signiÑcant opportunities for growth because of the strength of our customer value
propositions.

‚ Our Risk Management Solutions help customers manage credit exposure and cash;

‚ Our Sales & Marketing Solutions help customers Ñnd proÑtable clients and grow;

‚ Our Supply Management Solutions help customers manage suppliers eÅectively and save money; and

‚ Our E-Business Solutions help customers convert prospects to clients faster.

Risk Management Solutions

Risk Management Solutions is our largest customer solution set, accounting for 68% of our total revenue
in 2003. Within this solution set we oÅer traditional and value-added products. Our traditional Risk
Management Solutions, which consist of reports from our database used primarily for making decisions about
new credit applications, constituted 83% of our Risk Management Solutions revenue and 56% of our total
revenue in 2003. Our value-added products, which constituted 17% of our Risk Management Solutions
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revenue and 12% of our total revenue in 2003, generally support automated decision-making and portfolio
management through the use of scoring and integrated software solutions. See Item 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, for a discussion on trends in this
solution set.

Our Risk Management Solutions help customers manage their credit exposure and cash by helping them
answer questions such as:

‚ Should I extend credit to this new customer?

‚ What credit limit should I set?

‚ Will this customer pay me on time?

‚ What is my total credit risk exposure?

‚ Should I change my credit policies?

‚ How can I proactively manage my cash Öow?

We believe there is potential to grow our Risk Management Solutions business. In assessing the revenue
growth opportunities in this product line, we evaluate the market from the perspective of a chief credit oÇcer.
We believe that businesses today use our traditional products primarily to make large credit decisions on new
customers (transactions over $20,000). In the current economic climate, companies are under pressure to Ñnd
more eÇcient ways to perform traditional credit decision-making. To cut costs, companies sometimes reduce
their credit staÅ resulting in fewer product users and/or turn to internal or free sources of business information
(e.g. Internet), which then reduces demand for our traditional products. In addition, our migration of
customers from traditional to value-added solutions are not generating enough consistent new revenue to
sustain Risk Management Solutions growth.

To increase Risk Management Solutions revenue, we are taking actions to mitigate the decline in our
traditional products. SpeciÑcally:

We are developing a longer term strategic answer to the decline by investing to increase the power of
DUNSRightTM. For example, we are:

‚ Increasing the quality of our information by strengthening our database coverage and expanding the
scope of the information we maintain about the businesses in our database.

‚ Improving our Entity Matching capabilities so that we can better meet our customers' requests for
information.

‚ Augmenting our traditional products through Predictive Indicators with new detailed predictive
information.

In addition, to drive revenue in the nearer term, we are:

‚ Controlling price variances more tightly than we had in the past and implementing modest price
increases.

‚ Focusing our account planning on our largest declining accounts.

‚ Ensuring that we continue to meet our customers' needs and thereby achieve revenue growth as we
migrate our customers to our value-added portfolio management solutions.

In addition to actions we are taking to mitigate the decline in the traditional Risk Management Solutions,
we are continuing to invest in our value-added Risk Management Solutions to further assist customers with
automated decision-making and portfolio management. SpeciÑcally, we are continuing to invest to help
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customers make conÑdent decisions on new credit applications for small ($20,000 and under) transactions.
These investments include:

‚ Continuing our alliance with Fair, Isaac & Company to develop and deliver a comprehensive suite of
robust small business credit and risk management solutions for the U.S. and European markets; and

‚ Promoting our Small Business Risk InsightTM solution, our data repository that collects and consoli-
dates performance data from Ñnancial institutions on small businesses across the lending, credit card,
and leasing industries.

‚ Leveraging our investments in Data House S.p.A., which allows us to assist customers in more risk
management decisions about small businesses in Italy.

We are also continuing to invest in the portfolio management space, to help our customers manage the
credit risk associated with their entire customer base. SpeciÑcally, in 2003:

‚ We promoted our portfolio monitoring and alert services, which allow our customers to easily and
inexpensively track changes in the credit status of their customers, suppliers, competitors or even
themselves.

‚ We repositioned our automated risk portfolio management tools called RAMTM, and we launched an
enterprise version of that product, called eRAMTM, to better respond to customer needs.

‚ We also invested in the sales and marketing of these products.

We are investing in these value-added solutions because, in today's business environment, many of our
customers have shifted from manual to automated decision-making for both eÇciency and consistency in
decision-making. We believe that customers need to increase cash Öow at a time when economic pressure is
causing their customers to pay more slowly. In addition, we think that customers are under pressure to make
their credit functions more eÇcient, but do not want to take on increased risk to do so. We believe our value-
added solutions help them increase their proÑtability and cash Öow, while mitigating risk.

To summarize, we are taking actions to mitigate the decline in the traditional products, and we are
investing in our value-added products which are increasingly relevant to our customers' needs.

Sales & Marketing Solutions

Sales & Marketing Solutions is our second-largest customer solution set accounting for 27% of our total
revenue in 2003. Within this solution set we oÅer traditional and value-added products. Our traditional
products generally consist of marketing lists, labels and customized data Ñles used by our customers in their
direct mail and marketing activities. These products constituted 53% of our Sales & Marketing Solutions
revenue and 14% of our total revenue in 2003. Our value-added products generally include decision-making
and customer information management solutions. These value-added products constituted 47% of our 2003
Sales & Marketing Solutions revenue and 13% of our total revenue in 2003. See Item 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, for a discussion on trends in this
solution set.

Our Sales & Marketing Solutions help businesses Ñnd proÑtable customers and grow by helping them
answer questions such as:

‚ Who are my best customers?

‚ How can I Ñnd prospects that look like my best customers?

‚ How can I exploit untapped opportunities with my existing customers?

‚ How can I allocate sales force resources to revenue growth potential?

‚ How can I maximize the return on my marketing campaigns?
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We believe there is potential to grow our Sales & Marketing Solutions business. In assessing the revenue
growth opportunities in this product line, we evaluate the market from the perspective of a chief sales or
marketing oÇcer. We also segregate our customers for this solution set into one of three categories based on
how they tailor their sales and marketing resources and programs:

‚ the Enterprise customer with multiple business units and a high need for integration, a complex
decision making process and potentially very high value per transaction;

‚ the Business Unit or mid-market customer with independent budget responsibility, few sites per
company but some need for integration and a somewhat complicated decision-making process;

‚ and the Small Business customer typically with one location, a relatively simple decision-making
process and small value per transaction.

We believe that businesses today seek to grow by acquiring new customers and growing existing customers.
ProÑtable, growing companies do both of these to some degree, and we have products and services to meet
both needs.

Our prospecting solutions are used to acquire new customers. These solutions include:

‚ Our WorldBase database, which Enterprise customers license to create a prospect database;

‚ Market SpectrumTM, which combines information with analytic tools without extensive systems
integration, and is best suited for our Business Unit customers;

‚ Zapdata.com, a web-based prospecting tool for our Small Business customers; and

‚ Our lists and labels, which deliver prospecting information in hard copy or on diskette.

Our customer information management solutions are used to grow the value of existing customers. For
example,

‚ Data integrator is used by our Enterprise customers to integrate D&B matching of data and
information into their business processes for both front- and back-oÇce beneÑts;

‚ Corporate Family Tree is used by our Enterprise customers to reveal previously unseen business
relationships to uncover who their best customers really are;

‚ Data Integration Toolkit is used by our Business Unit customers to integrate quickly with D&B to
monitor and standardize their business information;

‚ Our data cleansing is used by our Business Unit customers to standardize name and address
information in their data Ñles to improve their internal data quality; and

‚ Our data enhancement service is used by our Small Business customers to append our business
information to their own customer data Ñles to improve their cross-sell and up-sell activities.

Sales & Marketing Solutions revenue growth slowed considerably in the Ñrst quarter of 2003 compared
with growth in 2002, primarily due to weakness in the ""acquire new customers'' space. We believe that this
slowdown was due, in part to, the overall economic environment. Results in the ""grow existing customers''
space were much stronger. We believe this was because our customers paid more attention to their existing
customer portfolio, even if they weren't spending to acquire new customers.

In response to the slowdown, we invested in our sales force to help us execute with greater intensity.
SpeciÑcally, we added 75 percent more product specialists in the United States, which signiÑcantly increased
sales capacity for our value-added customer information management solutions. We also added sales
leadership in several of our International markets, each with a dedicated Sales & Marketing team. In addition,
we invested in DUNSRightTM, and in other product improvements.

With these investments and the strong leadership of our team members, Sales & Marketing Solutions
revenue improved steadily as 2003 progressed. We believe our Sales & Marketing Solutions are well
positioned for growth.
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Supply Management Solutions

Businesses use our Supply Management Solutions to save money by leveraging the total supplier
relationship and helping them answer questions such as:

‚ How much do I spend on purchasing across my whole organization?

‚ How much business do I do with each supplier?

‚ How can I increase my leverage with suppliers to save money?

‚ How can I be conÑdent that this supplier will be reliable?

‚ How can I know which suppliers are also customers?

‚ How can I Ñnd new suppliers?

Supply Management Solutions has historically been a small part of our business, representing only three
percent of our total revenue in 2003. Nonetheless, we view Supply Management Solutions as a product line in
which we can, with the proper investment and focus, grow. To drive growth, we have created a suite of
oÅerings that we believe enables customers to save money and time, by helping them understand how much
they are spending across the organization, as well as what they are buying, so that they can achieve cost
savings and manage their total supplier relationship. See Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, for a discussion on trends in this solution set.

Through Supply Management Solutions we seek to help businesses generate new and recurring savings
and mitigate risks by enabling them to:

‚ Gain 100% visibility into the global spending trapped in multiple systems across their organization;

‚ Uncover increased negotiating leverage based on their total supplier relationship;

‚ Reveal additional savings as they reduce the number of approved suppliers;

‚ Ensure the diversity of their approved suppliers;

‚ Reduce their exposure to supplier failure; and

‚ Track 100% compliance of their supplier programs.

Our solutions are designed to continue to generate new and recurring savings year after year by repeating
the same process annually.

Our suite of Supply Management Solutions includes:

‚ Supply Opportunity AssessmentTM Ì an analysis that helps customers save money by providing
information that can increase leverage with their current and potential future supplier base by
analyzing how much they are spending in total.

‚ Supply IntelligenceTM Ì a suite of Web-enabled tools that help customers locate and select global
suppliers more quickly and accurately. Supply IntelligenceTM factors in actual supplier information, as
well as the customers' risk and performance objectives.

‚ Supply OptimizerTM Ì continues to help customers save money by monitoring spending habits over
time to ensure compliance and savings with preferred suppliers.

E-Business Solutions

E-Business Solutions represents the results of Hoover's, Inc., a business we acquired in March 2003. It
accounted for 2% of our total revenue in 2003.

Hoover's provides information on public and private companies, primarily to sales, marketing and
business development professionals. Hoover's has a proprietary database of more than 40,000 companies
worldwide and 600 industries, an increase from approximately 18,000 companies and 300 industries when we
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acquired the business. Hoover's also lists approximately 225,000 corporate executives an increase from
approximately 180,000. Hoover's provides access to this database primarily through its Internet service,
Hoover's Online. Hoover's generates its revenue primarily through subscriptions to the Hoover's Online
service.

We believe Hoover's helps customers convert prospects to clients faster. Hoover's helps answer questions
such as:

‚ What are the prospect's key business priorities?

‚ How does the prospect's business compare to my customers?

‚ How does the prospect compete to win in their industry?

‚ Who are the key senior level decision makers?

‚ How do I build a strong relationship with them?

Hoover's provides insight into companies, their key competitors and industry trends. In addition, Hoover's
provides lists of executives to helps customers quickly identify senior level decision makers and provides
biographical information. Finally, Hoover's provides tools that help customers search, sort and download
information Ì saving them time and resources.

We intend to continue to invest in Hoover's by leveraging our quality process, DUNSRightTM to enhance
the value of Hoover's data, apply direct marketing to customer acquisition and retention, introduce new
products and enhancements to Hoover's Online, and increase sales to large companies.

Business Segments

Since January 1, 2003, we report our business globally through two business segments:

‚ North America (which consists of our operations in the United States and Canada), and

‚ International (which comprises Europe, Africa, Middle East, Asia PaciÑc, and Latin America).

Prior to that, we reported our business globally through three segments:

‚ U.S. and Canada, which we referred to as ""North America'';

‚ Europe, Africa and Middle East, which we referred to as ""Europe''; and

‚ Asia PaciÑc and Latin America, which we referred to as ""APLA.''

In accordance with GAAP, throughout this report we have reclassiÑed prior period presentations to
conform to our current segment reporting. (See ""Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.'')

North America. Our North America segment has oÇces and conducts operations in two countries. This
segment accounted for 69% of our total revenue in 2003.

International. The International segment has oÇces in 27 countries and conducts operations in ten
other countries through companies in which we have a minority equity investment. We also have independent
correspondents in more than 150 additional countries. The International segment accounted for 31% of our
total revenue in 2003.

As part of our ongoing eÅorts to Enhance our Current Business, we are implementing an International
segment strategy to achieve a leading competitive position in certain markets. We deÑne a leading competitive
position as:

‚ Best-in-class DUNSRightTM quality process;

‚ A leading provider of Risk Management Solutions;
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‚ A leading provider of Sales & Marketing Solutions; and

‚ The potential to grow both.

We seek to achieve this leading competitive position through our company-wide focus on best-in-class
data quality with our DUNSRightTM quality process.

We will use diÅerent approaches to improve our competitive position from market to market worldwide.
As part of this process, we evaluate our competitive position and potential in each country (or market) and
determine whether we can best achieve our objectives through continued direct ownership of, and investment
in, the local business or by forming strategic relationships to enhance our quality data.

For example, in December 2003, we formed a strategic relationship with Bonnier AÅarsinformation
Holding AB (""Bonnier''), a leading business information provider in the Nordic Region (deÑned below). We
sold our businesses in Sweden, Denmark, Norway and Finland (the ""Nordic Region'') to Bonnier, who will
operate the businesses under the D&BTM name and distribute D&BTM branded services in the Nordic Region.
We will receive access to Bonnier's Nordic business information database for our international use, and
provide technical support for the business under a 10-year service agreement. This strategic relationship will
provide our global customers with access to expanded global data coverage, thus enhancing our value
proposition and reinforcing the strength of the D&BTM brand. In this way, we will bring value to our customers
worldwide, and create value for our shareholders.

Internationally, since the launch of the Blueprint for Growth strategy, we have entered into strategic
relationships in Thailand, Australia/New Zealand, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, Japan, Korea, Israel, the
Nordic Region, and most recently, India.

Operating segment data and other information for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
are included in Note 14 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Each of our business segments are subject to a number of challenges, which are discussed in detail in
""Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.''

How We Evaluate Our Performance

We use the following Ñnancial measures to evaluate our performance:

‚ Total revenue excluding the revenue of divested businesses, which we refer to as ""core revenue.'' Core
revenue includes the revenue from acquired businesses from the date of acquisition.

‚ Core revenue growth excluding the eÅects of foreign exchange, which we refer to as ""revenue growth
before the eÅects of foreign exchange.''

‚ Operating income and diluted earnings per share excluding restructuring charges (whether recurring or
non-recurring) and certain other items that we consider do not reÖect our underlying business
performance. We refer to these restructuring charges and other items as ""non-core gains and charges.''

‚ Net cash provided by operating activities minus capital expenditures and additions to computer
software & other intangibles, which we refer to as ""free cash Öow.''

""Core revenue'' is useful to management and investors because it provides an indication of the underlying
direction of changes in revenue in a single performance measure without reported revenue of divested
businesses which will not be included in future revenue. Management believes that this measure provides
valuable insight into the Company's revenue from ongoing operations and enables investors to evaluate
business performance and trends by facilitating a comparison of results of ongoing operations with past reports
of Ñnancial results. In addition, this measure is used by management to evaluate performance for compensa-
tion purposes. We also isolate the eÅects of changes in foreign exchange rates on our revenue growth because,
while we take steps to manage our exposure to foreign currency, we believe that it is useful to investors to be
able to compare revenue from one period to another both with and without the eÅects of currency translation.
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""Operating income and earnings per share'' before non-core gains and charges such as restructuring
charges is appropriate because they are not a component of our ongoing income or expenses and may have a
disproportional positive or negative impact on the results of our on-going underlying business operations.
These non-core gains and charges are identiÑed in ""Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.'' You should not conclude from our presentation of non-core
gains and charges that the items that result in non-core gains and charges will not occur in the future. Non-
operating income or expenses and transition costs (period costs such as consulting fees, costs of temporary
employees, relocation costs and stay bonuses incurred to implement the Financial Flexibility component of our
strategy), all of which are reported at the corporate level, are also not included in our segment results.

""Free cash Öow'' measures the Company's available cash Öow for potential debt repayment, acquisitions,
stock repurchases and additions to cash, cash equivalents and short term investments. We believe free cash
Öow to be relevant and useful information to our investors as this measure is used by our management in
evaluating the funding necessary to support our ongoing business operations and to support our portfolio of
product investment decisions. Free cash Öow should not be considered as a substitute measure of net cash
Öows provided by operating activities, and does not necessarily represent amounts available for discretionary
expenditures. Therefore, we believe it is important to view free cash Öow as a complement to our entire
consolidated statements of cash Öows.

We believe these measures are useful because they reÖect how we manage our business. These
adjustments to our results in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, are made
with the intent of providing both management and investors a more complete understanding of the underlying
operational results and trends and our marketplace performance. These adjustments to our GAAP results are
among the primary indicators management uses as a basis for our planning and forecasting of future periods
and to the evaluate performance of the business and for compensation purposes. However, these measures are
not prepared in accordance with GAAP, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for total
revenue, operating income, diluted earnings per share or net cash provided by operating activities, prepared in
accordance with GAAP. We discuss our Ñnancial results prepared in accordance with GAAP and provide a
reconciliation of our GAAP and non-GAAP results in ""Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.''

In addition, you should note that because not all companies calculate these Ñnancial measures similarly,
or at all, the presentation of these measures is not likely to be comparable to measures of other companies.

Our Products and Services, Sales Force and Principal Customers

Our principal Risk Management Products are:

‚ our Business Information Report, or BIR;

‚ our Commercial Credit Score and other scores, which help assess the credit risk of a business by
assigning a rating or score;

‚ our Risk Assessment Manager, or RAMTM, and enterprise Risk Assessment Manager, or eRAMTM,
which help our customers manage their credit portfolios; and

‚ our monitoring products.

Our principal Sales & Marketing Products are:

‚ various directories, list and label services and other marketing solutions;

‚ Market SpectrumTM, a decision support application that allows our customers to combine D&B data
with their own data and use the enhanced data to identify likely prospects for sales and marketing
initiatives; and

‚ customer information management tools and processes that compare our customer's records with our
database to help reduce duplications and data errors, and identify corporate relationships.
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Our principal Supply Management Products are:

‚ Supply Opportunity AssessmentTM;

‚ Supply IntelligenceTM; and

‚ Supply OptimizerTM.

Our principle E-Business Products are:

‚ Hoover's Online Subscriptions (Lite, Pro, Pro Plus);

‚ Advertising & E-Commerce through www.hoovers.com;

‚ Licensing of Hoover's proprietary content; and

‚ Publishing of the Hoover's Handbook series.

We rely primarily on our sales force of approximately 2,200 team members worldwide to sell our
products, of which approximately 1,300 and 900 are in our North American and International segments,
respectively. We have teams of relationship managers and product specialists that sell to our higher-revenue
customers, teams of telesales that sell to our lower-revenue customers and a team that sells to resellers of our
products and data such as OneSource Information Services, Inc. and Lexis-Nexis. We deliver our solutions
primarily through the Web and other electronic methods, including desktop and enterprise application
software as well as through third-party resellers and enterprise software vendors.

Our principal customers are major manufacturers and wholesalers, insurance companies, telecommunica-
tion companies, banks and other credit and Ñnancial institutions. Our E-business's principal customers are
sales, marketing and business development professionals (and executives with similar needs) in small- to mid-
sized businesses. None of our customers accounted for more than 2% of our Company's 2003 consolidated
revenue or of the revenue of our North American or International business segments. Accordingly, neither the
Company nor any of our business segments is dependent on a single customer or a few customers, such that a
loss of any one would have a material adverse eÅect on our Company's consolidated annual results or the
annual results of any of our business segments.

Competition

We are subject to highly competitive conditions in all aspects of our business. A number of competitors
are active in speciÑc aspects of our business. However, we believe no competitor oÅers our complete line of
solutions or can match our global data quality resulting from our DUNSRightTM quality process.

In North America, we are a market leader in our Risk Management Solutions business in terms of
relative market share and revenue of third party business credit information. We directly compete with a broad
range of companies, including consumer credit companies such as Equifax, Inc. and Experian Information
Solutions, Inc., which have traditionally primarily oÅered consumer information services, but now oÅer
products that combine consumer information with business information as a tool to help customers make
credit decisions with respect to small businesses.

We also compete in North America with a broad range of companies oÅering products similar to our
Sales & Marketing Solutions and Supply Management Solutions. In our Sales & Marketing Solutions
business, our direct competitors include Acxiom Corporation, Experian Information Solutions, Inc., and
infoUSA, Inc. In our Supply Management Solutions business, we directly compete with large consulting Ñrms
such as Cap Gemini Ernst & Young and Deloitte Consulting, as well as our customers' own purchasing
departments.

On the Web, Hoover's competition varies based on the size of customer and the level of spending
available for services such as Hoover's Online. On the high end of pricing, Hoover's Pro and Hoover's Pro Plus
competes with other business information providers such as OneSource, Dialog, Factiva and LexisNexis. On
the low end of pricing, Hoover's Lite mainly competes with free advertising-supported sites and other free
low-priced information sources, such as Yahoo! Finance and CBS MarketWatch.
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Outside North America, the competitive environment varies by country. In some countries, leadership
positions exist, while other markets are highly fragmented. In Europe, our direct competition is primarily
local, for example Creditreform (Germany), Graydon (Benelux), Coface Scrl (France), Lince (Italy) and
Experian (UK). However, we believe common links exist among some of these competitors through their
membership in two European information network alliances, BIGNet (Creditreform & Experian) and
Eurogate (Coface Scrl & Graydon). The European S&MS landscape is both localized and fragmented
throughout Europe, where numerous local players of varying size compete for business.

We also face competition from the in-house operations of the businesses we seek as customers, other
general and specialized credit reporting and business information services, other information and professional
service providers, and credit insurers. In certain International markets, such as Europe, some credit insurers,
due to a recent decline in revenues from their core businesses, have identiÑed the provision of credit
information as an additional revenue stream and growth area (e.g., Euler Hermes's launch of First Source
credit reporting service in the UK). In addition, business information products and services are becoming
more readily available, principally due to the expansion of the Internet, greater availability of public data and
the emergence of new providers of business information products and services. We believe weak economic
conditions have also resulted in customers' seeking to utilize free or lower-cost information that is available
from alternative sources such as the Internet and European Commission sponsored projects like the European
Business Register.

As discussed in ""Our Aspiration and Our Strategy,'' above, we believe that our Brand, our Flexible
Business Model, and our Winning Culture form a powerful, competitive advantage.

Our ability to continue to compete eÅectively will be based on a number of factors, including:

‚ Our ability to communicate and demonstrate to our customers the value of our proprietary
DUNSRightTM quality process;

‚ our ability to attract local customers to the worldwide information services oÅered by our unique
database;

‚ our ability to demonstrate value through our decision-making tools and integration capabilities;

‚ the reliability and quality of our information;

‚ our brand perception;

‚ our ability to continue to implement the Financial Flexibility component of our strategy and eÅectively
reallocate our spending to activities that drive revenue growth;

‚ our ability to deliver business information through various media and distribution channels in formats
tailored to customer requirements;

‚ our ability to attract and retain a high-performing workforce;

‚ our ability to enhance our existing services or introduce new services; and

‚ our ability to improve our International business model and data quality through the formation and
successful management of strategic relationships in our International segment.

Intellectual Property

We own and control a number of intellectual property rights, such as trade secrets, conÑdential
information, trademarks, trade names, copyrights and patents. These rights, in the aggregate, are of material
importance to our business. We also believe that each of the D&B name and related trade names, marks and
logos are of material importance to our business. We are licensed to use certain technology and other
intellectual property rights owned and controlled by others, and other companies are licensed to use certain
technology and other intellectual property rights owned and controlled by us. We consider our trademarks,
service marks, databases, software and other intellectual property to be proprietary, and we rely on a
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combination of statutory (e.g., copyright, trademark, trade secret, patent) and contract and liability safeguards
for protection.

The names of our branded products and services referred to in this Form 10-K are trademarks, service
marks or registered trademarks or service marks owned by or licensed to us or one or more of our subsidiaries.

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we employed approximately 6,100 team members worldwide, of which
approximately 3,600 were in our North American segment and 2,500 were in our International segment. We
believe that we have good relations with our employees. There are no unions in our North American segment.
Workers Councils and Trade Unions represent a portion of our employees in the European and Latin
American divisions of our International segment.

Available Information

We maintain a Web site at http://www.dnb.com. We make available, free of charge, through this site,
our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, all
amendments to these reports, and changes in the stock ownership of our directors and executive oÇcers, as
soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically Ñled or furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

The information on our Web site is not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part of this report or
incorporated into any other Ñlings we make with the SEC.

Organizational Background of Our Company

As used in this report, except where the context indicates otherwise, the terms ""D&B'', ""Company''
""we'', ""us'' or ""our'' refer to The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation and its subsidiaries. Our executive oÇces are
located at 103 JFK Parkway, Short Hills, NJ 07078 and our telephone number is (973) 921-5500.

Prior to September 30, 2000, D&B operated as part of a larger company then known as The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation (""Old D&B''). On September 8, 2000, the Board of Directors of Old D&B approved a
plan to separate into two publicly traded companies Ì D&B and Moody's Corporation. On September 30,
2000, Old D&B distributed to its shareholders all of the outstanding shares of D&B common stock. In
connection with this transaction, Old D&B changed its name to Moody's Corporation.

D&B is the accounting successor to Old D&B, which was incorporated under the laws of the State of
Delaware on April 8, 1998. Old D&B began operating as an independent publicly-owned corporation on
July 1, 1998 as a result of its June 30, 1998 spin-oÅ from the corporation now known as ""R.H. Donnelley
Corporation'' and previously known as ""The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation'' (""Donnelley''). Old D&B
became the accounting successor to Donnelley at the time of the 1998 Distribution.

Prior to the 1998 spin-oÅ, Donnelley was the parent holding company for subsidiaries then engaged in the
businesses currently conducted by D&B, Moody's and Donnelley. Prior to November 1, 1996, it also was the
parent holding company of subsidiaries conducting business under the names Cognizant Corporation and
ACNielsen Corporation. On that date Donnelley eÅected a spin-oÅ of the capital stock of Cognizant and
ACNielsen to its stockholders. Cognizant subsequently changed its name to Nielsen Media Research, Inc. in
connection with its 1998 spin-oÅ of the capital stock of IMS Health Incorporated.

For purposes of governing certain ongoing relationships between D&B and Moody's after their separation
from each other in 2000 and to provide for an orderly transition, the companies entered into various
agreements including a Distribution Agreement, Tax Allocation Agreement, Employee BeneÑts Agreement,
Shared Transaction Services Agreement, Insurance and Risk Management Services Agreement, Data
Services Agreement and Transition Services Agreement. These agreements are Ñled as Exhibits to this report.
For more information on the separation of D&B from Moody's see Note 13 to our consolidated Ñnancial
statements.
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Item 2. Properties

Our executive oÇces are located at 103 JFK Parkway, Short Hills, New Jersey, in a 123,000-square-foot
property that we lease. This property also serves as the executive oÇces of our North America business.

Our other properties are geographically distributed to meet sales and operating requirements worldwide.
We generally consider these properties to be both suitable and adequate to meet current operating
requirements, and most of the space is being utilized. The most important of these other properties include the
following sites:

‚ a 147,000-square-foot oÇce building that we own in Parsippany, New Jersey, housing personnel from
our sales, marketing and technology groups; and

‚ 76,000-square-feet of an oÇce building that is leased in High Wycombe, England, which houses
operational and technology services for Europe and serves as the executive oÇces for our European
business. (See Note 3 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements.)

We also conduct operations from 47 oÇces located throughout the U.S., 46 of which are leased, and 56
non-U.S. oÇce locations, 55 of which are leased.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in tax and legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of
business. We periodically assess our liabilities and contingencies in connection with these matters based upon
the latest information available. For those matters where it is probable that we have incurred a loss and the
loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated, we have recorded reserves in our consolidated Ñnancial
statements. In other instances, we are unable to make a reasonable estimate of any liability because of the
uncertainties related to the probability of the outcome and/or amount or range of loss. As additional
information becomes available, we adjust our assessment and estimates of such liabilities accordingly.

Based on our review of the latest information available, we believe our ultimate liability in connection
with pending tax and legal proceedings, claims and litigation will not have a material eÅect on our results of
operations, cash Öows or Ñnancial position, with the possible exception of the matters described below.

In order to understand our exposure to the potential liabilities described below, it is important to
understand the relationship between us and Moody's Corporation, our predecessors and other parties that,
through various corporate reorganizations and contractual commitments, have assumed varying degrees of
responsibility with respect to such matters.

In November 1996, the company then known as The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (""D&B1'')
separated through a spinoÅ into three separate public companies: D&B1, ACNielsen Corporation (""ACNiel-
sen'') and Cognizant Corporation (""Cognizant'') (the ""1996 Distribution''). This was accomplished through
a spin oÅ by D&B1 of its stock in ACNielsen and Cognizant. In June 1998, D&B1 separated through a spin-
oÅ into two separate public companies: D&B1, which changed its name to R.H. Donnelley Corporation
(""Donnelley/D&B1''), spun oÅ its stock in a new company named The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation
(""D&B2'') (the ""1998 Distribution''). During 1998, Cognizant separated into two separate public companies:
IMS Health Incorporated (""IMS'') and Nielsen Media Research, Inc. (""NMR'') (the ""1998 Cognizant
Distribution''). In September 2000, D&B2 separated through a spin-oÅ into two separate public companies:
D&B2, which changed its name to Moody's Corporation (""Moody's'' and also referred to elsewhere in this
Form 10-K as ""Moody's/D&B2''), spun oÅ its stock in a new company named The Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation (""we'' or ""D&B3'' and also referred to elsewhere in this Form 10-K as ""D&B'') (the ""2000
Distribution'').

Tax Matters

Moody's/D&B2 and its predecessors entered into global tax-planning initiatives in the normal course of
business, principally through tax-free restructurings of both their foreign and domestic operations. The status
of Internal Revenue Service reviews of these initiatives is summarized below.
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Pursuant to a series of agreements, IMS and NMR are jointly and severally liable for and must pay one-
half, and we and Moody's/D&B2 are jointly and severally liable for and must pay the other half, of any
payments over $137 million for taxes, accrued interest and other amounts resulting from unfavorable IRS
rulings on the tax matters summarized below (other than the matter summarized below as ""Amortization and
Royalty Expense Deductions/Royalty Income 1997-2003,'' for which we and Moody's/D&B2 are solely
responsible). Moody's/D&B2 was contractually obligated to pay, and did pay, that $137 million in connection
with the matter summarized below as ""Utilization of Capital Losses Ì 1989-1990.''

Under the terms of the 2000 Distribution, we and Moody's/D&B2 have agreed to each be Ñnancially
responsible for 50% of any potential liabilities of Moody's/D&B2 that may arise to the extent such potential
liabilities are not directly attributable to each party's respective business operations.

Utilization of Capital Losses Ì 1989-1990

The IRS completed its review of the utilization of certain capital losses generated during 1989 and 1990
and, on June 26, 2000, issued a formal notice of adjustment. On May 12, 2000, an amended tax return was
Ñled for the 1989 and 1990 tax periods, which reÖected $561.6 million of tax and interest due. Moody's/D&B2
paid the IRS approximately $349.3 million of this amount on May 12, 2000, and IMS paid the IRS
approximately $212.3 million on May 17, 2000. The payments were made to the IRS to stop further interest
from accruing. We are continuing to contest, on behalf of Donnelley/D&B1, the IRS's formal assessment and
would also contest any assessment of penalties or other amounts, if any, in excess of the amounts paid.
Donnelley/D&B1 Ñled a complaint for a refund in the U.S. District Court on September 21, 2000. The case is
expected to go to trial in 2005, unless otherwise resolved between the parties. D&B would share in the Ñnal
resolution of this matter with IMS, NMR and Moody's/D&B2, as disclosed above.

Royalty Expense Deductions Ì 1993-1997

In the second quarter of 2003, we received on behalf of Donnelley/D&B1 an IRS examination report
with respect to a partnership transaction entered into in 1993.

SpeciÑcally, the IRS is proposing to disallow certain royalty expense deductions claimed by Donnelley/
D&B1 on its 1993-1996 tax returns. We estimate that the disallowance of the 1993 and 1994 royalty expense
deductions would result in a loss to us of $5 million in pending tax refunds. We also estimate that the net
impact to cash Öow with respect to the disallowance of the 1995 and 1996 royalty expense deductions could be
up to $44.1 million (tax, interest and penalties, net of associated tax beneÑts).

In addition, and also in the second quarter of 2003, we received on behalf of the partnership associated
with the above transaction an IRS examination report challenging the tax treatment of certain royalty
payments received by the partnership in which Donnelley/D&B1 was a partner. In that report, the IRS is
seeking to reallocate certain partnership income to Donnelley/D&B1. In January 2004, we received additional
IRS Notices (similar to those received in the second quarter of 2003) reÖecting a net impact to cash Öow of
$1.6 million (tax, interest, and penalties, net of associated tax beneÑts) associated with Donnelley/D&B1's
remaining interest in the partnership transaction (as described above) for the three months in 1997 for which
the entities were partners. The net impact to cash Öow with respect to our share of this income for the Notices
received in the second quarter of 2003 and January 2004 could be up to $21.9 million (tax, interest and
penalties, net of associated tax beneÑts). We believe that these positions regarding the partnership are
inconsistent with the IRS' position with respect to the same royalty expense deductions described above. This
$21.9 million would be in addition to the $44.1 million noted above related to royalty expense deductions
discussed in the previous paragraph.

We have Ñled protests relating to these proposed adjustments with the IRS OÇce of Appeals. The parties
are attempting to resolve these matters at the Appeals phase before proceeding to litigation, if necessary. If the
IRS were to prevail in its position, we would share responsibility for the matter with Moody's/D&B2, IMS
and NMR, as disclosed above. If we, on behalf of Donnelley/D&B1, were to challenge any of these IRS
positions at any time, set forth above in a U.S. District Court or the U.S. Court of Federal Claims, rather than
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in U.S. Tax Court, the disputed amounts would need to be paid in advance for the Court to have jurisdiction
over the case.

Amortization and Royalty Expense Deductions Ì 1997-2003

In the fourth quarter of 2003, we received, on behalf of Donnelley/D&B1 and Moody's/D&B2, IRS
Notices of Proposed Adjustment with respect to a partnership transaction entered into in 1997. In addition, we
received, on behalf of the partnership, various IRS materials further explaining the examining agent's position
with respect to the activities of the partnership in 1997-1998.

SpeciÑcally, the IRS asserted that certain amortization expense deductions claimed by Donnelley/D&B1
and Moody's/D&B2 on their 1997-1998 tax returns should be disallowed. We estimate that the net impact to
cash Öow as a result of the disallowance of the 1997 and 1998 amortization deductions and the disallowance of
such deductions claimed from 1999 to date could be up to $52 million (tax, interest and penalties, net of
associated tax beneÑts but not taking into account the Moody's/D&B2 repayment to us of $41.3 million
described below). This transaction is scheduled to expire in 2012 and, unless terminated by us, the net impact
to cash Öow, based on current interest rates and tax rates would increase at a rate of approximately
$2.5 million per quarter (including potential penalties) as future amortization expenses are deducted. At the
2000 Distribution Date, we paid Moody's/D&B2 approximately $55 million in cash representing the
discounted value of future tax beneÑts associated with this transaction. However, pursuant to the terms of the
2000 Distribution Agreement, should the transaction be terminated, Moody's/D&B2 would be required to
repay us an amount equal to the discounted value of its 50% share of the related future tax beneÑts. If the
transaction was terminated at December 31, 2003, the amount of such repayment from Moody's/D&B2 to us
would be approximately $41.3 million and would decrease by approximately $4 million to $5 million per year.

In addition, the IRS has asserted that royalty expense deductions, claimed by Donnelley/D&B1 and
Moody's/D&B2 on their tax returns for 1997-1998, for royalties paid to the partnership, should be disallowed.
Relatedly, the IRS has asserted that the receipt of these same royalties by the partnership should be
reallocated to and reported as royalty income by Donnelley/D&B1 and Moody's/D&B2, including the
portions of the royalties that were allocated to third-party partners in the partnership, and, thus, included in
their taxable income. We believe that the IRS' stated positions with respect to the treatment of the royalty
expense and royalty income are mutually inconsistent, making it unlikely that the IRS will prevail on both of
the positions. If the IRS prevails on one of the positions with respect to the royalty expense and royalty
income, we believe that it is unlikely that it will prevail on the other position. As a result, we believe that after
taking into account certain other tax beneÑts resulting from the IRS' position on the partnership it is unlikely
that there will be any net impact to cash Öow in addition to the amounts noted above related to the
amortization expense deduction.

In the unlikely event the IRS were to prevail on both positions with respect to the royalty
expense/income, we estimate that the net impact to cash Öow as a result of the disallowance of the 1997-1998
royalty expense deductions, the disallowance of such deductions claimed from 1999 to date and the inclusion
of the reallocated royalty income for all relevant years could be up to $137 million (tax, interest and penalties,
net of associated tax beneÑts). This $137 million would be in addition to the $52 million noted above related
to the amortization expense deduction.

We are discussing the foregoing assertions with the IRS and are attempting to resolve these matters with
the IRS before proceeding to IRS Appeals or litigation, if necessary. If we, on behalf of Donnelley/D&B1 and
Moody's/D&B2, were to challenge any of these IRS positions, at any time, set forth above for years 1997 and
1998 in U.S. District Court or the U.S. Court of Federal Claims, rather than in U.S. Tax Court, the disputed
amounts for each applicable year would need to be paid in advance for the Court to have jurisdiction over the
case.
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* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

We have considered the foregoing tax matters and the merits of the legal defenses and the various
contractual obligations in our overall assessment of potential tax liabilities. We have $104 million recorded in
the consolidated Ñnancial statements made up of the following components: $49 million of reserves in Accrued
Income Tax, since we expect to resolve this amount within one year; $7 million receivable in Other
Receivables, representing the tax beneÑt for deductible interest, since we expect to realize this amount within
one year; and $62 million of reserves in Other Non-Current Liabilities since we do not expect to resolve this
amount within one year. We believe that these reserves are adequate for our share of the liabilities in these
matters. Any payments that would be made for these exposures could be signiÑcant to our cash from
operations in the period a cash payment took place.

Legal Proceedings

Information Resources, Inc.

Introduction

The following is a description of an antitrust lawsuit Ñled in 1996 by Information Resources, Inc.
(""IRI''). As noted below, D&B has contingent liability for this matter as a result of contractual commitments
undertaken in connection with various corporate reorganizations since 1996, including our spin oÅ from
Moody's/D&B2 in 2000. As more fully described below, VNU N.V., a publicly traded Dutch company, and
its subsidiary ACNielsen Corporation (""ACNielsen'') have exclusive liability for any Ñnal judgment or
settlement of this antitrust lawsuit, subject to a cap. The cap is determined based on the Ñnancial ability of
VNU N.V. and ACNielsen to pay for any judgment or settlement. Under the contractual agreements
described below, amounts in excess of the cap, if any, would be shared as follows: 25% for D&B; 25% for
Moody's; and the remaining 50% is shared by IMS and NMR (a subsidiary of VNU N.V.). For a description
of the terms ""Donnelly/D&B1,'' Moody's/D&B2 and ""Moody's'' and the relationship between Don-
nelly/D&B1, Moody's, Moody's/D&B2 and D&B, see page 15 under the heading ""Legal Proceedings.''

Overview of the Lawsuit

In July 1996, IRI Ñled a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York,
naming as defendants a company then known as The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation and now known as R.H.
Donnelly (referred to in this 10-K as Donnelley/D&B1), A.C. Nielsen Company (a subsidiary of ACNiel-
sen) and IMS International, Inc. (a subsidiary of the company then known as Cognizant Corporation). At the
time of the Ñling of the complaint, each of the other defendants was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Donnelley/D&B1.

The complaint alleges various violations of United States antitrust laws under Sections 1 and 2 of the
Sherman Antitrust Act. The complaint also alleges a claim of tortious interference with a contract and a claim
of tortious interference with a prospective business relationship. These claims relate to the acquisition by
defendants of Survey Research Group Limited (""SRG''). IRI alleges SRG violated an alleged agreement
with IRI when it agreed to be acquired by the defendants and that the defendants induced SRG to breach that
agreement.

IRI's antitrust claims allege that the defendants developed and implemented a plan to undermine IRI's
ability to compete within the U.S. and foreign markets in North America, Latin America, Asia,Europe and
Australia/New Zealand through a series of anti-competitive practices, including: unlawfully tying/bundling
services in the markets in which defendants allegedly had monopoly power with services in markets in which
ACNielsen competed with IRI; entering into exclusionary contracts with retailers in certain countries to deny
IRI's access to sales data necessary to provide retail tracking services or to artiÑcially raise the cost of that
data; predatory pricing; acquiring foreign market competitors with the intent of impeding IRI's eÅorts to
expand; disparaging IRI to Ñnancial analysts and clients; and denying IRI access to capital necessary for it to
compete.
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IRI's complaint originally alleged damages in excess of $350 million, which IRI asked to be trebled under
antitrust laws. IRI has since revised its allegation of damages to exceed $650 million, which IRI also asked to
be trebled. IRI also seeks punitive damages in an unspeciÑed amount.

In April 2003, the Court denied a motion for partial summary judgment by the defendants that sought to
dismiss certain of IRI's claims and granted in part a motion by IRI seeking reconsideration of certain
summary judgment rulings the Court had previously made in favor of the defendants. The motion granted by
the Court concerns IRI's claims of injuries from defendants' alleged conduct in certain foreign markets.

Discovery in the lawsuit is ongoing. The Court earlier set a trial date for September 2004. The Court
rescinded that date in January 2004 and there is currently no trial date set.

The Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement

In connection with the 1996 Distribution, Cognizant (now NMR), ACNielsen and Donnelley/D&B1
entered into an Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement (the ""JDA''), pursuant to which they agreed to:

‚ allocate potential liabilities that may relate to, arise out of or result from the IRI lawsuit (""IRI
Liabilities''); and

‚ conduct a joint defense of such action.

In particular, the JDA provides that:

‚ ACNielsen will assume exclusive liability for IRI Liabilities up to a maximum amount to be calculated
at such time as such liabilities become payable as a result of a Ñnal non-appealable judgment or any
settlement permitted under the JDA (the ""ACN Maximum Amount''); and

‚ Donnelley/D&B1 and Cognizant/NMR will share liability equally for any amounts in excess of the
ACN Maximum Amount.

As noted above, ACNielsen is responsible for the IRI Liabilities up to the ACN Maximum Amount. The
JDA provides that ACNielsen initially is to determine the amount that it will pay at the time of settlement or
a Ñnal judgment, if any, in IRI's favor (the ""ACN Payment''). The ACN Payment could be less than the
ACN Maximum Amount. The JDA also provides for Donnelley/D&B1and Cognizant/NMR to pay IRI 50%
of the diÅerence between the settlement or judgment amount and the ACN Payment. In exchange, the JDA
requires ACNielsen to issue a secured note (the ""ACN Note''), subject to certain limits and oÅsets, to each
of Donnelley/D&B1and Cognizant/NMR for the amount of their payment. The ACN Notes would become
payable upon the completion of the recapitalization plan described in the paragraph below.

The ACN Maximum Amount will be determined by an investment banking Ñrm as the maximum
amount that ACNielsen is able to pay after giving eÅect to:

‚ any recapitalization plan submitted by such investment bank that is designed to maximize the claims-
paying ability of ACNielsen without impairing the investment banking Ñrm's ability to deliver a
viability opinion and without requiring stockholder approval; and

‚ payment of interest on the ACN Notes and related fees and expenses.
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For these purposes, ""viability'' means the ability of ACNielsen, after giving eÅect to such recapitalization
plan, the payment of interest on the ACN Notes, the payment of related fees and expenses, and the payment
of the ACN Maximum Amount, to:

‚ pay its debts as they become due; and

‚ Ñnance the current and anticipated operating and capital requirements of its business, as reconstituted
by such recapitalization plan, for two years from the date any such recapitalization plan is expected to
be implemented.

The JDA also provides that if it becomes necessary to post any bond pending an appeal of an adverse
judgment, then Cognizant/NMR and Donnelley/D&B1 shall obtain the bond required for the appeal, and
each shall pay 50% of the costs of such bond, if any, which cost will be added to IRI Liabilities. Under the
terms of the 2000 Distribution, we would be responsible for 25% of the total costs of any bond.

VNU N.V.'s and D&B's Involvement in the Lawsuit

In 2001, ACNielsen was acquired by VNU N.V. VNU N.V. assumed ACNielsen's liabilities under the
JDA, and pursuant to the JDA VNU N.V. is to be included with AC Nielsen for purposes of determining the
ACN Maximum Amount.

Under the terms of the 1998 Distribution, D&B2 assumed all potential liabilities of Donnelley/D&B1
arising from the IRI action. Under the terms of the 2000 Distribution, D&B undertook to be jointly and
severally liable with Moody's/D&B2 for D&B2's obligations to Donnelley/D&B1 under the 1998 Distribution,
including for any liabilities arising under the JDA and arising from the IRI action itself. However, as between
us and Moody's/D&B2, we agreed that under the 2000 Distribution, each of us and Moody's/D&B2 will be
responsible for 50% of any payments required to be made by Moody's/D&B2 with respect to the IRI action
under the terms of the 1998 Distribution, including legal fees or expenses related to the IRI action.

D&B's Potential Exposure in the Lawsuit

As a result of the allocations of liability described above, we will be responsible for the payment of 25% of
the portion of any judgment or settlement in excess of the ACN Maximum Amount (as adjusted to include
VNU N.V.). Moody's/D&B2 will be responsible for the payment of an additional 25% (together constituting
Donnelley/D&B1's liability under the JDA for 50% of such amount) and Cognizant will be responsible for
payment of the remaining 50% of liability in excess of the ACN Maximum Amount. IMS and NMR are each
jointly and severally liable for all Cognizant liabilities under the JDA. IMS is responsible for 75% of any such
liability and NMR is responsible for 25% of any such liability up to $125 million. However, because liability
for violations of the antitrust laws is joint and several and because many of the rights and obligations relating
to the JDA are based on contractual relationships, the failure of a party to the JDA to fulÑll its obligations
could result in the other parties bearing a greater share of the IRI Liabilities. Joint and several liability means
that even where more than one defendant is determined to have been responsible for an alleged wrongdoing,
the plaintiÅ can collect all or part of the judgment from just one of the defendants. This is true regardless of
whatever contractual allocation of responsibility the defendants and any other indemnifying parties may have
made, including the allocations described above between VNU N.V., ACNielsen, IMS, Donnelly/D&B1,
NMR, Moody's/D&B2 and D&B.

We are unable to predict the outcome of the IRI action or the Ñnancial condition of ACNielsen and
VNU N.V. at the time of any such outcome (and hence we cannot estimate the ACN Maximum Amount and
the portion of any judgment to be paid by VNU N.V. and ACNielsen under the JDA). Therefore, we are
unable to predict at this time whether the resolution of this matter could materially aÅect our results of
operations, cash Öows or Ñnancial position. No amount in respect of this matter has been accrued in our
consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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Hoover's Ì Initial Public OÅering Litigation

On November 15, 2001, a putative shareholder class action lawsuit was Ñled against Hoover's, certain of
its then current and former oÇcers and directors (the ""Individual Defendants''), and one of the investment
banks that was an underwriter of Hoover's July 1999 initial public oÅering (""IPO''). The lawsuit was Ñled in
the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and purports to be a class action Ñled
on behalf of purchasers of the stock of Hoover's during the period from July 20, 1999, through December 6,
2000.

A Consolidated Amended Complaint, which is now the operative complaint, was Ñled on April 19, 2002.
The purported class action alleges violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the ""1933
Act'') and Sections 10(b), Rule 10b-5 and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against the
Company and Individual Defendants. PlaintiÅs allege that the underwriter defendant agreed to allocate stock
in Hoover's IPO to certain investors in exchange for excessive and undisclosed commissions and agreements
by those investors to make additional purchases of stock in the aftermarket at predetermined prices above the
IPO price. PlaintiÅs allege that the Prospectus for Hoover's IPO was false and misleading in violation of the
securities laws because it did not disclose these arrangements. The action seeks damages in an unspeciÑed
amount. The defense of the action is being coordinated with more than 300 other nearly identical actions Ñled
against other companies. On July 15, 2002, Hoover's moved to dismiss all claims against it and the Individual
Defendants. On October 9, 2002, the Court dismissed the Individual Defendants from the case without
prejudice based upon Stipulations of Dismissal Ñled by the plaintiÅs and the Individual Defendants. On
February 19, 2003, the Court denied the motion to dismiss the complaint against the Company. The Company
has approved a Memorandum of Understanding (""MOU'') and related agreements that set forth the terms of
a settlement among the Company, the plaintiÅ class and the vast majority of the other approximately 300
issuer defendants. The MOU and related agreements are subject to a number of contingencies, including the
negotiation of a settlement agreement and approval by the Court.

If the settlement is ultimately approved and implemented in its current form, Hoover's reasonably
foreseeable exposure in this matter, if any, would be limited to amounts that would be covered by existing
insurance. If the settlement is not approved in its current form, we cannot predict the Ñnal outcome of this
matter or whether such outcome or ultimate resolution of this matter could materially aÅect our results of
operations, cash Öows or Ñnancial position. No amount in respect of any potential judgment in this matter has
been accrued in our consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Pension Plan Litigation

In March 2003, a lawsuit seeking class action status was Ñled against us in federal court in Connecticut
on behalf of 46 speciÑed former employees. The complaint, as amended in July 2003 (the ""Amended
Complaint''), sets forth the following putative class:

‚ current D&B employees who are participants in The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Retirement
Account and were previously participants in its predecessor plan, The Dun & Bradstreet Master
Retirement Plan;

‚ current employees of Receivable Management Services Corporation (""RMSC'') who are participants
in The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Retirement Account and were previously participants in its
predecessor plan, The Dun & Bradstreet Master Retirement Plan;

‚ former employees of D&B or D&B's Receivable Management Services (""RMS'') operations who
received a deferred vested retirement beneÑt under either The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation
Retirement Account or The Dun & Bradstreet Master Retirement Plan; and

‚ former employees of D&B's RMS operations whose employment with D&B terminated after the sale
of the RMS operations but who are not employees of RMSC and who, during their employment with
D&B, were ""Eligible Employees'' for purposes of The Dun & Bradstreet Career Transition Plan.

The Amended Complaint estimates that the proposed class covers over 5,000 individuals.
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There are four counts in the Amended Complaint:  Count 1 claims that we violated ERISA by not paying
severance benefits to plaintiffs under our Career Transition Plan. Count 2 claims a violation of ERISA in that
our sale of the RMS business to RMSC and the resulting termination of our employees constituted a prohibited
discharge of the plaintiffs and/or discrimination against the plaintiffs for the ""intentional purpose of interfering
with their employment and/or attainment of employee benefit rights which they might otherwise have attained.''
Count 3 claims that the plaintiffs were materially harmed by our alleged violation of ERISA's requirements that
a summary plan description reasonably apprise participants and beneficiaries of their rights and obligations under
the plans and that, therefore, undisclosed plan provisions (in this case, the actuarial deduction beneficiaries incur
when they leave D&B before age 55 and elect to retire early) cannot be enforced against them. Count 4 claims
that the 63/5% interest rate (the rate is actually 63/4%) used to actuarially reduce early retirement benefits is
unreasonable and, therefore, results in a prohibited forfeiture of benefits under ERISA.

The plaintiÅs purport to seek payment of severance beneÑts; equitable relief in the form of either
reinstatement of employment with D&B or restoration of employee beneÑts (including stock options);
invalidation of the actuarial reductions applied to deferred vested early retirement beneÑts, including
invalidation of the plan rate of 63/5% (the actual rate is 63/4%) used to actuarially reduce former employees'
early retirement beneÑts; attorneys' fees and such other relief as the court may deem just.

We deny all allegations of wrongdoing and are aggressively defending the case. In September 2003, we
Ñled a motion to dismiss a majority of the claims in the Amended Complaint on the ground that plaintiÅs
cannot prevail with respect to those claims under any set of facts. The motion did not address the claim in
Count 2 that challenges the sale of the RMS business as an intentional interference with employee beneÑt
rights. Although we believe this claim is without merit, the nature of the allegation requires that it be
addressed by a summary judgment motion at a later stage of the litigation after discovery has taken place. We
are unable to predict at this time the Ñnal outcome of this matter or whether the resolution of this matter
could materially aÅect our results of operations, cash Öows or Ñnancial position. No amount in respect of this
matter has been accrued in our consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable.

Executive OÇcers of the Registrant

Our oÇcers are elected by our Board of Directors to hold oÇce until their respective successors are
chosen and qualiÑed. We have provided information below about our executive oÇcers and their ages as of
March 5, 2004.

Name Title Age

Allan Z. Loren ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive OÇcer 65

Steven W. Alesio ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ President and Chief Operating OÇcer 49

Cynthia B. HamburgerÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Senior Vice President Ì Customer Operations 44

David J. LewinterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Senior Vice President Ì General Counsel and 42
Corporate Secretary

Sara MathewÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Senior Vice President Ì Chief Financial OÇcer 48

Amy B. McIntosh ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Senior Vice President Ì U.S. Risk Management 45
Solutions

Gregory E. Nordal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Senior Vice President Ì Europe 48

Michael Pepe ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Senior Vice President Ì U.S. Sales 49

Vicki P. Raeburn ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Senior Vice President Ì Chief Quality OÇcer and 57
DUNSRightTM

Joanne B. Carson ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Vice President Ì Communications 37
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Name Title Age

David T. Clarke ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Vice President Ì U.S. Sales & Marketing 44
Solutions

Patricia A. CliÅordÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Vice President Ì Human Resources and Winning 39
Culture

Charles E. Gottdiener ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Vice President Ì Strategy and Business 39
Development

Lawrence M. Kutscher ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Vice President Ì E-Business Solutions and 39
U.S. Supply Management Solutions

Gary S. Michel ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Vice President Ì Reengineering 40

Mary Jane Raymond ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Vice President Ì Corporate Controller 43

Mr. Loren has served as chairman and chief executive oÇcer of D&B since October 2000, and as a
director since May 2000. He also served as president of D&B from October 2000 to April 2002. Before our
separation from Moody's, Mr. Loren served as chairman and chief executive oÇcer of the Dun & Bradstreet
operating company from May 2000 to September 2000. Before joining D&B, Mr. Loren served as executive
vice president and chief information oÇcer of the American Express Company from May 1994 to May 2000
and was also a member of that company's planning and policy committee. Before that, he served as president
and chief executive oÇcer of Galileo International from January 1991 to May 1994 and worked at Apple
Computer from September 1987 to December 1990, starting as chief information oÇcer and later serving as
president of Apple Computer U.S.A.

Mr. Alesio was named president and chief operating oÇcer of D&B in May 2002, at which time he was
also elected to D&B's board of directors. Prior to that, he served as senior vice president Ì global marketing,
strategy implementation, e-business solutions and APLA from July 2001 to April 2002, with additional
leadership responsibility for data and operations from February 2001 to April 2002. Mr. Alesio also previously
served as D&B's senior vice president Ì marketing, technology, communications and strategy implementation
from January 2001 to June 2001. Before joining D&B, Mr. Alesio was with the American Express Company
for 19 years, most recently serving as president and general manager of the business services group and as a
member of the company's planning and policy committee, a position he held from January 1996 to October
2000.

Ms. Hamburger has served as senior vice president Ì customer operations of D&B since March 2004.
She previously served as senior vice president Ì chief technology oÇcer from March 2001 to February 2004,
and simultaneously held additional leadership responsibility for U.S. supply management solutions from July
2003 to February 2004. Before joining D&B, Ms. Hamburger was a partner at Computer Sciences Corporation
from August 1998 to February 2001. From June 1996 to July 1998 she served as vice president Ì technology
for Fidelity Investments. She was also a founding shareholder and director of Seer Technologies from March
1990 to May 1996.

Mr. Lewinter has served as senior vice president, general counsel and corporate secretary of D&B since
May 2002. He previously served as vice president and leader Ì European legal aÅairs from September 2001
to April 2002. Prior to that, Mr. Lewinter served as a vice president of D&B's domestic legal department from
April 2000 to August 2001 and as corporate secretary from November 1999 to August 2001. Prior to joining
D&B, Mr. Lewinter served as assistant general counsel and assistant corporate secretary for Altria Group, Inc.
from November 1995 to October 1999.

Ms. Mathew has served as senior vice president and chief Ñnancial oÇcer of D&B since August 2001.
Before joining D&B, she served in various positions at Procter & Gamble, including vice president of Ñnance
for the ASEAN region from August 2000 to July 2001, comptroller and chief Ñnancial oÇcer of the global
baby care business unit from July 1998 to July 2000, comptroller for the paper products division from June
1997 to June 1998, and assistant treasurer and director of investor relations from March 1995 to May 1997.

Ms. McIntosh has served as senior vice president Ì U.S. risk management solutions of D&B since
July 29, 2003. She previously served as senior vice president Ì global marketing and product solutions from
June 2002 to July 2003. Before joining D&B, she served as chief executive oÇcer of Zagat Survey, LLC, from
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October 2000 to January 2002. Previously, Ms. McIntosh served in various positions with Verizon Communi-
cations and its predecessor companies, Bell Atlantic and NYNEX, including head of DSL and Internet
service provider businesses from November 1998 to September 2000, and vice president Ì marketing and
product management from September 1995 to November 1998.

Mr. Nordal has served as senior vice president Ì Europe for D&B since July 2003. He previously served
as interim general manager Ì Europe and as market leader for the United Kingdom from January 2003 to
June 2003. Previously, Mr. Nordal served as president and chief operating oÇcer for Canada from July 1997
until December 2002.

Mr. Pepe has served as senior vice president Ì U.S. sales since March 2004. Before joining D&B, he
held numerous leadership positions with Time Warner Inc., the most recent of which was the president and
chief executive oÇcer of Time Inc. International from March 2000 to April 2003. Prior to this position, he was
president and chief operating oÇcer of Time Warner Digital Media from December 1999 to February 2000
and then president of Business Information Group, Time Inc. from September 1993 to December 1999.

Dr. Raeburn has served as senior vice president Ì Chief Quality OÇcer and DUNSRightTM of D&B
since March 2004. She previously served as senior vice president Ì data and operations from May 2002 to
February 2004. Before joining D&B, she was a partner at AHR, LLC, from November 2001 to April 2002.
Previously, Dr. Raeburn was president of Mergent, Inc., from July 1998 to August 2001, and prior to that she
served as an executive director at Primark, Inc., from July 1996 to June 1998.

Ms. Carson has served as vice president Ì communications of D&B since March 2001. She previously
served as executive assistant to the chairman and chief executive oÇcer from July 2000 to March 2001. Prior
to that, Ms. Carson served as assistant vice president Ì data and operations from May 1998 to June 2000 and
held general management positions for data and operations from June 1993 to April 1998.

Mr. Clarke has served as vice president Ì U.S. sales & marketing solutions of D&B since August 2003.
He previously served as vice president of data & operations (D&O) Ì North America from November 2002
to July 2003. Prior to that, Mr. Clarke served as vice president of technology Ì Global Product Development
from May 2002 to October 2002, vice president of technology Ì North America from October 2000 to April
2002, vice president of technology Ì strategy, architecture and planning from November 1999 to September
2000, and vice president of technology Ì information services from February 1999 to October 1999.

Ms. CliÅord has served as vice president Ì human resources and winning culture of D&B since June
2002. She previously served as executive assistant to the chairman and chief executive oÇcer and winning
culture champion from April 2001 to May 2002, and as assistant corporate secretary from October 1996 to
March 2001.

Mr. Gottdiener has served as vice president Ì strategy and business development of D&B since
September 2002. Prior to joining D&B, Mr. Gottdiener was a vice president with Cap Gemini Ernst & Young
from January 2001 to August 2002. From October 1999 until January 2001, he was employed with Stockback
LLC, Ñrst as executive vice president of business development and marketing and then as chief operating
oÇcer and chief Ñnancial oÇcer. Prior to that, Mr. Gottdiener was a partner Ì strategic advisory services at
Ernst & Young LLP from June 1996 to October 1999.

Mr. Kutscher has served as vice president Ì E-Business solutions of D&B since July 2001 and was given
additional leadership responsibility for U.S. supply management solutions in March 2004. Before joining
D&B, Mr. Kutscher served as managing director and head of marketing and sales Ì wealth management at
Goldman Sachs & Company from January 2000 to July 2001. Previously, Mr. Kutscher spent most of his
career with the American Express Company, serving as senior vice president of interactive enterprise
development from July 1999 to January 2000, vice president of interactive enterprise development from
December 1997 to July 1999, and vice president of business development from August 1995 to December
1997.

Mr. Michel has served as vice president Ì reengineering of D&B since March 2004. He previously
served as chief Ñnancial oÇcer and vice president Ì strategy of Europe from July 2002 to February
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2004. Prior to that, Mr. Michel served as vice president Ì corporate strategy from November 2000 to June
2002. Mr. Michel was chief Ñnancial oÇcer of North America from January 2000 to October 2000 and vice
president Ì Ñnance of global technology from January 1999 to December 1999.

Ms. Raymond has served as vice president Ì corporate controller of D&B since April 2002. Before
joining D&B, Ms. Raymond held positions with Lucent Technologies, including merger integration vice
president from July 1998 to March 2002, and international audit operations vice president from June 1997 to
July 1998. Previously, she was employed at Cummins Engine Company, Inc., from July 1988 to June 1997,
most recently as executive director Ì corporate strategy from November 1996 to June 1997.

PART II

Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trades under the symbol DNB. We
had 4,273 shareholders of record at December 31, 2003.

The following table summarizes the high and low sales prices for our common stock, as reported in the
periods shown.

2003 2002

High Low High Low

First Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $38.98 $32.31 $43.40 $31.90
Second QuarterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $41.80 $34.00 $41.59 $31.65
Third Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $43.40 $39.85 $35.99 $28.26
Fourth Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $50.81 $40.70 $37.00 $31.25

We did not pay any dividends on our common stock during 2002 or 2003 and after considering all of the
implications of the new U.S. tax laws regarding deductibility of tax dividends, we have decided to continue our
policy not to pay dividends to shareholders.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Five-Year Selected Financial Data

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

(Amounts in millions, except per share data)

Results of Operations:

Operating RevenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,386.4 $1,275.6 $1,304.6 $1,415.1 $1,406.7

Costs and Expenses(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,094.6 1,019.7 1,081.0 1,244.8 1,246.8

Operating Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 291.8 255.9 223.6 170.3 159.9

Non-Operating Income (Expense) Ì Net(2) (11.4) (16.7) 30.0 (21.1) (15.5)

Income from Continuing Operations before
Provision for Income Taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 280.4 239.2 253.6 149.2 144.4

Provision for Income Taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 106.2 94.1 100.2 77.8 63.8

Equity in Net Income (Losses) of AÇliates ÏÏ 0.3 (1.7) (3.5) Ì Ì

Income from:

Continuing OperationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 174.5 143.4 149.9 71.4 80.6

Discontinued Operations, Net of Income
Taxes(3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 133.0 174.7

Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 174.5 $ 143.4 $ 149.9 $ 204.4 $ 255.3

Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:

Continuing OperationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.37 $ 1.93 $ 1.89 $ .88 $ .99

Discontinued Operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 1.64 2.16

Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock ÏÏÏÏ $ 2.37 $ 1.93 $ 1.89 $ 2.52 $ 3.15

Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:

Continuing OperationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.30 $ 1.87 $ 1.84 $ .87 $ .98

Discontinued Operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 1.62 2.13

Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock ÏÏ $ 2.30 $ 1.87 $ 1.84 $ 2.49 $ 3.11

Other Data:

Dividends Paid Per Share(4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ Ì $ .555 $ .74

Dividends Declared Per Share(4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ Ì $ .555 $ .74

Weighted Average Number of Shares
Outstanding Ì Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 73.5 74.5 79.4 81.0 81.1

Weighted Average Number of Shares
Outstanding Ì Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 75.8 76.9 81.5 82.0 82.1

Balance Sheet:

Total Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,624.7 $1,527.7 $1,462.6 $1,453.2 $1,598.1

Minority Interest Financing ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ Ì $ 300.0 $ 300.0

Long Term Debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 299.9 $ 299.9 $ 299.6 $ Ì $ Ì

Equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 48.4 $ (18.8) $ (19.0) $ (46.5) $ (417.1)

(1) 2003 included charges of $17.4 million for restructuring related to the fourth phase of our Financial
Flexibility program and $13.8 million related to the loss on the sale of our High Wycombe, England
facility. 2002 included a charge of $30.9 million for restructuring related to the third phase of our
Financial Flexibility program. 2001 included charges of $28.8 million (net) for restructuring related to
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the second phase of our Financial Flexibility program, $6.2 million resulting from the impairment of
capitalized software and the write-oÅ of certain assets made obsolete or redundant during the year,
$1.0 million of asset write-oÅs for the World Trade Center attack and $6.5 million resulting from an
impairment of our Murray Hill facility, which we sold in 2002. Partially oÅsetting these charges in 2001
was a $7.0 million reversal of excess accrued reorganization costs incurred in connection with the
separation of D&B and Moody's in 2000 (the ""2000 Distribution''). 2000 included charges of
$41.5 million for restructuring in connection with the Ñrst phase of our Financial Flexibility program and
$29.5 million for reorganization costs associated with the 2000 Distribution. 1999 included a charge of
$41.2 million related to restructuring.

(2) 2003 included gains of $7.0 million on the settlement of an insurance claim to recover losses related to the
events of September 11, 2001 and $1.8 million on the sale of equity interests in our Singapore investment.
Partially oÅsetting these gains was a $4.3 million loss on the sale of our Israeli business. 2002 included
gains of $2.6 million on the sale of a portion of our equity interest in our Singapore operation and
$2.4 million on the sale of our Korean operation, partially oÅset by a charge of $2.9 million for the write-
oÅ of our remaining investment in Avantrust LLC. 2001 included gains of $36.4 million for the sale of our
Receivable Management Services business, $17.7 million for the sale of a majority stake in our
Australia/New Zealand operations and $2.2 million for the sale of a major portion of our minority
investment in our South African operation. These gains were partially oÅset by a charge of $6.1 million
for the write-oÅ of certain investments. 2000 and 1999 included gains related to the settlement of
litigation matters of $10.1 million and $11.9 million, respectively.

(3) Income taxes on Discontinued Operations were $86.2 million and $114.8 million in 2000 and 1999,
respectively.

(4) 2000 included dividends paid and declared through the Ñrst three quarters of the year.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

How We Manage Our Business

Since January 1, 2003 we report our business on a geographical basis with two operating segments:

‚ North America (which consists of operations in the United States and Canada), contributed 69%,
72%, and 70% of our 2003, 2002, and 2001 total revenue, respectively; and

‚ International (which comprises Europe, Africa, Middle East, Asia PaciÑc, and Latin America),
represented 31%, 28%, and 30% of our 2003, 2002, and 2001 total revenue, respectively.

Prior to that, we reported our business globally through three segments:

‚ U.S. and Canada, which we referred to as ""North America'';

‚ Europe, Africa and Middle East, which we referred to as ""Europe''; and

‚ Asia PaciÑc and Latin America, which we referred to as ""APLA.''

In accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States (""GAAP''),
throughout this report we have reclassiÑed prior period presentations to conform to our current segment
reporting.

The following core product lines are sold in our segments:

‚ Risk Management Solutions Ì our largest solution set, which contributed 68%, 69%, and 71% of our
total revenue in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively;

‚ Sales & Marketing Solutions Ì our next largest solution set, which contributed 27%, 28%, and 27% of
total revenue in 2003, 2002, and 2001 respectively;

‚ Supply Management Solutions Ì our next largest solution set, which contributed 3%, 3%, and 2% of
total revenue in 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively; and

‚ E-Business Solutions Ì our smallest solution set, which contributed 2% of total revenue in 2003.

These core product lines, or customer solution sets, are discussed in greater detail in ""Item 1. Business.''

Within our Risk Management Solutions and our Sales & Marketing Solutions, we monitor the
performance of our older, more ""traditional'' products and our newer ""value-added products.''

Our traditional Risk Management Solutions generally consist of reports derived from our database which
our customers use primarily to make decisions about new credit applications. An example is our Business
Information Report, or BIR. Our traditional Risk Management Solutions constituted 83%, 84%, and 84% of
our Risk Management Solutions revenue and 56%, 58%, and 60% of our total revenue in 2003, 2002, and 2001,
respectively. Our value-added Risk Management Solutions generally support automated decision-making and
portfolio management through the use of scoring and integrated software solutions. Our value-added Risk
Management Solutions constituted 17%, 16%, and 16% of our Risk Management Solutions revenue and 12%,
11%, and 11% of our total revenue in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Our traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions generally consist of marketing lists, labels and customized
data Ñles used by our customers in their direct mail and direct marketing activities, and constituted 53%, 60%,
and 62% of our Sales & Marketing Solutions revenue and 14%, 17%, and 17% of our total revenue in 2003,
2002, and 2001, respectively. Our value-added Sales & Marketing Solutions generally include decision-
making and customer information management solutions, and constituted 47%, 40%, and 38% of our Sales &
Marketing Solutions revenue and 13%, 11%, and 10% of our total revenue in 2003, 2002, and 2001,
respectively.

For internal management purposes, we use total revenue excluding the revenue of divested businesses,
which we refer to as ""core revenue,'' to manage and evaluate the performance of our business segments,
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because it provides an indication of the underlying direction of changes in revenue in a single performance
measure without reported revenue of divested businesses which will not be included in future revenue. Core
revenue includes the revenue from acquired businesses from the date of acquisition. Divested businesses
include our Receivable Management Services business, sold in the second quarter of 2001, our Australia/New
Zealand operation, sold in the third quarter of 2001, smaller operations in several other countries in our
International segment sold during 2001, our Korean operations in the fourth quarter of 2002, and our Israeli
operation sold in the third quarter of 2003. These divested, non-core businesses have been classiÑed as
""Receivable Management Services and Other Divested Businesses'' in Note 14 of our consolidated Ñnancial
statements.

We also isolate the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates on our revenue growth because, while we
take steps to manage our exposure to foreign currency, we believe it is useful to investors to be able to compare
revenue from one period to another both with and without the effects of currency translation. As a result, we
monitor our core revenue growth both including and excluding the effects of foreign exchange.

We evaluate the performance of our business segments based on segment revenue growth before the
eÅects of foreign exchange, and segment operating income growth before certain types of gains and charges.
SpeciÑcally, for management reporting purposes, we evaluate business segment performance before non-core
gains and charges such as restructuring charges because they are not a component of our ongoing income or
expenses and may have a disproportional positive or negative impact on the results of our on going underlying
business operations. Additionally, transition costs, (period costs such as consulting fees, costs of temporary
employees, relocation costs and stay bonuses incurred to implement the Financial Flexibility component of our
strategy), are reported as Corporate and Other expenses and are not allocated to our business segments. (See
Note 14 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements for Ñnancial information regarding our segments.)

When we evaluate the performance of our business as a whole, we focus on diluted earnings per share
excluding non-core gains and charges because such gains and charges are not a component of our ongoing
income or expenses and may have a disproportional positive or negative impact on the results of our underlying
business operations. You should not conclude from our deÑnition of non-core gains and charges that the items
that result in non-core gains and charges will not occur in the future.

These adjustments to our GAAP results are made to provide both management and investors a more
complete understanding of the underlying operational results and trends and our marketplace performance.
These adjustments to our GAAP results are among the primary indicators management uses as a basis for our
planning and forecasting of future periods and to the evaluate performance of the business and for compensation
purposes. However, these measures are not prepared in accordance with GAAP, and should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for total revenue, operating income, or diluted earnings per share prepared in
accordance with GAAP. In addition, you should note that because not all companies calculate these financial
measures similarly or at all, the presentation of these measures is not likely to be comparable to measures of
other companies.

See ""Results of Operations,'' below, for a discussion of our results reported on a GAAP basis.

Our Flexible Business Model and Restructuring

As part of our Blueprint for Growth strategy, we continually seek opportunities to reallocate our spending
to activities that drive revenue growth while, at the same time, improving our proÑtability during our
transformation. This is a structured process we call ""creating Financial Flexibility.'' Since October 2000, we
have implemented four phases of Financial Flexibility initiatives. Our Financial Flexibility process is discussed
in more detail under ""Item 1. Business Ì Our Aspiration and Our Strategy Ì Create Financial Flexibility.''

With each phase of initiatives, we have incurred a restructuring charge, which generally consists of
employee severance and termination costs, asset write-oÅs, and/or costs to terminate lease obligations. These
charges are incurred as a result of eliminating, consolidating, standardizing, automating and/or outsourcing
operations of our business. We have also incurred transition costs such as consulting fees, costs of temporary
workers, relocation costs and stay bonuses to implement our Financial Flexibility actions.
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We believe the success of our flexible business model is illustrated by a comparison of our financial results
from 2000 (the year the Blueprint for Growth strategy was launched) through 2003. During this period our total
revenue declined by $28.7 million, or 2%, primarily due to the sale of non-core businesses, partially offset by core
revenue growth and impacts from our acquisitions described in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements.
Over the four-year period, we incurred restructuring charges totaling $118.6 million and transition costs totaling
$84.5 million. Even after incurring these charges, our total operating costs were reduced over the period by
$150.2 million, or 12%, and our operating income increased $121.5 million, or 71%. See ""Results of Operations,''
below, for a more complete discussion of our financial results, including these restructuring charges.

Our Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In preparing our consolidated Ñnancial statements and accounting for the underlying transactions and
balances reÖected therein, we have applied the signiÑcant accounting policies described in Notes 1 and 2 to
our consolidated Ñnancial statements. Of those policies, we consider the policies described below to be critical
because they are both most important to the portrayal of our Ñnancial condition and results, and they require
management's, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the
eÅect of matters that are inherently uncertain. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various
other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may diÅer from these
estimates under diÅerent assumptions or conditions.

If actual results ultimately diÅer from previous estimates, the revisions are included in our consolidated
Ñnancial statements for the period in which the actual results become known.

We have discussed the selection and application of our critical accounting policies and estimates with the
audit committee of our board of directors, and the audit committee has reviewed the disclosure regarding
critical accounting policies and estimates as well as the other sections in this ""Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.''

Pension and Postretirement BeneÑt Obligations

We oÅer substantially all of our U.S.-based employees coverage in a deÑned beneÑt plan called The
Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Retirement Account (the ""U.S. QualiÑed Plan''). Pension costs are
determined actuarially and funded in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code. We also maintain
supplemental and excess plans in the United States (the ""U.S. Non-QualiÑed Plans'') to provide retirement
beneÑts in excess of levels allowed by the Internal Revenue Code. These plans are unfunded, pay-as-you-go
plans. Our employees in certain of our international operations are also provided retirement beneÑts through
deÑned beneÑt plans. The U.S. QualiÑed Plan and the U.S. Non-QualiÑed Plans account for approximately
75% and 15% of our pension obligation, respectively, at December 31, 2003.

In addition to providing pension beneÑts, we provide various health care and life insurance beneÑts for
retirees. U.S.-based employees who retire after age 45 with 10 years of vesting service are eligible to receive
beneÑts. Postretirement beneÑt costs and obligations are also determined actuarially.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (""SFAS'') No. 87, ""Employers'
Accounting for Pensions,'' our pension beneÑt obligations and related eÅects on operations are calculated
using actuarial models. Other postretirement beneÑts (i.e., health care) are accounted for in accordance with
SFAS No. 106, ""Employers' Accounting for Postretirement BeneÑts Other Than Pensions,'' and are also
dependent on the application of our assumptions by our outside actuaries. The key assumptions we have made
for our U.S. plans, which we evaluate annually, include:

‚ Expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets Ì which is based on current and expected
asset allocations as well as expected returns on asset categories of plan investments.

‚ Discount rate Ì which is used to measure the present value of pension plan obligations and
postretirement health care obligations. It is based on investment yields available at year-end on Aa-
rated corporate long-term bonds.

30



‚ Rates of compensation increase and cash balance accumulation/conversion rates Ì which are based
on an evaluation of internal plans and external market indicators.

‚ Health care cost trends Ì which are based on historical cost data, the near-term outlook and an
assessment of likely long-term trends.

While we believe that the assumptions used are appropriate, changes in these assumptions would aÅect
our pension and other postretirement beneÑt costs. The factor with the most immediate impact on our
Ñnancial statements is the change in the expected long-term rate of return on assets for the U.S. QualiÑed
Plan. At the beginning of 2003, we lowered this assumption to 8.75% from the 9.75% assumption we used to
calculate pension income in 2002 and 2001. The 8.75% assumption represents our best estimate of the
expected long-term future investment performance of the U.S. QualiÑed Plan, after considering expectations
for future capital market returns and the plan's asset allocation. As of December 31, 2003, the plan was 68%
invested in publicly traded equity securities, 26% invested in debt securities and 6% invested in real estate
investments. This one-percentage-point decrease in the long-term rate of return has reduced our 2003 annual
operating income by $13.6 million by reducing our net periodic pension income. Generally, every one-quarter-
percentage-point increase or decrease in the long-term rate of return of our U.S. plans will increase or
decrease the net periodic pension income by approximately $3.4 million.

Changes in the discount rate, rate of compensation increase and cash balance accumulation/conversion
rates also have an eÅect on our annual operating income. These rates are adjusted yearly, based on the factors
noted above. For example, as of December 31, 2003, we lowered the discount rate to 6.0% from 6.5% used at
December 31, 2002. We expect that this one-half-percentage-point decrease in the discount rate applied with
respect to the U.S. QualiÑed and Non-QualiÑed Plans will reduce our 2004 annual operating income by
approximately $0.3 million by reducing our net periodic pension income.

Differences between the assumptions stated above and actual experience could affect our pension and other
postretirement benefit costs. When actual plan experience differs from the assumptions used, actuarial gains or
losses arise in accordance with SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No. 106. These gains and losses are aggregated and
amortized over the average future service periods of employees to the extent that such gains or losses exceed a
""corridor'' as defined in SFAS No. 87. The purpose of the corridor is to average the volatility caused by the
difference between actual experience and the pension-related assumptions noted above, on a plan-by-plan basis.
For all of our pension plans, total unrecognized actuarial losses as of December 31, 2003 was $481.1 million, of
which $307.6 million was attributable to the U.S. Qualified Plan, $98.6 million was attributable to the U.S.
Non-Qualified Plans, and the remainder was attributable to the non-U.S. pension plans. We do not expect to
recognize in our 2004 net periodic pension cost any of the unrecognized loss attributable to the U.S. Qualified
Plan, as this loss is unlikely to exceed the corridor threshold under SFAS No. 87. For the U.S. Non-Qualified
Plans and non-U.S. plans, we expect to recognize losses in our 2004 net periodic pension cost of approximately
$5 million and $3 million, respectively, approximately the same as 2003.

DiÅerences between the expected long-term rate of return assumption and actual experience could aÅect
our net periodic pension cost. We recorded net periodic income for our pension plans of $18.2 million,
$34.0 million and $35.7 million for the years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. This income was driven
principally by the expected return on plan assets, which was $128.1 million, $142.8 million and $136.4 million
in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The expected return on plan assets was determined by multiplying the
expected long-term rate of return assumption by the market-related value of plan assets. The market-related
value of plan assets recognizes asset gains and losses over Ñve years to reduce the eÅects of short-term market
Öuctuations on net periodic cost. In 2003 and 2002, we incurred investment gains of $235.6 million and losses
of $146.0 million, respectively, in our pension plans, of which $228.6 million of gains and $132.1 million of
losses, respectively, were attributable to the U.S. QualiÑed Plan. At January 1, 2004, the market-related value
of our U.S. QualiÑed Plan was $1,379.9 million, which excludes $191.6 million of unrecognized investment
losses from prior periods that will reduce the market-related value in future years. If these unrecognized losses
are not recovered in future years, our market-related value of assets will decrease, causing our expected return
on plan assets and our net periodic pension income to fall.
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Changes in the funded status of our pension plans could result in a significant future charge to our equity.
Under the requirements of SFAS No. 87, if the plan asset value falls below the related accumulated benefit
obligation, we would be required to record a minimum pension liability for the deficient amount and reverse our
prepaid pension cost. This charge would be recorded against a component of shareholders' equity net of
applicable deferred taxes. We recognized a $5.9 million, a $53.6 million and a $1.2 million charge, net of
applicable tax, to equity for minimum pension liabilities related to our U.S. Non-Qualified Plan and our non-
U.S. plans for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The U.S. Qualified Plan, our principal plan, is currently over-
funded. The excess of the fair value of plan assets over the related accumulated benefit obligation was
$131.0 million at December 31, 2003, compared with $41.5 million at December 31, 2002. The prepaid pension
cost associated with this plan was $412.0 million and $365.1 million at December 31, 2003 and December 31,
2002, respectively.

A change in the discount rate assumption could result in a change in the funded status of our pension
plans by changing the amount of the accumulated beneÑt obligation. For the U.S. QualiÑed Plan, every one-
quarter-percentage-point increase or decrease in the discount rate reduces or increases our accumulated
beneÑt obligation by approximately $29.6 million. For the Non-QualiÑed Plans, every one-quarter-percentage-
point increase or decrease in the discount rate reduces or increases our accumulated beneÑt obligation by
approximately $5.3 million.

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 was
signed into law. The Act expands Medicare, primarily by adding a prescription drug beneÑt for medicare-
eligibles starting in 2006. The Act provides employers currently providing postretirement prescription drug
beneÑts with a range of options for coordinating with the new government-sponsored program potentially to
reduce this beneÑt, including providing for a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care beneÑt plans
that provide a beneÑt that is at least actuarially equivalent to the beneÑt established by the law.

In connection with the Act, the FASB has issued a position statement permitting a company that
provides prescription drug beneÑts to make a one-time election to defer accounting for the eÅects of this Act.
Pursuant to this guidance, we have chosen to defer recognition of the potential eÅects of the Act in our 2003
Ñnancial statements. This decision was made largely due to the number of open questions about select
provisions of the Act and a lack of authoritative accounting guidance concerning certain technical matters.
Therefore, the postretirement beneÑt obligations and costs reported in our Ñnancial statement do not yet
reÖect any potential impact of the Act.

D&B will review its retiree health care strategy in light of the Act. We may need to amend our retiree
health program in order to obtain the Ñnancial beneÑts allowed under the new Medicare prescription drug
program.

For information on pension and postretirement beneÑt plan contribution requirements, please see ""Future
Liquidity Ì Sources and Uses of Funds Ì Pension Plan and Postretirement BeneÑt Plan Contribution
Requirements'' on page 51.

Also see Note 10 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements for more information regarding costs of, and
assumptions for, our pension and postretirement beneÑt obligations and costs.

Contingencies and Litigation

We establish reserves in connection with tax and legal proceedings, claims and litigation when it is
probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable. Contingent liabilities are
often resolved over long periods of time. Estimating probable losses requires analyses of multiple forecasts that
often depend on judgments concerning potential actions by third parties and regulators. This is an inherently
subjective and complex process, and actual results may diÅer from our estimates by material amounts. For
more information, see Note 13 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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Revenue Recognition

Our Risk Management Solutions products are generally sold under monthly or annual contracts that enable a
customer to purchase D&B information products during the period of contract at prices per an agreed price list, up
to the contracted dollar limit. Revenue on these contracts is recognized as products are delivered to the customer
based on the per-product price. Any additional products purchased over this limit may be subject to pricing
variations and are billed to the customer as products are delivered. If customers do not use the full value of their
contract and forfeit the unused portion, we recognize the forfeited amount as revenue at contract expiration.

We have Ñxed price contracts for larger customers that allows those customers unlimited use, subject to
certain conditions, of the Risk Management Solutions products. In these instances, we recognize revenue
ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally one year.

Revenue related to services provided over the contract term (e.g., monitoring services) is recognized
ratably over the contract period, typically one year.

For Sales & Marketing Solutions and Supply Management Solutions products, we generally recognize
revenue upon delivery of the information Ñle to the customer. For arrangements that include periodic updates
to that information Ñle over the contract term, the portion of the revenue related to updates expected to be
delivered is deferred and recognized as the updates are delivered, usually on a quarterly or monthly basis. For
subscription products that provide continuous access to D&B's generic marketing information and business
reference databases, as well as any access fees or hosting fees related to enabling customers access to D&B
information, revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally one year.

We have certain product offerings that are sold as multi-element arrangements. The multiple elements may
include information files, file updates for certain products, software, and/or services. Revenue for each element
is recognized when that element is delivered to the customer based upon the fair value for each element. For
offerings that include software that is considered to be more than incidental, we recognize revenue when a non-
cancelable license agreement has been signed and the product has been shipped. Maintenance revenues, which
consist of fees for ongoing support and software updates, are recognized ratably over the term of the contract,
typically one year, when the maintenance for the software is considered significant. When maintenance is
insignificant, we recognize the revenue when the agreement is signed and product is shipped.

Revenues from consulting and training services are recognized as the services are performed.

Amounts billed in advance are recorded as deferred revenue on the balance sheet.

Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our Ñnancial condition and results of operations are based upon
our consolidated Ñnancial statements, and should be read in conjunction with those Ñnancial statements and
footnotes, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Consolidated Revenue

The following table presents our revenue by segment for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001:

2003 2002 2001

(Amounts in millions)

Revenue:

North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 960.1 $ 912.1 $ 870.4

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 423.0 357.4 348.3

Core RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,383.1 1,269.5 1,218.7

Receivable Management Services and Other Divested
Businesses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.3 6.1 85.9

Total Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,386.4 $1,275.6 $1,304.6
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The following table presents our revenue by product line for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001:

2003 2002 2001

(Amounts in millions)

Revenue:

Risk Management SolutionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 942.6 $ 877.5 $ 860.9

Sales & Marketing Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 366.3 354.5 328.1

Supply Management SolutionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45.2 37.5 29.7

E-Business Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29.0 Ì Ì

Core RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,383.1 1,269.5 1,218.7

Receivable Management Services and Other Divested
Businesses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.3 6.1 85.9

Total Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,386.4 $1,275.6 $1,304.6

2003 vs. 2002

Total revenue increased $110.8 million, or 9%, in 2003 compared with 2002. Core revenue increased
$113.6 million, or 9% (4% increase before the eÅect of foreign exchange), driven by revenue growth in North
America of $48.0 million, or 5%, and in our International segment of $65.6 million, or 18%.

The impact of the acquisitions of Data House in the third quarter of 2002, Hoover's, Inc. in the Ñrst
quarter of 2003, and the Italian real estate data companies in the second quarter of 2003 contributed four
percentage points to our core revenue growth in 2003.

On a product line basis, out core revenue results reÖect:

‚ A $65.1 million, or 7%, growth in Risk Management Solutions (2% increase before the eÅect of foreign
exchange), including two percentage points of growth due to the acquisitions of Data House and the
Italian real estate data companies. During the year, within our Risk Management Solutions we have
added product development resources, increased our sales force, and improved our post-sale delivery
service. The growth in the product-line was driven by both our North American and International
segments. Traditional Risk Management Solutions was Öat before the eÅects of foreign exchange
compared with 2002. We continue our intentional migration of customers from the BIR and related
products to our value-added solutions to assist them in re-engineering their processes. The impact of
this migration was oÅset by growth in other traditional products such as e-Portfolio, Self Analysis,
Comprehensive Report, and Monitoring. Value-added Risk Management Solutions grew 10% before
the eÅects of foreign exchange. In our value-added Risk Management Solutions, our portfolio
management solution products continued to perform well, which reÖects the beneÑts of our recent
investment spending in Enterprise Risk Assessment Manager, that helps customers manage their credit
portfolios. Additionally, the increase was driven by our customers' preference to continue to automate
their decision-making processes through products such as Global Decision MakerTM, and integrate
existing systems using our Toolkit solutions.

‚ An $11.8 million, or 3%, growth in Sales & Marketing Solutions (1% before the effect of foreign
exchange), driven by the growth in our North American segment. Traditional Sales & Marketing
Solutions declined 11% before the effects of foreign exchange, compared with 2002. The decline is
indicative of the current economic environment. This is the area of our business that is the most sensitive
to changes in the economy, as sales and marketing expenses are often viewed as discretionary spending by
our customers. We also continue to see competitive pricing pressures in our low-end list and label
business. Value-added Sales & Marketing Solutions grew 18% before the effects of foreign exchange,
primarily driven by our customer information management (""CIM'') products and our high-end
prospecting solutions, including Market SpectrumTM. Specifically, within the United States, we have
added 75% additional product specialists, significantly increasing sales capacity relating to our high-end,
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CIM products. We also added sales leadership in several of our European markets within our
International Segment, each with a dedicated Sales and Marketing team.

‚ A $7.7 million, or 21%, growth in Supply Management Solutions (16% before the effect of foreign
exchange). This growth came from both our North American and International segments, primarily
driven by customers' focus on improving their operating results by optimizing their procurement process.

‚ $29.0 million of revenue from E-Business Solutions, representing the results of Hoover's, Inc. During
2003, we saw growth in this product line as a result of increased subscriber base.

2002 vs. 2001

Total revenue declined $29.0 million, or 2%, in 2002, compared with 2001, resulting from the sales of our
Receivable Management Services business and certain other businesses within our International segment,
which contributed $85.9 million and $6.1 million of revenue in 2001 and 2002, respectively, partially oÅset by
an increase in core revenue. Core revenue increased $50.8 million, or 4% (3% increase before the eÅect of
foreign exchange), driven by revenue growth in North America of $41.7 million, or 5%, and revenue growth in
our International segment of $9.1 million, or 3%.

The acquisitions of iMarket» in the second quarter of 2001, Harris InfoSourceTM in the third quarter of
2001, and Data House in the third quarter of 2002, contributed one percentage point to our core revenue
growth in 2002.

On a product-line basis, our core revenue results reÖect:

‚ A $16.6 million, or 2%, growth in Risk Management Solutions (1% increase before the eÅect of foreign
exchange), including one percentage point of growth due to the acquisition of Data House in the third
quarter of 2002. Traditional Risk Management Solutions was Öat compared with 2001, while our value-
added Risk Management Solutions grew 4%, both before the eÅects of foreign exchange. As noted in
""Item 1. Business Ì Our Aspiration and Our Strategy Ì Enhance Our Current Business,'' we have
invested in our database to increase the power of DUNSRightTM to stabilize our traditional Risk
Management Solutions growth.

‚ A $26.4 million, or 8%, increase in Sales & Marketing Solutions (8% increase before the effect of foreign
exchange), including three percentage points of growth due to the acquisitions of iMarket» and Harris
InfoSourceTM in the second and third quarters of 2001, respectively. This growth is from a smaller base in
2001 as a result of economic weakness, the events of September 11 and the subsequent anthrax scare,
which depressed direct mail marketing activity. Traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions grew 3%
compared with 2001, and our value-added Sales & Marketing Solutions grew 15%, both before the
effects of foreign exchange, driven by investments to enhance our product offerings and by the addition of
iMarket» and Harris InfoSourceTM to our traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions results.

‚ A $7.8 million, or 26%, increase in Supply Management Solutions (24% increase before the eÅect of
foreign exchange) compared with a small base in 2001, reÖecting increased investment spending in
2002.

Overall, during the latter half of 2001 and throughout 2002, the weak global economy adversely impacted
our business. In general, our customers spent less. They took longer regarding decisions on purchasing our
products, thus causing us to spend more time closing sales. This in turn caused our sales resources to spend
less time on new prospects. In addition, some of our customers had gone out of business or combined with
other companies. When companies combine, their level of post-consolidation spending on our products is often
less than their pre-consolidation spending. In addition, the number of new credit applications, which is a major
driver of demand in our Risk Management Solutions business, had been depressed as a result of a lower level
of business activity. In addition, in a weak economy, customers increasingly look to free or lower-cost credit
information available from alternate sources, including the Internet. Finally, companies were streamlining
their credit departments, thus reducing the number of users of our Risk Management Solutions products and,
in some cases, product usage.
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Consolidated Operating Costs

The following table presents our consolidated operating costs and operating income for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

2003 2002 2001

(Amounts in millions)

Operating Expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 433.3 $ 392.1 $ 441.2

Selling and Administrative ExpensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 579.9 512.5 523.5

Depreciation and Amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 64.0 84.2 94.5

Restructuring Charges Ì NetÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17.4 30.9 28.8

Reorganization Costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (7.0)

Operating Costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,094.6 $1,019.7 $1,081.0

Operating Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 291.8 $ 255.9 $ 223.6

As described above in the section ""How We Manage Our Business,'' when we evaluate the performance
of our business as a whole, we focus on our operating income (and, therefore, our operating costs) before non-
core gains and charges, since we do not view these items as reÖecting our underlying business operations. We
have identiÑed under the caption ""Non-Core Gains and Charges'' below such gains and charges that are
included in the following discussion of our GAAP results.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased $41.2 million, or 11%, from 2002 to 2003. The increase was due to the
following: a $13.8 million loss on sale of the building in High Wycombe, England in July 2003; additional
investments relating to data and product enhancements; and an increased expense base as a result of the
Hoover's Inc., Data House, and the three Italian real estate acquisitions. Operating expenses decreased
$49.1 million, or 11%, from 2001 to 2002 as headcount in the data collection, fulÑllment and technology areas
decreased. This decrease was also aÅected by the following charges included in 2001 operating expenses:

‚ a $6.2 million charge for the write-oÅ of capitalized software associated with products and internal-use
systems no longer in use ($2.3 million), write-down of customer lists in Europe ($2.0 million), lease
and contract termination costs and miscellaneous other costs ($1.9 million);

‚ a $1.0 million write-oÅ of assets lost in the World Trade Center attack; and

‚ a $6.5 million impairment write-down in the fourth quarter of 2001 for our Murray Hill, New Jersey,
facility, which was sold in the second quarter of 2002.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased $67.4 million, or 13%, from 2002 to 2003. The increase was
primarily due to additional costs relating to revenue generating investments, such as additions to our sales
force to improve our marketplace coverage in Sales & Marketing Solutions, as well as additional variable costs
(such as commissions and bonuses) incurred as a result of increased revenues. Additionally, we have
increased our expense base as a result of the Hoover's, Inc., Data House, and three Italian real estate
acquisitions. The increase in the costs mentioned above was partially oÅset by administrative cost savings such
as lower compensation costs achieved through our Financial Flexibility program. Selling and administrative
expenses declined $11.0 million, or 2%, from 2001 to 2002, as a result of administrative cost savings such as
lower compensation costs achieved through our Financial Flexibility program partially oÅset by spending on
advertising to reinvigorate the D&B brand, training and hiring new leaders, additions to our sales force, and
transition costs incurred in implementing our Financial Flexibility program. Transition costs were $22.3 mil-
lion in 2003, $31.4 million in 2002, and $28.4 million in 2001.
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We had net pension income and postretirement beneÑt costs of $18.2 million and $14.9 million in 2003,
respectively, $34.0 million and $19.9 million in 2002, respectively, and $35.7 million and $15.8 million in 2001,
respectively. The decrease in pension income in 2003 was primarily due to the one-percentage-point decrease
in the long-term rate of return assumption used in 2003 for our U.S. QualiÑed Plan. We lowered this rate from
9.75% in 2002 and 2001 to 8.75% in 2003. We consider these amounts to be part of our compensation costs
and, therefore, net pension income and postretirement beneÑt costs are included in operating expenses and in
selling and administrative expenses, based upon the classiÑcations of the underlying compensation costs. We
expect pension income will be approximately the same in 2004 as in 2003. In the fourth quarter of 2003, an
amendment was made to D&B's Postretirement BeneÑt Plan. Starting January 1, 2004, we will limit the
amount of our insurance premium contribution based on the amount D&B contributed in 2003 per retiree.
This change is expected to reduce our annual postretirement beneÑt costs by approximately $17 million a year
for the next Ñve to six years. See the discussion of ""Our Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates Ì Pension
and Postretirement BeneÑt Obligations,'' above, and Note 10 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization decreased $20.2 million, or 24%, from 2002 to 2003 and $10.3 million, or
11%, from 2001 to 2002. The decrease in 2003 was largely driven by the sale of our facility in High Wycombe,
England in 2003 and the sale of our facilities in Berkeley Heights and Murray Hill, New Jersey in 2002, lower
capitalized spending in 2003, and the impact of our outsourcing of certain technology functions to Computer
Sciences Corporation (""CSC''). The lower capitalized spending is a result of D&B delivering more products
over the Web, and in turn, resulting in investment projects becoming less capital intensive. The decrease in
2002 resulted from the write-oÅ and sale of certain assets in 2001 in connection with our Financial Flexibility
program, the previously mentioned outsourcing, and the impact of no longer amortizing goodwill in 2002,
which reduced 2002 amortization expense by $5.3 million compared with 2001. See Note 1 to our
consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Restructuring Charges

We have incurred charges related to our Financial Flexibility program in each of the past four years.
During 2003, we recorded $17.4 million of restructuring charges in connection with the fourth phase of our
Financial Flexibility program. The charge includes $17.1 million for severance and termination costs related to
approximately 500 employees (including a $0.5 million pension plan curtailment charge due to the fourth
phase as discussed in the following paragraph) and $0.3 million for lease termination obligations. As of
September 30, 2003, all of the approximately 500 employees had been terminated under the fourth phase of
our Financial Flexibility program.

In accordance with SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No. 88, we are required to recognize a one-time curtailment
charge for the estimated pension expense impact to The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Retirement Account
(the ""U.S. QualiÑed Plan'') related to the headcount actions of the fourth phase of our Financial Flexibility
program announced on January 13, 2003. The curtailment accounting requirement of SFAS No. 88 requires
us to recognize immediately a pro-rata portion of the unrecognized prior service cost and the cost of any
special charges related to beneÑt enhancements that might occur as a result of the layoÅs (e.g., full vesting).
For the U.S. QualiÑed Plan, these items cumulatively resulted in an immediate curtailment charge to earnings
of $0.5 million in the Ñrst quarter 2003, which is included in the $17.1 million severance and termination
charge described above.

During the second quarter of 2002, we recognized a $30.9 million restructuring charge in connection with
the third phase of our Financial Flexibility program. The charge included $18.6 million for severance and
termination costs related to approximately 1,050 employees, $10.6 million for the loss on asset disposals and
the write-oÅ of assets that were abandoned (including $9.7 million from the outsourcing discussed in the
following paragraph), and $1.7 million for lease termination obligations.

As part of the third phase of the Financial Flexibility program, we outsourced certain technology
functions to CSC. Under the terms of the agreement, approximately 400 D&B employees who performed data
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center operations, technology help desk and network management functions in the United States and in the
United Kingdom were transitioned to CSC. In addition, as part of the agreement, CSC acquired our data
center and print-mail facility located in Berkeley Heights, New Jersey, and related assets for $10 million,
which we considered the fair value for the assets. This resulted in a $9.7 million impairment loss noted above.

During the second quarter of 2001, we incurred a $32.8 million restructuring charge to re-engineer
administrative functions and institute common business practices worldwide, consisting of $20.7 million for
severance costs related to approximately 800 employees, $3.2 million for lease termination obligations and
$8.9 million for the write-oÅ of assets that were abandoned in the consolidation of oÇces, primarily in Europe.
During 2001, we also reversed $4.0 million of the charge taken in 2000 related to the Ñrst phase of our
Financial Flexibility program. We determined that severance for 50 people would not be utilized, due to
higher than anticipated voluntary attrition ($2.9 million), and that the remaining lease termination obligations
were lower than originally estimated as a result of more favorable market conditions and higher than
anticipated sub-lease rent ($1.1 million).

As of December 31, 2003, we have terminated approximately 3,200 employees under all four phases of
the Financial Flexibility program, including the approximately 400 employees who were transitioned to CSC,
as mentioned above. This will bring the total number of employees terminated (via termination and voluntary
attrition) in connection with the four phases of the Financial Flexibility program, since its inception in
October 2000, to approximately 3,200, reÖecting the elimination of 3,500 positions (including 300 open
positions). All headcount actions were completed as of September 30, 2003.

See Note 3, Impact of Implementation of the Blueprint for Growth Strategy and Other Transactions.

Reorganization Costs

We incurred reorganization costs in connection with our separation from Moody's in 2000. In 2000, we
recognized $29.5 million of reorganization costs and, in 2001, we reversed $7.0 million of excess reorganization
costs.

Interest Income (Expense) Ì Net

The following table presents our ""Interest Income (Expense) Ì Net'' for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001:

2003 2002 2001

(Amounts in millions)

Interest IncomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4.2 $ 3.0 $ 5.5

Interest Expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (18.6) (19.5) (16.4)

Minority Interest Expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (5.4)

$(14.4) $(16.5) $(16.3)

Interest income increased $1.2 million, or 41%, from 2002 to 2003, due to additional investments in our
combined cash and marketable securities, both short and long-term. Interest income decreased $2.5 million,
or 46%, from 2001 to 2002, due to lower interest rates. Interest expense decreased by $0.9 million, or 5%, from
2002 to 2003, primarily due to lower interest rates. Interest expense in 2002 decreased $2.3 million, or 11%,
compared with the sum of interest expense and minority interest expense in 2001, due to lower interest rates.
The lower rates reÖected the exchange of minority interest Ñnancing for long-term debt in the Ñrst quarter of
2001, and the swap of $100 million of the long-term notes from a Ñxed to a Öoating rate of interest in the third
quarter of 2001. This is discussed more fully in the ""Liquidity and Financial Position'' section, below, and in
Note 6 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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Other Income (Expense) Ì Net

The following table presents the components of ""Other Income (Expense) Ì Net'' for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

2003 2002 2001

(Amounts in millions)

Miscellaneous Other Expense Ì Net(a) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(1.5) $(2.3) $(3.9)

Gains (Losses) on Sales of Businesses(b) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.5) 5.0 56.3

Write-oÅ of Non-Recoverable Investments(c) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (2.9) (6.1)

Insurance Recovery(d) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.0 Ì Ì

$ 3.0 $(0.2) $46.3

(a) ""Miscellaneous Other Expense Ì Net'' decrease in 2003 compared to 2002 is primarily due to a gain on
the sale of an investment in Italy and lower bank fees. Decrease in 2002 compared to 2001 is primarily
due to lower foreign currency transaction losses and lower bank fees.

(b) During 2003, we sold the following businesses and recognized the following non-operating gains (losses):

‚ our Israeli operation during the third quarter, resulting in a pre-tax loss of $4.3 million; and

‚ the equity interest in our Singapore investment, resulting in a pre-tax gain of $1.8 million.

During 2002, we sold the following businesses and recognized the following non-operating gains:

‚ a portion of our equity interest in our Singapore operation during the third quarter, resulting in a pre-
tax gain of $2.6 million; and

‚ our Korean operation during the fourth quarter, resulting in a pre-tax gain of $2.4 million.

During 2001, we sold the following businesses and recognized the following non-operating gains:

‚ our Receivable Management Services business during the second quarter, resulting in a pre-tax gain of
$36.4 million;

‚ a majority stake in our Australia/New Zealand operations during the third quarter, resulting in a pre-
tax gain of $17.7 million; and

‚ a major portion of our minority investment in our South African operations during the fourth quarter,
resulting in a pre-tax gain of $2.2 million.

(c) During 2002, we exited Avantrust LLC, our joint venture with American International Group, Inc.,
resulting in a $2.9 million pre-tax write-oÅ of our remaining investment. We also recorded a $6.1 million
write-oÅ of internet-related investments that we considered non-recoverable during 2001.

(d) Represents a settlement on an insurance claim to recover losses related to the events of September 11,
2001.

Provision for Income Taxes

For the year ended December 31, 2003, our eÅective tax rate was 37.9%. The eÅective tax rate for 2003
has been negatively impacted by the non-deductibility of certain costs related to the sale of our High
Wycombe, England, building (0.8 points), the non-deductibility in some countries of certain items included
within the restructuring charge (0.2 points), and various other items (0.2 points). The eÅective tax rate for
the year ended December 31, 2002 was 39.3%, negatively impacted by the non-deductibility in some countries
of certain items included within the restructuring charge (1.0 points). The reduction in our eÅective tax rate
for 2003 was the result of state tax planning initiatives as well as global tax planning. Our eÅective tax rate in
2001 was 39.4%.

Equity in Net Income (Loss) of AÇliates

There were no material amounts recorded as Equity in Net Income (Loss) of AÇliates in 2003. We
recognized $1.7 million and $3.5 million as Equity in Net Losses of AÇliates for the years ended
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December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These losses primarily resulted from our investment in Avantrust,
which we made in 2001 and exited in the second quarter of 2002. These amounts are in addition to the
$2.9 million pre-tax write-oÅ in 2002 of our remaining investment described above in the discussion of ""Other
Income (Expense) Ì Net.''

Earnings per Share

We reported the following earnings per share, or EPS, for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and
2001:

2003 2002 2001

Basic Earnings per ShareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2.37 $1.93 $1.89

Diluted Earnings per Share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2.30 $1.87 $1.84

Basic EPS and diluted EPS both increased 23% in 2003 compared with 2002, reÖecting a 1% reduction in
the weighted average number of shares outstanding and a 22% increase in net income due to the 2003 results
of operations described in the foregoing sections. Basic EPS and diluted EPS both increased 2% in 2002
compared with 2001, reÖecting a 6% reduction in the weighted average number of shares outstanding, partially
oÅset by a 4% reduction in net income due to the 2002 results of operations described in the foregoing sections.
Shares outstanding were reduced as a result of our repurchase of shares, as described in ""Liquidity and
Financial Position Ì Cash Used In Financing Activities.''

Non-Core Gains and Charges

For internal management purposes, we treat certain gains and charges that are included in ""Consolidated
Operating Costs'' and ""Other Income (Expense) Ì Net'' as non-core gains and charges. These pre-tax non-
core gains and charges are summarized in the table below. We exclude non-core gains and charges when
evaluating our Ñnancial performance because we do not consider these items to reÖect our underlying business
operations.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

(Amounts in millions)

Non-core gains and (charges) included in Operating Costs:

Restructuring costs (net) related to our Financial Flexibility
programs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(17.4) $(30.9) $(28.8)

Impairment of capitalized software and Murray Hill facility,
write-oÅ of certain assets made obsolete, redundant or
destroyed as a result of the World Trade Center attackÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $(13.7)

Reorganization costs associated with our spin-oÅ from
Moody's Corporation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ 7.0

Loss on the sale of High Wycombe, England building ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(13.8) $ Ì $ Ì

Non-core gains and (charges) included in Other Income
(Expense) Ì Net:

Gains on sales of Receivable Management Services business,
Australia/New Zealand operations and a portion of South
African investment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ 56.3

Write-oÅ of non-recoverable investmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ (6.1)

Insurance recovery related to the events of September 11,
2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 7.0 $ Ì $ Ì
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Segment Results

The operating segments reported below, North America and International, are our segments for which
separate Ñnancial information is available, and upon which operating results are evaluated on a timely basis to
assess performance and to allocate resources. EÅective January 1, 2003, we have reclassiÑed prior period
presentations to conform to this revised segment reporting.

North America

North America is our largest segment, representing 69%, 72%, and 70% of our total revenue in 2003,
2002, and 2001, respectively. The following table presents our North American product revenue and operating
income for the years ending December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

2003 2002 2001

(Amounts in millions)

Revenue:

Risk Management Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $603.6 $594.3 $586.9

Sales & Marketing SolutionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 294.1 289.1 257.1

Supply Management Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 33.4 28.7 26.4

E-Business Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29.0 Ì Ì

North America Core RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 960.1 912.1 870.4

Receivable Management Services and Other Divested Businesses ÏÏ Ì Ì 39.4

Total North America Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $960.1 $912.1 $909.8

Operating Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $329.9 $313.1 $295.8

2003 vs. 2002

Our North American 2003 total revenue increased $48.0 million, or 5%, from 2002. The increase reÖects
increased revenue in all of our product lines.

On a product-line basis, North America's core revenue results reÖect:

‚ A $9.3 million, or 2%, increase in Risk Management Solutions. Traditional Risk Management
Solutions, which accounted for 78% of total North American Risk Management Solutions was Öat.
Value-added Risk Management Solutions, which accounted for 22% of total North American Risk
Management Solutions increased 9%. In our value-added Risk Management Solutions, our portfolio
management solution products continued to perform well, which reÖects the beneÑts from our recent
investment spending in Enterprise Risk Assessment Manager, which helps customers manage their
credit portfolios. Additionally, the increase is also driven by our customers' continued shift towards
automating their decision-making process.

‚ A $5.0 million, or 2%, increase in Sales & Marketing Solutions. Traditional Sales & Marketing
Solutions, which accounted for 49% of total North American Sales & Marketing Solutions, decreased
12%. This decline is indicative of the current economic environment. This is the area of our business
that is the most sensitive to changes in the economy, as sales and marketing expenses are often viewed
as discretionary spending by our customers. This decline was oÅset by value-added Sales & Marketing
Solutions, which accounted for 51% of total North American Sales & Marketing Solutions, and
increased by 19%. The increase in our value-added Sales & Marketing Solutions was primarily driven
by our CIM products and our high-end prospecting solutions, including Market SpectrumTM.

‚ A $4.7 million, or 17%, increase in Supply Management Solutions, reÖecting our customers' focus on
improving their operating results through the optimization of the procurement process.

‚ $29.0 million of revenue from E-Business Solutions, representing the results of Hoover's, Inc.,
contributing three percentage points of growth.
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North America's operating income in 2003 was up 5% from the prior year, primarily due to the overall
increase in North America revenue partially oÅset by increased investments to drive revenue growth in 2004.

2002 vs. 2001

In 2002, total North American revenue of $912.1 million was essentially Öat versus the prior year. This
was the result of the $41.7 million, or 5%, increase in core revenue in 2002 being oÅset by the loss of revenue
due to the sale of our Receivable Management Services business in 2001. North America's core revenue
growth of 5% reÖects $7.4 million, or 1%, growth in Risk Management Solutions, $32.0 million, or 13%,
growth in Sales & Marketing Solutions, and $2.3 million, or 9%, growth in Supply Management Solutions.
North America's results beneÑted from the acquisition of iMarket» in the second quarter of 2001, and Harris
InfoSourceTM in the third quarter of 2001, which together contributed one percentage point of growth to North
America's core revenue and Ñve percentage points of growth to its Sales & Marketing Solutions revenue.

In general, despite the challenging economy, North America revenue growth was fairly strong in 2002,
due to sales leadership, customer acceptance of our new products and particular weakness in the fourth quarter
of 2001 reÖecting the post-September 11 economy.

On a product-line basis, North America's core revenue results reÖect:

‚ Risk Management Solutions Ì Traditional Risk Management Solutions revenue accounted for 79% of
our Risk Management Solutions revenue in 2002 and was up 1% from 2001. Revenue from value-
added Risk Management Solutions accounted for 21% of our Risk Management Solutions revenue in
2002 and was up 4% from 2001. Revenue from our traditional Risk Management Solutions products
had been declining in prior years. However, it was stabilized in 2002 as a result of our investments in
database expansion, improving our match rate and product enhancements. These investments have
mitigated the following trends:

‚ a decline in new credit applications due to the economic slowdown;

‚ streamlined credit departments, resulting in fewer actual users of our products;

‚ pricing pressures from some of our larger customers;

‚ the substitution of less expensive consumer credit information for making some decisions about new
credit applications from small businesses;

‚ the substitution of the BIR for free or less expensive demographic information that can be obtained
over the Internet; and

‚ our intentional migration of our customers from the BIR and related products to our value-added
solutions to assist them in re-engineering their processes and automating their decision-making.

The performance of our value-added products also reÖected the beneÑts of our investments, particu-
larly in those products that provide insight on new credit applications for smaller transactions, and in
our customers' portfolio management processes.

‚ Sales & Marketing Solutions Ì This product line beneÑted from growth in both traditional and value-
added products. Our traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions revenue grew 11%, of which eight
percentage points of growth was due to the iMarket» and Harris InfoSourceTM acquisitions. Revenue
for value-added Sales & Marketing Solutions increased 15%. During the second half of 2001, the U.S.
economic slowdown caused our customers to curtail their discretionary spending, which impacted our
Sales & Marketing Solutions revenue in 2001.

‚ Supply Management Solutions Ì This product line grew 9% and was also impacted during the second
half of 2001 by the U.S. economic slowdown which caused our customers to curtail their discretionary
spending.

North America's operating income in 2002 was up 6% from the prior year. Although total revenue growth
was Öat, as described above, operating income beneÑted from a generally lower operating cost base due to our
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Financial Flexibility initiatives, oÅset in part by the reallocation of some of our spending to revenue-generating
activities. North America's 2002 operating income also beneÑted from a $1.6 million reduction in goodwill
amortization due to the adoption of SFAS No. 142 (see Note 1 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements).

International

Our International segment represented 31%, 28%, and 30% of our total revenue in 2003, 2002, and 2001,
respectively. The following table presents our International product revenue and operating income for the
years ending December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

2003 2002 2001

(Amounts in millions)

Revenue

Risk Management Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $339.0 $283.2 $274.0

Sales & Marketing SolutionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 72.2 65.4 71.0

Supply Management Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11.8 8.8 3.3

International Core RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 423.0 357.4 348.3

Receivable Management Services and Other Divested Businesses 3.3 6.1 46.5

Total International Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $426.3 $363.5 $394.8

Operating Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 59.9 $ 43.5 $ 23.3

2003 vs. 2002

Our International 2003 total revenue increased $62.8 million, or 17%, from 2002. International core
revenue increased $65.6 million, or 18% (3% increase before the eÅect of foreign exchange). The increase in
International's core revenue was primarily due to our acquisition of Data House in the third quarter of 2002
and the additional Italian real estate acquisitions in the second quarter 2003, which contributed six percentage
points of growth.

On a product-line basis, International's core revenue results reÖect:

‚ A $55.8 million, or 20%, increase in Risk Management Solutions (4% increase before the eÅect of
foreign exchange), including seven percentage points of growth due to the acquisition of Data House
and the Italian real estate acquisitions. Traditional Risk Management Solutions increased 18% (2%
increase before the eÅect of foreign exchange), including eight percentage points of growth due to the
acquisition of Data House and the Italian real estate acquisitions. Within our traditional products, we
are experiencing competitive pricing pressures on our low-end traditional products. We are also
experiencing a shift in our customers' spending from higher-priced, comprehensive reports to low-
priced, less detailed reports. These competitive and pricing pressures have been partially oÅset by the
continued success of our new monitoring product, e-Portfolio. Value-added Risk Management
Solutions increased 39% (23% increase before the eÅect of foreign exchange), driven by the customers'
preference to continue to automate their decisioning process through products such as Global Decision
MakerTM, and integrate existing systems using our Toolkit solutions.

‚ A $6.8 million, or 10%, increase in Sales & Marketing Solutions (3% decrease before the eÅect of
foreign exchange). Traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions increased by 6% (7% decrease before the
eÅect of foreign exchange), and our value-added Sales & Marketing Solutions increased 23% (8%
increase before the eÅect of foreign exchange). The continued decline in our traditional Sales &
Marketing Solutions is indicative of economic pressures in the Eurozone, compounded with low growth
forecasts in larger markets such as Germany. We also continue to see competitive pricing pressures in
our low-end list and label business. The improvement in our value-added Sales & Marketing Solutions
can be attributed to speciÑc management actions that occurred in the third quarter 2003. Those actions
included the following: (i) added sales leadership in Ñve major markets, each with a dedicated sales
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team, (ii) continued increase of focus by our sales teams on value-added products, (iii) expanded
demand generation programs, and (iv) growth in linkage products resulting from our customers'
movement from CD to Web-based solutions.

‚ A $3.0 million, or 34%, increase in Supply Management Solutions (13% increase before the eÅect of
foreign exchange), primarily due to the continued growth in our data rationalization products.

International's operating income increased $16.4 million, or 38% in 2003 to $59.9 million, primarily due
to the beneÑt from the positive impact of foreign exchange. To a lesser extent, an increase in our acquisitions
of Data House and the three Italian real estate companies, and savings obtained as a result of our Financial
Flexibility program also contributed to the increase in operating income. The savings from our Financial
Flexibility program were partially oÅset by the additional cost base as a result of our acquisitions noted above.

The following factors aÅecting our International segment create particular challenges to our revenue
growth:

‚ In most International markets we do not have market leadership positions. This makes us particularly
susceptible to pricing pressures. We also face entrenched local competitors.

‚ European businesses tend to manage their credit exposures through credit insurance rather than
through the credit approval process using expert business information of the type provided by D&B.

‚ In many local markets in Europe, key data elements are generally available from public-sector sources
thus reducing our data collection advantage.

‚ Prior to the launch of our Blueprint for Growth strategy, our investment decisions were made at the
country level and not in a coordinated fashion across the International marketplace. While we have
made signiÑcant investments to mitigate this situation, we are still faced with uneven data quality in
some local markets.

We will continue to use diÅerent approaches to improve our competitive position from market to market
worldwide. In some markets, we are investing to strengthen our position, either through organic growth or by
acquisition. In other markets, we may establish strategic relationships to strengthen our global data coverage
and our customer value propositions. We have used each of these approaches already in diÅerent parts of the
world, and we anticipate evaluating and implementing these and other approaches in the future.

Additionally, we will also continue to leverage our DUNSRightTM quality process to establish leadership
positions in our International markets.

2002 vs. 2001

Our International 2002 total revenue decreased $31.3 million, or 8%, from 2001, resulting from the sale of
the Receivable Management Services business during 2001, partially oÅset by a $9.1 million, or 3%, increase
in core revenue. The increase in International's core revenue was primarily due to our acquisition of Data
House in the third quarter of 2002, which contributed two percentage points of growth, and the favorable
eÅects of foreign exchange rate movements, which contributed four percentage points of growth. In general,
deteriorating market conditions in International have resulted in competitive pricing pressure and lower
demand for our Risk Management Solutions and Sales & Marketing Solutions, which is reÖected in the results
described below.

On a product-line basis, International's core revenue results reÖect:

‚ A $9.2 million, or 3%, increase in Risk Management Solutions (Öat before the eÅect of foreign
exchange), including two percentage points of growth due to the acquisition of Data House. Traditional
Risk Management Solutions increased 4% (1% decline before the eÅect of foreign exchange), driven
by two percentage points of growth due to the acquisition of Data House. Within our traditional
products, we are experiencing competitive pricing pressure and a shift in our customers' spending from
higher-priced, comprehensive reports to low-priced, less detailed reports. Value-added Risk Manage-
ment Solutions increased 2% (2% increase before the eÅect of foreign exchange).
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‚ A $5.6 million, or 8%, decrease in Sales & Marketing Solutions (11% decrease before the eÅect of
foreign exchange). Our Sales & Marketing Solutions customers have cut back on their discretionary
spending in the face of challenging market conditions, and we faced increased competition in key
markets in our traditional list and labels business. Traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions declined
14% (18% decline before the eÅect of foreign exchange) and our value-added Sales & Marketing
Solutions increased 17% (15% increase before the eÅect of foreign exchange).

‚ A $5.5 million, or 159%, increase in Supply Management Solutions (149% increase before the eÅect of
foreign exchange), aided by investments to enhance our product oÅerings made in the second half of
2001 to drive growth in this solution set.

Despite declining revenue, International's operating income grew $20.2 million, or 87%, in 2002 to
$43.5 million, primarily due to the lower cost base obtained as a result of our Financial Flexibility program.
SpeciÑcally, cost improvements were achieved in our technology infrastructure and development, administra-
tive areas, and data collection. The adoption of SFAS No. 142, discussed in Note 1 to our consolidated
Ñnancial statements, resulted in a $3.7 million reduction in goodwill amortization expense in 2002. Operating
income growth also beneÑted from the positive impact of foreign exchange.

Market Risk

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes, foreign currency Öuctuations and changes in the
market value of certain of our investments.

We employ established policies and procedures to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates and
foreign currencies. We use short-term foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge short-term foreign
currency-denominated loans, investments and certain intercompany transactions and, from time to time, we
have used foreign exchange option contracts to reduce our international earnings exposure to adverse changes
in currency exchange rates. In addition, we use interest rate swap agreements to hedge a portion of the interest
rate exposure on our outstanding Ñxed rate notes, as discussed under ""Interest Rate Risk,'' below.

A discussion of our accounting policies for Ñnancial instruments is included in the summary of signiÑcant
accounting policies in Note 1 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements, and further disclosure relating to
Ñnancial instruments is included in Note 7 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Interest Rate Risk

Our objective in managing exposure to interest rates is to limit the impact of interest rate changes on
earnings, cash Öows and Ñnancial position, and to lower overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives,
we maintain a policy that Öoating rate debt be managed within a minimum and maximum range of our total
debt exposure. To achieve our policy objectives, we may use Ñxed rate debt, Öoating rate debt and/or interest
rate swaps.

In 2001, we issued $300 million in principal of Ñve-year, Ñxed-rate notes that mature in March 2006 (see
Note 7 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements). In connection with that note issuance, we entered into Ñxed
to Öoating interest rate swap agreements in the third quarter of 2001 with notional principal amounts totaling
$100 million (see Note 7 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements), and designated these swaps as fair value
hedges against the long-term, Ñxed-rate notes. The arrangement is considered a highly eÅective hedge and,
therefore, the accounting for these hedges has no impact on earnings. The changes in the fair value of the
hedge and the designated portion of the notes are reÖected in our consolidated balance sheets. At
December 31, 2003, we had no Öoating rate debt outstanding.

Foreign Exchange Risk

We have oÇces in 29 countries and conduct operations in ten other countries through companies in which
we have minority investments. Our International operations generated approximately 31% of total revenue in
2003. As of December 31, 2003, approximately 33% of our assets were located outside North America, and no
country outside North America, other than the United Kingdom, had a signiÑcant concentration of our
aggregate cash balances.
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Our objective in managing exposure to foreign currency Öuctuations is to reduce the volatility caused by
foreign exchange rate changes on the earnings, cash Öows and Ñnancial position of our International
operations. We follow a policy of hedging substantially all balance sheet positions denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency applicable to each of our various subsidiaries. From time to time, we may
also hedge the value of our foreign currency-denominated earnings and investments. We use short-term
foreign exchange forward and option contracts to implement our hedging strategies. Typically, these contracts
have maturities of six months or less. These contracts are executed with creditworthy institutions and are
denominated primarily in the British pound sterling, the euro and the Swedish krona.

As in prior years, we have hedged substantially all balance sheet positions denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency applicable to each of our various subsidiaries with short-term forward
foreign exchange contracts. In addition, in 2003, we used foreign exchange option contracts to hedge certain
foreign earnings and foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge certain net investment positions. The option
contracts expired as of December 31, 2003. The underlying transactions and the corresponding forward
exchange and option contracts are marked to market at the end of each quarter, are fully disclosed within our
Ñnancial statements and have a minimal impact on earnings.

At December 31, 2003, we had approximately $272.8 million in foreign exchange forward contracts
outstanding, with net unrealized losses of $4.4 million. If exchange rates were to increase 10% from year-end
levels, the unrealized loss would be $16.8 million. If exchange rates were to decrease 10% from year-end
levels, the unrealized gain would be $2.2 million. However, the estimated potential gain or loss on these
contracts is expected to be oÅset by changes in the dollar value of the underlying transactions and investments.
Therefore, a 10% movement in foreign exchange rates would have a minimal net impact on earnings.

Liquidity and Financial Position

In accordance with our Blueprint for Growth strategy, we have used our cash for three primary purposes:

‚ First, we have invested in our current business, such as the investments in our patent pending
DUNSRightTM data collection and quality process and the creation of new products and solutions such
as our Enterprise Risk Assessment Manager (""eRAMTM''), e-Portfolio, Global DecisionMakerTM, Data
Integration ToolkitTM and Supply OptimizerTM.

‚ Second, in each of the past three years we have made acquisitions such as iMarket», Harris
InfoSourceTM, Data House, Hoover's, and a controlling interest in three Italian real estate data
companies.

‚ Third, we have repurchased shares. During 2001, 2002 and 2003, we have invested $285 million to
repurchase 8.1 million shares, or 10% of shares outstanding. This investment is in addition to shares we
systematically repurchase to oÅset the dilutive eÅect of shares issued in connection with employee
beneÑt plans. We expect to continue to repurchase shares for this purpose using the cash generated
from our ongoing operations. In January, 2004, our board approved a new one-year, $200 million share
repurchase program.

We believe that cash Öows generated from our operations and supplemented as needed with readily
available Ñnancing in the commercial paper markets are suÇcient to meet our short-term and long-term
needs, including the cash cost of our restructuring charges, transition costs, contractual obligations (see
Note 12) and contingencies (see Note 13), excluding the legal matters identiÑed therein for which the
exposures are not estimable. We access the commercial paper market from time to time to fund working
capital needs and share repurchases. Such borrowings have been supported by our bank credit facilities.
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Cash Flow for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities was $235.7 million, $213.1 million and $217.1 million for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These amounts include the following signiÑcant
(uses) sources of cash:

2003 2002 2001

(Amounts in millions)

Restructuring payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(30.0) $(31.3) $(40.6)

Insurance recovery related to the events of September 11, 2001 ÏÏÏÏ $ 7.0 $ Ì $ Ì

Five-year contract with buyers of Receivable Management Services
business ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ 35.4

Our strong operating cash Öows have reÖected the proÑtability of our underlying business, our low
concentration of capital investments, and our business model, in which a signiÑcant portion of our Risk
Management Solutions customers have historically purchased our products under annual contracts during the
Ñrst quarter, for which payment has generally been made during the Ñrst half of the year.

2003 vs. 2002

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2003 was $235.7 million, compared with net cash provided by
operating activities of $213.1 million in 2002. In 2003, our net cash provided by operating activities was
comprised of net income of $174.5 million adjusted for non-cash items of $157.6 million and net cash used in
both current and non-current assets and liabilities of $96.4 million.

Included in the non-cash items in 2003 was $147.7 million of charges that decreased our net income, but
did not result in the usage of cash. These consisted mainly of depreciation and amortization, a decrease in our
deferred income taxes, restructuring charges recorded in connection with the fourth phase of our Financial
Flexibility initiatives, the loss on the sale of our European headquarters building during the third quarter of
2003, an increase to our accrued income taxes, the pre-tax loss on the sale of our Israeli operations during the
third quarter of 2003, and amortization of our restricted stock grants. Also included in such non-cash items
was $2.5 million of amounts that generated net income, but did not provide cash from operations including
gains on the sale of our equity interest in our Singapore operations during the third quarter of 2003, gains on
the sale of our equity interest in our Italian operations during the Ñrst quarter of 2003, and equity gains in
excess of dividends received from our aÇliates.

Net cash used for both current and non-current assets and liabilities was driven by $30.0 million of
restructuring payments primarily related to the third and fourth phases of our Financial Flexibility initiatives
and reductions in our accrued liabilities balances from prior year levels primarily for employee beneÑts (e.g.,
beneÑt payments, earned vacation, and bonus). These usages of cash were partially oÅset by additional
receipts of cash on amounts due from our customers, higher sales which increased our deferred revenue
balance, and a $7.0 million payment for the settlement of the World Trade Center business interruption claim
we Ñled in 2002.

Days sales outstanding in accounts receivable for the fourth quarter of 2003 was 78 days versus 84 days
for the same period in 2002. The improvement in the level of days sales outstanding is primarily attributable to
the implementation of additional process improvements in our international collections eÅorts, tighter
management of terms of payment in our customer contracts, and increased sales in 2003 compared to 2002.

2002 vs. 2001

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2002 was $213.1 million, compared with net cash provided by
operating activities of $217.1 million in 2001. In 2002, our net cash provided by operating activities was
comprised of net income of $143.4 million adjusted for non-cash items of $190.1 million and net cash used in
both current and non-current assets and liabilities of $120.4 million.
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Included in the non-cash items in 2002 was $189.7 million of charges that decreased our net income, but
did not result in the usage of cash, which consisted mainly of depreciation and amortization, an increase to our
accrued income taxes, the restructuring charge recorded in the second quarter of 2002 in connection with the
third phase of our Financial Flexibility initiatives, a decrease in our deferred income taxes, the write-oÅ of our
Avantrust LLC (""Avantrust'') joint venture during the second quarter of 2002, and equity losses in excess of
dividends received from our aÇliates. Also included in such non-cash items was $5.0 million of amounts that
generated net income, but did not provide cash from operations including a pre-tax gain on the sale of a
portion of our equity interest in our Singapore operations during the third quarter of 2002 and a pre-tax gain on
the sale of our Korean operations in the fourth quarter of 2002.

Net cash used for both current and non-current assets and liabilities was driven by $31.3 million of
restructuring payments primarily related to the second and third phases of our Financial Flexibility program,
reductions in our accrued liabilities balances primarily for payments made in relation to our share of
obligations Moody's/D&B2, and additional payments made for accounts payable. These usages of cash were
partially oÅset by additional receipts of cash on amounts due from our customers.

Days sales outstanding in accounts receivable for the fourth quarter of 2002 was 84 days versus 88 days
for the same period in 2001. The improvement in the level of days sales outstanding is primarily attributable to
the implementation of additional process improvements in our domestic collections eÅorts, tighter manage-
ment of terms of payment in customer contracts, and increased sales from 2001 levels.

In 2001, we received $35.4 million related to a contract to provide the buyers of our Receivable
Management Services business with our products over Ñve years, which was recorded in deferred revenue and
is being recognized as revenue ratably over the term of the contract.

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Our business is not capital-intensive, and most of our spending to grow the business is funded by
operating cash Öow. As a result of our Financial Flexibility initiatives, we have sold non-core businesses and
real estate assets. Proceeds from these sales have partially (or in some cases, fully) oÅset our capital
expenditures and additions to computer software and other intangibles, as described below.

2003 vs. 2002

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $65.3 million in 2003, compared with net cash used in
investing activities of $55.2 million in 2002. This change primarily relates to the following activities in both
years.

During 2003, we received proceeds of $80.2 million from the sale in the third quarter of our European
headquarters building in High Wycombe, England, and we received $1.9 million in connection with the sale of
our interest in Singapore during the third quarter, collection of the note receivable received during the sale of
our Korean operations in the fourth quarter of 2002, and $0.4 million received in connection with the sale of
our equity interest in our Italian operations during the Ñrst quarter of 2003. We used $92.5 million of cash
generated from operations to acquire Hoover's and $5.5 million to obtain a controlling interest in three Italian
real estate data companies, net of cash acquired.

In 2002, we received $21.5 million from the sales in the second quarter of our buildings in Berkeley
Heights and Murray Hill, New Jersey, and the related assets, we received $3.0 million in the third quarter in
connection with the sale of our interest in our Singapore operation, and we received $1.8 million in the fourth
quarter in connection with the sale of our Korean operation. We used $21.2 million of cash generated from
operations to acquire Data House, net of cash acquired.

Investments in capital expenditures and computer software were $30.3 million in 2003 and $53.5 million
in 2002, primarily in the North America segment. In 2003, we also invested $1.9 million to acquire 17.5% of
RIBES S.p.A., a leading provider of business information to Italian banks, increasing our interest in RIBES
S.p.A. to 35%. In 2002, we also invested $0.9 million in Avantrust LLC, our joint venture with AIG, which we
exited during the second quarter of 2002.
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2002 vs. 2001

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $55.2 million in 2002, compared with net cash provided by
investing activities of $23.9 million in 2001. This change primarily relates to the receipt in 2001 of
$118.2 million from the sales of the Receivable Management Services business, the majority stake in the
Australia/New Zealand operations and a major portion of our minority investment in a South African
business.

In 2002, we received $21.5 million from the sales in the second quarter of our buildings in Berkeley
Heights and Murray Hill, New Jersey, and the related assets, we received $3.0 million in the third quarter in
connection with the sale of our interest in our Singapore operation, and we received $1.8 million in the fourth
quarter in connection with the sale of our Korean operation. We used $21.2 million of cash generated from
operations to acquire Data House, net of cash acquired. In 2001, we used $34.5 million of cash generated from
operations to acquire iMarket» and Harris InfoSourceTM, net of cash acquired.

Investments in capital expenditures and computer software were $53.5 million in 2002 and $53.2 million
in 2001, primarily in the North America segment. We also invested $0.9 million and $11.3 million in 2002 and
2001, respectively, in Avantrust LLC, our joint venture with AIG, which we exited during the second quarter
of 2002.

Cash Used in Financing Activities

Because of our strong operating cash Öows, our primary Ñnancing activities during the past four years
consist of reducing our commercial paper borrowings and repurchasing our shares. We have not paid a
dividend since we separated from Moody's in 2000.

There was no change in our long-term borrowings in 2003 or 2002. In the Ñrst quarter of 2001, we issued
$300 million in Ñve-year, Ñxed-rate notes. If we fail to comply with certain covenants under our Ñve-year
notes, the maturity of the notes could be accelerated. We have been in compliance with these covenants since
we issued the notes, and we believe that the likelihood is remote that we would fail to meet these covenants.
The cash proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used to repay a $300 million obligation resulting from
the purchase of an unrelated partner's interest in a limited partnership. We had no commercial paper
borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2003 or 2002. During the Ñrst quarter of 2001, we repaid the
$49.5 million of short-term commercial paper borrowings outstanding.

We have a total of $275 million of bank credit facilities available at prevailing short-term interest rates,
including a $100 million 364-day term facility which is renewed annually, and a $175 million multi-year term
facility which will expire in September 2005. These facilities also support our commercial paper borrowings up
to $275 million. We have not drawn on either facility since their inception nor did we have any borrowings
outstanding under either facility at December 31, 2003. We have also not borrowed under our commercial
paper program in 2003. We believe that cash Öows generated from our operations, supplemented as needed
with readily available Ñnancing arrangements, are suÇcient to meet our short-term and long-term needs,
including any payments that may be required in connection with our Financial Flexibility restructuring
charges discussed in Note 3, to meet commitments and contract obligations as presented in Note 12, and to
settle the contingencies discussed in Note 13 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements, excluding legal matters
which are not estimable. The facilities require the maintenance of interest coverage and total debt to EBITDA
ratios (as deÑned in the agreement). As of December 31, 2003 and at December 31, 2002, we were in
compliance with this requirement.

2003 vs. 2002

Net cash used in Ñnancing activities was $132.8 million in 2003 and $104.7 million in 2002.

During 2003 and 2002, cash used in Ñnancing activities was largely attributable to the purchase of
treasury shares. In 2003, we repurchased 1.4 million shares of stock for $56.1 million to mitigate the dilutive
eÅect of the shares issued under our stock incentive plans and Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Additionally, in
2003, we repurchased 2.4 million shares to complete a previously announced $100 million two-year share
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repurchase program approved by our board in October, 2002. In January 2002, we acquired 2.5 million of our
shares in a privately negotiated block trade for $85.1 million. Also in 2002, we repurchased 855,200 of our
shares for $32.6 million to mitigate the dilutive eÅect of shares issued under stock incentive plans and in
connection with our Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

In 2003, net proceeds from our stock plans was $23.4 million, compared with $12.1 million in 2002.

2002 vs. 2001

Net cash used in Ñnancing activities was $104.7 million in 2002 and $177.4 million in 2001.

During 2002, cash used in Ñnancing activities was largely attributable to the purchase of treasury shares.
In January 2002, we acquired 2.5 million of our shares in a privately negotiated block trade for $85.1 million.
In 2002, we also repurchased 855,200 of our shares for $32.6 million to mitigate the dilutive eÅect of shares
issued under stock incentive plans and in connection with our Employee Stock Purchase Plan. In 2001, we
used $144.9 million to purchase treasury shares, which included the purchase of 1.6 million shares for
$44.9 million in connection with our Employee Stock Purchase Plan and to oÅset a portion of the shares
issued under stock incentive plans.

In 2002, net proceeds from our stock plans was $12.1 million, compared with $19.0 million in 2001.

Future Liquidity Ì Sources and Uses of Funds

Contractual Cash Obligations

The following table quantiÑes as of December 31, 2003, our contractual obligations that will require the
use of cash in the future.

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter

(Amounts in millions)

Long-Term Debt(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏ $300.0 $ Ì $ Ì $300.0 $ Ì $ Ì $ Ì

Operating Leases(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏ $117.0 $35.4 $29.2 $ 23.3 $17.9 $10.3 $ 0.9

Obligations to
Outsourcers(3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $530.5 $57.8 $58.1 $ 59.7 $59.6 $61.3 $234.0

Pension and Other
Postretirement BeneÑts
Payments/
Contributions(4)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $901.7 $35.9(a)(c) $35.8(a)(c) $ 34.3(a)(c) $34.0(a)(c) $33.9(a)(c) $727.8(b)(c)

Our other outstanding purchase obligations as of December 31, 2003 were not deemed to be signiÑcant.

(1) Our $300.0 million debt obligation under our Ñxed-rate notes is repayable in March 2006.

(2) Most of our operations are conducted from leased facilities, which are under operating leases that expire
over the next 10 years, with the majority expiring within Ñve years. We also lease certain computer and
other equipment under operating leases that expire over the next three years. These leases are frequently
renegotiated or otherwise changed as advancements in computer technology present opportunities to
lower costs and improve performance.

(3) In July 2002, we outsourced certain technology functions to CSC under a 10-year agreement, which
D&B may terminate for a fee at any time eÅective after July 2003 and under certain other conditions.
Under the terms of the agreement, CSC is responsible for the data center operations, technology help
desk and network management functions in the United States and in the United Kingdom and for certain
application development and maintenance through July 31, 2012.

In December 2003, we signed a three-year agreement with ICT Group, Inc. (""ICT''), eÅective January
2004, to outsource certain marketing calling activities. D&B may terminate this agreement for a fee at
any time. Under the terms of the agreement, ICT will be responsible for performing certain marketing
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and credit-calling activities previously performed by D&B's own call centers in North America. The
obligation under the contract is based upon transmitted call volumes, but shall not be less than $3 million
per contract year.

(4) Pension and Other Postretirement BeneÑts Payments/Contributions.

(a) Represents projected contributions to our non-U.S. deÑned beneÑt plans as well as projected beneÑt
payments related to our unfunded plans, including the U.S. Non-QualiÑed Plans and our postretire-
ment beneÑt plan. We do not expect to make any contributions to our U.S. QualiÑed Plan.

(b) Represents projected beneÑt payments related to our unfunded plans, including the U.S. Non-
QualiÑed Plans and our postretirement beneÑt plan.

(c) The expected beneÑts are estimated based on the same assumptions used to measure our beneÑt
obligation at the end of 2003 and include beneÑts attributable to estimated future employee service.
A closed group approach is used in calculating the projected beneÑt payments, assuming only the
participants who are currently in the valuation population are included in the projection and the
projected beneÑts continue for approximately 80 years.

Financial Flexibility Program

In February 2004, we announced our intentions to implement the next phase of our Financial Flexibility
program. The actions associated with this phase, which will be implemented continuously throughout 2004,
include continuing to streamline our data acquisition to delivery process, re-engineer business operations in our
international segment, consolidate technology spending, improve controls and increase emphasis on busi-
ness-decision support, and consolidate our purchasing spend worldwide.

These program actions are expected to deliver $70 million to $80 million of savings before any
reallocation of spending. As a result, we expect to incur restructuring charges recognized in accordance with
SFAS No. 146, in 2004, of $30 million to $35 million associated with this series of initiatives. In addition, we
anticipate that we will incur transition costs of between $18 million to $22 million to complete the actions
embedded within the plan.

This re-engineering phase will have a high start-up cost, due to the use of consultants in lieu of in-house
staÅ. As such, we will incur a signiÑcant amount of consulting costs, within Corporate and Other, in the Ñrst
quarter of 2004. In April 2004, we plan on communicating the Ñnal program estimates for each of these
actions including Ñnal annual savings amounts, restructuring charges, transition costs, and headcount
impacted by this series of initiatives.

Share Repurchases and Dividends

In February 2004, we announced that our board of directors authorized a one-year share repurchase
program of up to $200 million, funded with cash on hand and future cash Öow. This program is in addition to
our existing share repurchase program to oÅset the dilutive eÅect of shares issued under employee beneÑt
plans. At current market prices, this represents approximately 6% of shares outstanding. Through February 29,
2004, we repurchased 632,000 shares at an aggregate cost of $33.9 million. At current market prices, when we
complete this program, we will have reduced shares outstanding by over 15% since the beginning of 2001.

We have not paid cash dividends since we separated from Moody's in 2000. After considering all of the
implications of the new U.S. tax laws regarding deductibility of tax dividends, we have decided to continue our
policy not to pay dividends to shareholders.

The Sale of Our Nordic and Indian Operations in 2004

On October 9, 2003, we signed an agreement to sell our operations in Sweden, Denmark, Norway, and
Finland to Bonnier AÅarsinformation AB. On December 1, 2003, the transaction closed and we received
proceeds of $42.7 million, consisting of cash of $35.5 million, notes receivable of $5.9 million and another
receivable of $1.3 million. We will recognize a pre-tax gain of $7.9 million in the Ñrst quarter of 2004.
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On December 13, 2003, we signed an agreement to sell our operations in India and our distribution
channels in Pakistan and the Middle East for $7.7 million. We will recognize a pre-tax gain of approximately
$3.5 million in the Ñrst quarter of 2004. The transaction closed on February 29, 2004.

Potential Payments in Settlement of Tax and Legal Matters

We and our predecessors are involved in certain tax and legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in
the ordinary course of business. These matters are at various stages of resolution, but could ultimately result in
cash payments in the amounts described in ""Item 3. Legal Proceedings.'' We believe we have adequate
reserves recorded in our consolidated Ñnancial statements for our share of current exposures in tax matters.

Pension Plan and Postretirement BeneÑt Plan Contribution Requirements

For Ñnancial statement reporting purposes, the funded status of our pension plans, as determined in
accordance with GAAP, improved to a deÑcit of $165.4 million at December 31, 2003, from a deÑcit of
$252.3 million at December 31, 2002. The improvement was due primarily to gains in the plans' equity
investments and was achieved despite a decrease in interest rates which increased plan liabilities. This is
detailed further in Note 10 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements. The improvement in the funded status is
primarily attributable to the largest of our six plans, the U.S. QualiÑed plan. The funded status of this plan
improved to $101.6 million at December 31, 2003, from $1.3 million at December 31, 2002. For funding
purposes, governed by the Internal Revenue Service regulations, we are not required to contribute to the
U.S. QualiÑed Plan in 2004 as the plan is considered ""fully funded'' under the provisions of the Internal
Revenue Code.

If the U.S. QualiÑed Plan assets remain at current levels, and all other factors aÅecting when
contributions are required remain the same, we would not be required to make contributions to this plan until
2009. If plan assets appreciate between now and 2009, the need to make a required contribution would be
delayed beyond 2009. If plan assets depreciate, we could be required to make contributions sooner than 2009.
In addition, if the U.S. Congress does not pass the Pension Funding Equity Act, we could be required to make
contributions starting in 2007. (This Act includes a provision governing the Current Liability Interest Rate to
be used beginning in 2004 for calculating the Additional Funding Requirement under the Internal Revenue
Code.) Whether or not contributions are required, we may voluntarily make contributions to this plan sooner
than 2007, if allowable under Internal Revenue Code funding provisions.

We expect to continue to make cash contributions to our Ñve other pension plans in 2004. The expected
2004 contribution amount is approximately $19.1 million, compared with approximately $15.5 million in 2003.
In addition, we expect to make beneÑt payment related to our postretirement beneÑt plan of approximately
$16.8 million in 2004. See the table of Contractual Cash Obligations, on page 50, for projected contributions
and beneÑt payments beyond 2004.

OÅ-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Related Party Transactions

We do not have any transactions, obligations or relationships that could be considered oÅ-balance sheet
arrangements. Additionally, we have not engaged in any signiÑcant related-party transactions.

Forward-Looking Statements

We may from time to time make written or oral forward-looking statements, including statements
contained in Ñlings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, in reports to shareholders and in press
releases and investor Webcasts. You can identify these forward-looking statements by use of words like
""anticipates,'' ""aspirations,'' ""believes,'' ""continues,'' ""estimates,'' ""expects,'' ""goals,'' ""guidance,'' ""intends,''
""plans,'' ""projects,'' ""strategy,'' ""targets,'' ""will'' and other words of similar meaning. You can also identify
them by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts.

We cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized, although we believe we have
been prudent in our plans and assumptions. Achievement of future results is subject to risks, uncertainties and
inaccurate assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying
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assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or
projected. Investors should bear this in mind as they consider forward-looking statements and whether to
invest in, or remain invested in, our securities. In connection with the ""safe harbor'' provisions of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, we are identifying in the following paragraphs important factors
that, individually or in the aggregate, could cause actual results to diÅer materially from those contained in any
forward-looking statements made by us; any such statement is qualiÑed by reference to the following
cautionary statements.

Demand for our products is subject to intense competition, changes in customer preferences and, to a
lesser extent, economic conditions. Our results are dependent upon our continued ability to:

‚ reallocate expenses to invest for growth through our Financial Flexibility program;

‚ invest in our database and maintain our reputation for providing reliable data;

‚ execute on our plan to improve the business model of our International segment and thereby improve
our global data quality while realizing improved Ñnancial performance in that segment;

‚ stabilize the decline in the traditional Risk Management Solutions transactional usage;

‚ manage employee satisfaction and maintain our global expertise as we implement our Financial
Flexibility program;

‚ protect against damage or interruptions aÅecting our database or our data centers; and

‚ develop new products or enhance existing ones to meet customer needs.

We are also subject to the eÅects of foreign economies, exchange rate Öuctuations and U.S. and foreign
legislative or regulatory requirements. Our results are also dependent upon the availability of data for our
database. Developments in any of these areas could cause our results to diÅer materially from results that have
been or may be projected.

We elaborate on the above list of important factors throughout this document, particularly in the
discussion of our prominent trends, risks and uncertainties, below. You should understand that it is not
possible to predict or identify all risk factors. Consequently, you should not consider the above list of important
factors or the trends, risks and uncertainties discussed below to be a complete discussion of all our potential
trends, risks and uncertainties. We do not undertake to update any forward-looking statement we may make
from time to time.

Trends, Risks and Uncertainties

We may be unable to achieve our revenue and earnings per share growth targets.

We have established revenue and earnings per share growth targets for 2004 and aspirations for the long
term. While we believe our initiatives to transform our business have established a platform to reach these
goals, we have not yet attained our revenue growth goals. In order to reach our goals, we are undertaking a
number of initiatives to increase our revenue in each of our product lines. For example, in our Risk
Management Solutions product line, we are introducing new report products and pricing options that will
encourage use of our reports and data products, strengthening our automated risk decisioning and portfolio
management solution products and improving the predictiveness of our data and scores for automated risk
management of smaller transactions. While we believe that our initiatives in each product line will be
suÇcient to achieve our desired revenue growth, no assurance can be made as to when or if we will be
successful. A failure to reach our desired revenue growth or to continue to reach our earnings per share growth
could have a material adverse eÅect on the market value of our common stock.
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We may be unable to reduce our expense base through our Financial Flexibility program and the related
reinvestments from savings from this program may not produce the level of desired revenue growth.

Successful execution of our Blueprint for Growth strategy will include reducing our expense base through
our Financial Flexibility program, and reallocating our expense base reductions into initiatives that produce
our desired revenue growth. While we have been successful at reducing our expense base to date, our
reallocations into initiatives have not yet resulted into our desired level of revenue growth. If we fail to
continue to reduce our expense base or if we do not achieve our desired level of revenue growth, the market
value of our common stock may suÅer.

Our results of operations may suÅer if the economy weakens.

Demand for some of our products is inÖuenced by economic trends. As a result of the economic climate,
during the last two Ñscal years, we experienced a reduction in the demand for certain of our products as
customers have looked for ways to reduce their expenses. The eÅect of this reduced demand was felt most
acutely in our project-based revenue in our Sales & Marketing Solutions product line in our International
segment.

Economic weakness may also result in certain of our customers going out of business or combining with
other companies. When companies combine, their post-consolidation spend on our products is invariably less
than their aggregate pre-consolidation spend. In addition, companies may streamline their credit departments,
thus reducing the number of users of our products. Customers may also take longer to make spending
decisions, causing us to expend greater resources and divert sales resources from other opportunities, negotiate
harder on price and seek cheaper alternatives to our products. In challenging economic times, price
competition may increase, which adversely impacts our revenue and proÑt margins.

We may be unable to adapt successfully to changes in our customers' preferences for our products.

Our success depends in part on our ability to adapt our products to our customers' preferences. Advances
in information technology and uncertain or diÇcult economic conditions are changing the way our customers
use business information. As a result, our customers are demanding lower prices and more from our products,
such as decision-making tools like credit scores and electronic delivery formats. For example, our customers
have recently been switching from our traditional products such as the Business Information Report, or BIR,
which generally oÅer raw information, to other lower-priced products that oÅer credit ratings and decisions. If
we do not successfully adapt our products to our customers' preferences, our business, Ñnancial condition and
results of operations would be adversely aÅected.

We face competition that may cause price reductions or loss of market share.

We are subject to highly competitive conditions in all aspects of our business. We compete directly with a
broad range of companies oÅering business information services to customers. Recently, we have faced
increased competition from consumer credit companies that oÅer consumer information products to help their
customers make credit decisions with respect to small businesses. We also face competition from:

‚ the in-house operations of the businesses we seek as customers;

‚ other general and specialized credit reporting and other business information services;

‚ other information and professional service providers; and

‚ credit insurers.

In addition, business information products and services are becoming increasingly available, principally as
a result of the expansion of the Internet and as new providers of business information products and services
emerge. Weak economic conditions have resulted in customers' seeking to utilize free or lower-cost
information that is available from alternative sources such as the Internet. Intense competition could harm us
by causing, among other things, price reductions, reduced gross margins and loss of market share.
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Our operations in Europe and in other regions outside the United States are subject to various risks
associated with operations in foreign countries.

Our success depends in part on our various operations outside the United States. Our International
segment accounted for 31% of our total revenue in 2003. In particular, our business in Europe is subject to
many challenges, the most signiÑcant being:

‚ we do not have market leadership positions in most European countries, making us particularly
susceptible to pricing pressures;

‚ our competition is primarily local, and our customers may have greater loyalty to our local competitors;

‚ credit insurance is a signiÑcant credit risk mitigation tool in many European markets, thus reducing the
demand for information-based credit risk mitigation tools, such as those oÅered by us;

‚ in many local markets in Europe, key data elements are generally available from public-sector sources,
thus reducing our data collection advantage; and

‚ prior to the launch of our Blueprint for Growth strategy in October 2000, our investment decisions were
made at the country level and not in a coordinated fashion across the European marketplace. While we
have made signiÑcant investments to mitigate this situation, we are still faced with uneven data quality
in some local European markets.

Our European strategy includes forming strategic relationships in certain markets with third parties to
improve our data quality. While we are applying methodical processes to ensure these potential alliances will
create a competitive advantage for D&B, there are no assurances that these alliances will be successful.

Our operating results could also be negatively aÅected by a variety of other factors aÅecting our foreign
operations, many of which are beyond our control. These factors include currency Öuctuations, economic,
political or regulatory conditions in a speciÑc country or region, trade protection measures and other regulatory
requirements. Additional risks inherent in our non-U.S. business activities generally include, among others:

‚ longer accounts receivable payment cycles;

‚ the costs and diÇculties of managing international operations;

‚ greater diÇculty enforcing intellectual property rights; and

‚ the need to comply with a broader array of regulatory and licensing requirements, the failure of which
could result in Ñnes, penalties or business suspensions

We could be harmed by a failure in the integrity of our database.

The reliability of our products is dependent upon the integrity of the data in our global database. We have
in the past been subject to customer and third-party inquiries, complaints and lawsuits regarding our data,
including claims based on theories of negligence and libel. A failure in the integrity of our database could
harm us by exposing us to customer or third-party claims or by causing a loss of customer conÑdence in our
products.

Also, we have licensed, and we may license in the future, proprietary rights to third parties. While we
attempt to ensure that the quality of our brand is maintained by the business partners to whom we grant non-
exclusive licenses, they may take actions that could materially and adversely aÅect the value of our proprietary
rights or our reputation. In addition, we cannot assure you that these licensees will take the same steps we
have taken to prevent misappropriation of our solutions or technologies.

We rely on annual contract renewals.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from annual customer contracts. If we are unable to renew
a signiÑcant number of these contracts, our revenue and results of operations would be harmed.
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We may not be able to develop the E-Business component of our strategy.

One component of our Blueprint for Growth strategy is to become an important player on the Web. To
implement this component, we have acquired a Web-based business and are transitioning our business to a
Web-based business model. There are risks associated with a Web-based business model. Some of the risks
are unique to our planned initiatives and others apply to any Web-based business. For example, our business
will suÅer if we are unable to:

‚ successfully utilize marketing to acquire, retain and grow Web-based small-business customers;

‚ successfully accelerate the overall growth of the Hoover's business;

‚ successfully develop new features to justify higher price points for Hoover's services;

‚ develop products that are understandable and easy to use over the Web;

‚ minimize disruptions in our service and other system failures that reduce customer satisfaction;

‚ develop features and sales channels in support of increasing market penetration of large accounts; and

‚ minimize diÇculties that delay or prevent the successful development, introduction and marketing of
our Web-based products.

We may lose key business assets, including loss of data center capacity or the interruption of
telecommunications links or power sources.

Our operations depend on our ability, as well as that of third-party service providers to whom we have
outsourced several critical functions, to protect our data centers and related technology against damage from
Ñre, power loss, telecommunications failure or other disasters. The on-line services we provide are dependent
on links to telecommunications providers. We believe reasonable precautions are in place to protect our data
centers and telecommunications links from events that could interrupt operations. Nonetheless, any damage to
our data centers or any failure of our telecommunications links that causes interruptions in operations could
materially adversely aÅect our ability to meet customers' requirements, which could result in decreased
revenue, net income and earnings per share.

We are dependent upon third parties for certain services.

As part of our Financial Flexibility program, we have outsourced various functions, including certain of
our data center operations and certain development functions. If one of the third-party providers were to
experience Ñnancial or operational diÇculties, their services to us may suÅer.

Data suppliers might withdraw data from us, leading to our inability to provide products and services.

We obtain much of the data that we use from third parties, direct contact with businesses through our call
centers and by purchasing data from public record sources. As we implement business model changes in
various countries in our International segment, we are entering into agreements with a single provider for all of
our local data requirements from those countries. We could suÅer a material adverse eÅect if owners or
providers of the data we use were to withdraw the data, cease making the data available or not adhere to our
data quality requirements. If a substantial number of data providers were to withdraw their data, cease making
it available or not adhere to our data quality standards, our ability to provide products and services to our
customers could be materially adversely impacted, which could result in decreased revenue, net income and
earnings per share.

We are involved in tax and legal proceedings that could have a material eÅect on us.

We are involved in tax and legal proceedings, claims and litigation that arise in the ordinary course of
business. As discussed in greater detail under ""Item 3. Legal Proceedings'' above, certain of these matters
could have a material eÅect on our results of operations, cash Öows or Ñnancial position.

56



Acquisitions may disrupt or otherwise have a negative impact on our business.

As part of our strategy, we may seek to acquire other complementary businesses, products and
technologies. In 2003, we completed the acquisition of Hoover's, Inc. and several data companies in Italy
These and other future acquisitions are subject to the following risks:

‚ acquisitions may cause a disruption in our ongoing business, distract our management and make it
diÇcult to maintain our standards, controls and procedures;

‚ we may not be able to integrate successfully the services, content, products and personnel of any
acquisition into our operations; and

‚ we may not derive the revenue improvements, cost savings and other intended beneÑts of any
acquisition.

Changes in the legislative, regulatory and commercial environments may adversely aÅect our ability to
collect, manage, aggregate and use data.

Certain data and services we provide are subject to regulation by federal, state and local authorities in the
United States, Canada, Europe and certain countries within the Asia PaciÑc and Latin America regions. In
addition, there is increasing awareness and concern among the general public regarding marketing and privacy
concerns, particularly as they relate to consumer privacy and the Internet. This concern is likely to result in
new laws and regulations. Compliance with existing federal, state and local laws and regulations has not to
date seriously aÅected our business, Ñnancial condition or results of operations. Nonetheless, future
international, federal, state and local laws and regulations with respect to the collection, management and use
of data, and adverse publicity or potential litigation concerning the commercial use of such information, may
increasingly aÅect our operations. This could result in substantial regulatory compliance or litigation expense
or a loss of revenue.

Changes in the legislative or regulatory environments may adversely aÅect our beneÑts plans.

On February 12, 2004, the United States District Court for the Southern District of Illinois aÇrmed its
earlier ruling that the cash balance formula used in IBM's pension plan violated the age discrimination
provisions under ERISA. This decision, however, conÖicts with the decisions of two other district courts and
with proposed regulations for cash balance plans issued by Treasury and the IRS in December 2002. In
addition, on February 2, 2004, the Treasury Department proposed legislation that would clarify that cash
balance plans do not violate the age discrimination rules that apply to pension plans as long as they treat older
workers at least as well as younger workers. IBM has announced that it will appeal the decision to the Seventh
Circuit Court of Appeals. The retirement account formula used for our pension plan may not meet the
standard set forth in the IBM Court's decision. The IBM decision may have an impact on D&B's and other
companies' cash balance pension plans. The eÅect of the IBM decision on our cash balance plan or our
Ñnancial position has not been determined at this time.

Item 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Information in response to this Item is set forth under the caption ""Market Risk'' in Part II, Item 7, on
pages 45 to 46 of this Form 10-K.
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Shareholders of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation:

We have prepared and are responsible for the consolidated Ñnancial statements and related information
that appear on pages 61 to 104. The consolidated Ñnancial statements, which include amounts based on the
estimates of management, have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. Other Ñnancial information in this annual report is consistent with that in the
consolidated Ñnancial statements.

We believe that our internal control systems provide reasonable assurance at reasonable cost that assets
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and that the Ñnancial records are reliable for
preparing Ñnancial statements and maintaining accountability for assets. These systems are augmented by
written policies, an organizational structure providing division of responsibilities, careful selection and training
of qualiÑed Ñnancial personnel and a program of internal audits.

The independent auditors are engaged to conduct an audit of, and render an opinion on, the Ñnancial
statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in the United States of America. These
standards include an assessment of the systems of internal controls and tests of transactions to the extent
considered necessary by them to support their opinion.

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee, consisting solely of non-employee directors, is
responsible for reviewing and monitoring our Ñnancial reporting and accounting practices. Price-
waterhouseCoopers LLP and the internal auditors each have full and free access to the Audit Committee and
meet with it regularly, with and without management.

/s/ ALLAN Z. LOREN

Allan Z. Loren
Chairman and Chief Executive OÇcer

/s/ SARA MATHEW

Sara Mathew
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial OÇcer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders' equity and cash Öows present fairly, in all material respects, the Ñnancial position of
The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of its operations and its
cash Öows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These Ñnancial statements are the responsibil-
ity of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Ñnancial statements
based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Ñnancial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Ñnancial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and signiÑcant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall Ñnancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

As discussed in Notes 1 and 3, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 146, ""Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,'' in 2003,
and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, ""Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,'' in 2002.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Florham Park, NJ
March 4, 2004
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THE DUN & BRADSTREET CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share
data)

Operating RevenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,386.4 $ 1,275.6 $ 1,304.6

Operating Expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 433.3 392.1 441.2

Selling and Administrative ExpensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 579.9 512.5 523.5

Depreciation and Amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 64.0 84.2 94.5

Restructuring Expense Ì Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17.4 30.9 28.8

Reorganization Costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (7.0)

Operating Costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,094.6 1,019.7 1,081.0

Operating Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 291.8 255.9 223.6

Interest Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.2 3.0 5.5

Interest ExpenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (18.6) (19.5) (16.4)

Minority Interest ExpenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (5.4)

Other Income (Expense) Ì Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.0 (0.2) 46.3

Non-Operating Income (Expense) Ì Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11.4) (16.7) 30.0

Income before Provision for Income Taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 280.4 239.2 253.6

Provision for Income Taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 106.2 94.1 100.2

Equity in Net Income (Losses) of AÇliates ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.3 (1.7) (3.5)

Net IncomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 174.5 $ 143.4 $ 149.9

Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.37 $ 1.93 $ 1.89

Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.30 $ 1.87 $ 1.84

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding Ì Basic ÏÏÏÏÏ 73,490,000 74,511,000 79,391,000

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding Ì Diluted ÏÏÏ 75,826,000 76,874,000 81,510,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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THE DUN & BRADSTREET CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, December 31,
 2003 2002

(Dollar amounts in
millions,

except per share data)

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and Cash EquivalentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 239.0 $ 191.9
Accounts Receivable Ì Net of Allowance of $21.8 at December 31, 2003 and $23.0 at

December 31, 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 355.8 334.9
Other ReceivablesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 41.5 48.3
Assets Held for SaleÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 52.6 Ì
Other Current Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 41.9 39.1

Total Current Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 730.8 614.2

Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 55.1 149.7
Prepaid Pension Costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 414.5 367.3
Computer Software, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47.2 69.5
Goodwill, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 256.9 183.3
Deferred Income TaxÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 56.0 81.9
Other Non-Current Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 64.2 61.8

Total Non-Current AssetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 893.9 913.5

Total Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,624.7 $1,527.7

Current Liabilities
Accounts and Notes PayableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 50.9 $ 47.4
Accrued Payroll ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 101.2 102.2
Accrued Income Tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 49.3 49.3
Liabilities Held for SaleÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13.9 Ì
Other Accrued and Current Liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 129.3 152.1
Deferred RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 391.3 367.1

Total Current Liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 735.9 718.1

Pension and Postretirement BeneÑtsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 459.9 441.5
Long Term DebtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 299.9 299.9
Other Non-Current Liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 80.6 87.0

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12 and Note 13)

Shareholders' Equity
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value per share, authorized Ì 10,000,000 shares;

Ì outstanding Ì none
Series Common Stock, $.01 par value per share, authorized Ì 10,000,000 shares;

Ì outstanding Ì none
Common Stock, $.01 par value per share, authorized Ì 200,000,000 shares

Ì issued Ì 81,945,520 sharesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.8 0.8
Unearned Compensation Restricted Stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3.3) (0.6)
Capital Surplus ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 204.4 218.7
Retained EarningsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 458.5 284.0
Treasury Stock, at cost, 9,692,002 shares at December 31, 2003 and 7,586,604 shares at

December 31, 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (341.6) (240.3)
Cumulative Translation AdjustmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (177.3) (194.2)
Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (93.1) (87.2)

Total Shareholders' Equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48.4 (18.8)

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,624.7 $1,527.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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THE DUN & BRADSTREET CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Dollar amounts in millions
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 174.5 $ 143.4 $ 149.9
Reconciliation of Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation and Amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 64.0 84.2 94.5
Loss from Sale of Real EstateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13.8 Ì Ì
Loss (Gain) from Sales of Businesses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.1 (5.0) (56.3)
Income Tax BeneÑt due to Exercise of Stock Incentive Plans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12.4 5.4 7.7
Equity (Gains) Losses in Excess of Dividends Received from AÇliatesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.3) 1.7 3.5
Deferred Revenue from RMS Agreement ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 30.4
Restructuring Expense, Net and Other Asset Impairments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17.4 30.9 46.6
Restructuring Payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (30.0) (31.3) (40.6)
Deferred Income Taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35.5 10.2 48.2
Accrued Income Taxes, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10.6 59.8 (7.0)
Changes in Current Assets and Liabilities:

(Increase) Decrease in Accounts Receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (9.3) 2.0 30.7
Net (Increase) Decrease in Other Current Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1.2) 2.2 0.4
Net Increase (Decrease) in Deferred RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.5 (8.3) (8.5)
Net Decrease in Accounts PayableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (1.5) (11.8)
Net Decrease in Accrued LiabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (24.9) (37.1) (16.2)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Other Accrued and Current Liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7.2) (7.3) 5.3

Changes in Non-Current Assets and Liabilities:
Increase in Other Long-Term Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (36.7) (23.4) (61.4)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Long-Term Liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.4 (15.7) 0.8

Other Non-Cash Adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.1 2.9 0.9

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 235.7 213.1 217.1

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Cash Proceeds from Sales of Real Estate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 80.2 21.5 Ì
Net Investments in Marketable Securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.3 (4.5) Ì
Cash Proceeds from Sales of Businesses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.6 4.8 118.2
Payments for Acquisitions of Businesses, Net of Cash Acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (98.0) (21.2) (34.5)
Cash Settlements of Foreign Currency Contracts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (14.6) (1.1) (2.4)
Capital ExpendituresÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11.0) (15.8) (16.2)
Additions to Computer Software and Other Intangibles ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (19.3) (37.7) (37.0)
Net Assets Held for Sales of Businesses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (9.9) Ì Ì
Investments in Unconsolidated AÇliates ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1.9) (0.9) (11.3)
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.3 (0.3) 7.1

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (65.3) (55.2) 23.9

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Payments for Purchase of Treasury Shares ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (156.1) (117.7) (144.9)
Net Proceeds from Stock PlansÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 23.4 12.1 19.0
Decrease in Commercial Paper Borrowings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (49.5)
Repayment of Minority Interest Obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (300.0)
Increase in Long-Term BorrowingsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 299.6
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.1) 0.9 (1.6)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (132.8) (104.7) (177.4)

EÅect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.5 (6.6) 11.6

Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47.1 46.6 75.2
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 191.9 145.3 70.1

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 239.0 $ 191.9 $ 145.3

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash Paid:

Income Taxes, Net of Refunds ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 47.5 $ 28.3 $ 49.5
Interest Expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 17.2 $ 18.5 $ 11.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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THE DUN & BRADSTREET CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Three Years Ended December 31, 2003

Unearned Minimum
Common Compensation Cumulative Pension Total Comprehensive
Stock Restricted Capital Retained Treasury Translation Liability Shareholders' Income

($.01 Par Value) Stock Surplus Earnings Stock Adjustment Adjustment Equity (Loss)

(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Balance, January 1, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $0.8 $(1.9) $241.1 $ (5.1) $ (45.3) $(203.7) $(32.4) $ (46.5)

Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 149.9 149.9 $149.9
Treasury Shares Reissued Under Stock Options,

Deferred, and Other Compensation Plans and
Restricted Stock Plan (1,429,185) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1.0) (13.8) 37.8 23.0

Treasury Shares Reissued Under Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (142,673) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.5) 3.7 3.2

Treasury Shares Acquired (4,848,473)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (144.9) (144.9)
Stock Dividend to Shareholders of Moody's ÏÏÏÏÏ (3.5) (3.5)
Amortization of Restricted Stock Awards ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.1 1.1
Change in Minimum Pension Liability

Adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1.2) (1.2) (1.2)
Unrealized Losses on Investments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)

Total Comprehensive Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $148.6

Balance, December 31, 2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.8 (1.8) 227.3 140.7 (148.7) (203.7) (33.6) (19.0)

Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 143.4 143.4 $143.4
Treasury Shares Reissued Under Stock Options,

Deferred, and Other Compensation Plans and
Restricted Stock Plan (714,937)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8.6) 22.3 13.7

Treasury Shares Reissued Under Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (120,894) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.8 3.8

Treasury Shares Acquired (3,355,200)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (117.7) (117.7)
Amortization of Restricted Stock Awards ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.2 1.2
Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment ÏÏ 9.5 9.5 9.5
Change in Minimum Pension Liability

Adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (53.6) (53.6) (53.6)
Unrealized Losses on Investments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)

Total Comprehensive Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 99.2

Balance, December 31, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.8 (0.6) 218.7 284.0 (240.3) (194.2) (87.2) (18.8)

Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 174.5 174.5 $174.5
Treasury Shares Reissued Under Stock Options,

Deferred, and Other Compensation Plans and
Restricted Stock Plan (1,545,362) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5.1) (14.3) 51.5 32.1

Treasury Shares Reissued Under Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (108,440) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.6 3.6

Treasury Shares Acquired (3,759,200)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (156.1) (156.1)
Amortization of Restricted Stock Awards ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.1 2.1
Restricted Stock Surrendered ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.3 (0.3) Ì
Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment ÏÏ 16.9 16.9 16.9
Change in Minimum Pension Liability

Adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5.9) (5.9) (5.9)

Total Comprehensive Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $185.5

Balance, December 31, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $0.8 $(3.3) $204.4 $458.5 $(341.6) $(177.3) $(93.1) $ 48.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of SigniÑcant Accounting Policies

Description of Business. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (""D&B'' or ""we'') provides the informa-
tion, tools and expertise to help our customers ""Decide with ConÑdence.'' We enable customers' quick access
to objective, global information. Customers use Risk Management Solutions to manage credit exposure, Sales
& Marketing Solutions to Ñnd proÑtable customers and Supply Management Solutions to manage suppliers
eÅectively. Our E-Business SolutionsTM help customers convert prospects to clients faster.

Basis of Presentation. The consolidated Ñnancial statements include our accounts, as well as those of
our subsidiaries and investments in which we have a controlling interest. Investments in companies over which
we have signiÑcant inÖuence but not a controlling interest are carried on an equity basis. Investments over
which we do not have signiÑcant inÖuence are recorded at cost. We periodically review our investments to
determine if there has been any impairment judged to be other than temporary. Such impairments are
recorded as write-downs in the statement of operations. The eÅects of all signiÑcant intercompany transactions
have been eliminated.

The Ñnancial statements of subsidiaries in our International segment reÖect a Ñscal year ended
November 30 to facilitate timely reporting of our consolidated Ñnancial results and Ñnancial position.

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassiÑed to conform to the 2003 presentation.

The preparation of Ñnancial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that aÅect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Ñnancial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. As discussed throughout this Note 1, we base our
estimates on historical experience, current conditions and various other factors that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. SigniÑcant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include
valuation allowances for receivables and deferred income tax assets; liabilities for potential tax deÑciencies and
potential litigation claims and settlements; assets and obligations related to employee beneÑts; allocation of the
purchase price in acquisition accounting; long-term asset recoverability; revenue deferrals; and restructuring
charges. Actual results could diÅer from those estimates under diÅerent assumptions or conditions.

SigniÑcant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Our Risk Management Solutions products are generally sold under monthly or
annual contracts that enable a customer to purchase D&B information products during the period of contract
at prices per an agreed price list, up to the contracted dollar limit. Revenue on these contracts is recognized as
products are delivered to the customer based on the per-product price. Any additional products purchased over
this limit may be subject to pricing variations and are billed to the customer as products are delivered. If
customers do not use the full value of their contract and forfeit the unused portion, we recognize the forfeited
amount as revenue at contract expiration.

We have a limited number of contracts for large customers at a Ñxed contract price for which our
customers have unlimited use, subject to certain conditions, of the Risk Management Solutions products. In
these instances, we recognize revenue ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally one year.

Revenue related to services provided over the contract term (e.g., monitoring services) is recognized
ratably over the contract period, typically one year.

For Sales & Marketing Solutions and Supply Management Solutions products, we generally recognize
revenue upon delivery of the information Ñle to the customer. For arrangements that include periodic updates
to that information Ñle over the contract term, the portion of the revenue related to updates expected to be
delivered is deferred and recognized as the updates are delivered, usually on a quarterly or monthly basis. For
subscription products that provide continuous access to D&B's generic marketing information and business
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reference databases, as well as any access fees or hosting fees related to enabling customers access to D&B
information, revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally one year.

We have certain product oÅerings that are sold as multi-element arrangements. The multiple elements
may include information Ñles, Ñle updates for certain products, software, and/or services. Revenue for each
element is recognized when that element is delivered to the customer based upon the fair value for each
element. For oÅerings that include software that is considered to be more than incidental, we recognize
revenue when a non-cancelable license agreement has been signed and the product has been shipped.
Maintenance revenues, which consist of fees for ongoing support and software updates, are recognized ratably
over the term of the contract, typically one year, when the maintenance for the software is considered
signiÑcant. When maintenance is insigniÑcant, we recognize the revenue associated with the software and
maintenance when the agreement is signed and product is shipped.

Revenues from consulting and training services are recognized as the services are performed.

Amounts billed in advance are recorded as deferred revenue on the balance sheet.

Sales Cancellations & Allowance for Bad Debts. In determining sales cancellation allowances, we
analyze historical trends, customer-speciÑc factors, current economic trends and changes in customer demand.
With respect to estimating bad debt allowances, we analyze the aging of accounts receivable, historical bad
debts, customer creditworthiness and current economic trends.

Restructuring Charges. Prior to January 1, 2003, we established restructuring reserves in accordance
with Emerging Issues Task Force (""EITF'') Issue No. 94-3, ""Liability Recognition for Certain Employee
Termination BeneÑts and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructur-
ing).'' Under EITF Issue No. 94-3 we considered the number of individuals who will be aÅected by severance
programs, the expected date of their termination and the expected cash payments to be made. We recognized
the estimated cost and liability associated with employee terminations when:

‚ our board of directors has approved a plan, which can be implemented within one year, specifying the
number of employees to be terminated, their job classiÑcations or functions, and their location and
established termination beneÑts; and

‚ we have communicated beneÑts to the aÅected employees.

In determining lease termination obligations, we considered the expected date of termination and the
eÅect of any sub-lease rental income, if any, for the respective properties. We recognized the cost when
management committed to the plan.

EÅective January 1, 2003, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (""SFAS'') No. 146,
""Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.'' SFAS No. 146 addresses Ñnancial
accounting and reporting for costs associated with restructuring activities, including severance and lease
termination obligations. It nulliÑes EITF Issue No. 94-3. The principal diÅerence between SFAS No. 146 and
EITF Issue No. 94-3 is in the timing of liability recognition. Under SFAS No. 146 we establish a liability for a
cost associated with an exit or disposal activity, including severance and lease termination obligations, when
the liability is incurred, rather than at the date that we commit to an exit plan. The adoption of SFAS No. 146
has resulted in expense recognition over a period of time rather than at one time for the restructuring activities
that we have undertaken after December 31, 2002.

Under both EITF Issue No. 94-3 and SFAS No. 146, we reassess the expected cost to complete the exit
or disposal activities at the end of each reporting period and adjust our remaining estimated liabilities, if
necessary.

Employee BeneÑt Plans. We oÅer deÑned beneÑt pension plans to substantially all of our employees in
our operations in the U.S. as well as certain of our International operations. The plans provide beneÑts that are
based on the employees' average annual compensation, age and years of service. We also provide various
health care and life insurance beneÑts for our retired employees. We use actuarial assumptions to calculate
pension and beneÑt costs as well as pension assets and liabilities included in our consolidated Ñnancial
statements. See Note 10.
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Income Taxes. Income taxes are determined in accordance with SFAS No. 109, ""Accounting for
Income Taxes,'' which requires recognition of deferred income tax liabilities and assets for the expected future
tax consequences of events that have been included in the consolidated Ñnancial statements or tax returns.
Under this method, deferred income tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the diÅerence between
Ñnancial statement and tax basis of liabilities and assets using enacted tax rates in eÅect for the year in which
the diÅerences are expected to reverse. SFAS No. 109 also provides for the recognition of deferred tax assets if
it is more likely than not that the assets will be realized in future years. We have established a valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets for which realization is not likely. In assessing the valuation allowance, we
have considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.

Legal and Tax Contingencies. We are involved in tax and legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising
in the ordinary course of business. We periodically assess our liabilities and contingencies in connection with
these matters, based upon the latest information available. For those matters where it is probable that we have
incurred a loss and the loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated, we have recorded reserves in the
consolidated Ñnancial statements. In other instances, because of the uncertainties related to both the probable
outcome and amount or range of loss, we are unable to make a reasonable estimate of a liability, if any. As
additional information becomes available, we adjust our assessment and estimates of such liabilities
accordingly.

Cash Equivalents. Marketable securities that mature within 90 days of purchase date are considered
cash equivalents and are stated at cost, which approximates fair value.

Marketable Securities and Restricted Assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 115, ""Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,'' certain of our marketable securities are classiÑed as
""available for sale'' and are reported at fair value, with net unrealized gains and losses reported in
shareholders' equity. We also had marketable securities that are classiÑed as ""held to maturity'' and are
reported at cost.

The fair value of current and non-current marketable securities is based on quoted market prices.
Realized gains and losses on marketable securities are determined on the speciÑc identiÑcation method.

At December 31, 2003, we had short-term ""held to maturity'' and long-term ""available for sale''
securities of $5.1 million and $6.7 million, respectively. At December 31, 2002, we had short-term and long-
term ""held to maturity'' debt securities of $4.5 million and $0.1 million, respectively. They are included in
""Other Current Assets'' and ""Other Non-Current Assets,'' respectively.

In addition, we had restricted assets of $15.5 million and $24.5 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, held in grantor trusts primarily to fund certain pension obligations (see Note 10). At
December 31, 2003, the restricted assets solely consisted of cash. At December 31, 2002, these restricted
assets consisted of cash of $21.9 million and ""available for sale'' marketable debt securities of $2.6 million.
Such amounts are included in ""Other Non-Current Assets.''

Property, Plant and Equipment. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated principally using the
straight-line method. Buildings are depreciated over a period of 40 years. Equipment is depreciated over a
period of three to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvement.

Computer Software. We account for computer software used in our business in accordance with
Statement of Position (""SOP'') 98-1, ""Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or
Obtained for Internal Use.'' In addition, certain computer software costs related to software sold to customers
are capitalized in accordance with SFAS No. 86, ""Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold,
Leased or Otherwise Marketed,'' as appropriate. Capitalized computer software costs are amortized over its
estimated useful life, typically three to Ñve years and are reported at the lower of unamortized cost or net
realizable value. We review the valuation of capitalized software whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Factors that could trigger an impairment
review include signiÑcant changes in the manner of use of the assets or strategic decisions made relating to
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future plans for those assets, as well as consideration of future operating results, signiÑcant negative industry
trends or economic trends.

Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale. We classify assets and liabilities (""disposal group'') as held for
sale in the period in which all of the following criteria are met: (i) management, having the authority to
approve the action, commits to a plan to sell the disposal group, (ii) the disposal group is available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such
disposal groups, (iii) an active program to locate a buyer and other actions required to complete the plan to
sell the disposal group have been initiated, (iv) the sale of the disposal group is probable and transfer of the
disposal group is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale, within one year, (v) the disposal
group is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair value, and
(vi) actions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that signiÑcant changes to the plan will be
made or that the plan will be withdrawn.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the fair value
of identiÑable net assets of businesses acquired. Prior to January 1, 2002, goodwill was amortized on a straight-
line basis over Ñve to 40 years. Other intangibles, resulting from acquisitions, are being amortized using the
straight-line method, over three to 15 years.

EÅective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, ""Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.'' SFAS
No. 142 addresses Ñnancial accounting and reporting for intangible assets acquired individually or with a group
of other assets (not constituting a business combination) at acquisition. SFAS No. 142 also addresses
Ñnancial accounting and reporting for goodwill and other intangible assets subsequent to their acquisition.
Under the new rules, we are no longer required to amortize goodwill and other intangible assets with indeÑnite
lives as a charge to earnings. Rather, our goodwill is subject to periodic testing for impairment at the reporting
unit level. We consider our operating segments, North America and International, as our reporting units under
the deÑnitions of SFAS No. 142 for consideration of potential impairment of intangible and goodwill balances.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more often, if an event or circumstance indicates that an
impairment loss has been incurred. We assess the recoverability of our goodwill at the reporting unit level. We
consider our operating segments, North America and International as our reporting units for these analyses.
We estimated the fair value of the reporting unit upon adoption and in our periodic reviews using a revenue
multiple. Based on our analyses at the time of adoption and at December 31, 2003 and 2002, no impairment
charges related to goodwill and other intangible assets with indeÑnite lives have been recognized.

The adoption of SFAS No. 142 resulted in a $5.3 million reduction in amortization expense in 2002
compared with 2001, of which approximately $1.6 million is attributable to North America and $3.7 million is
attributable to International.

The pro forma impact of this accounting policy change is outlined in the table below:

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Reported Net IncomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $174.5 $143.4 $149.9

Add Back: Goodwill Amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 5.3

Adjusted Net IncomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $174.5 $143.4 $155.2

Reported Basic EPSÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.37 $ 1.93 $ 1.89

Add Back: Goodwill Amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì .06

Adjusted Basic EPS ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.37 $ 1.93 $ 1.95

Reported Diluted EPS ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.30 $ 1.87 $ 1.84

Add Back: Goodwill Amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì .06

Adjusted Diluted EPS ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.30 $ 1.87 $ 1.90
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Foreign Currency Translation. For all operations outside the United States where we have designated
the local currency as the functional currency, assets and liabilities are translated using the end-of-year
exchange rates, and revenues and expenses are translated using average exchange rates for the year. For these
countries, currency translation adjustments are accumulated in a separate component of shareholders' equity,
whereas realized transaction gains and losses are recognized in other income (expense) Ì net. Transaction
losses were less than $0.3 million, $0.1 million and $1.6 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Earnings per Share of Common Stock. In accordance with SFAS No. 128, ""Earnings per Share''
(""EPS''), basic EPS are calculated based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted EPS are calculated giving eÅect to all potentially dilutive
common shares, assuming such shares were outstanding during the reporting period. The diÅerence between
basic and diluted EPS is solely attributable to stock options. We use the Treasury Stock method to calculate
the impact of outstanding stock options.

Stock-Based Compensation. Our stock-based compensation plans are described more fully in Note 11.
We account for those plans under the recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25
""Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees'' (""APB No. 25''), and related interpretations. Accordingly, no
stock-based employee compensation cost is reÖected in net income for our outstanding stock options as all
options granted under our plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common
stock on the date of grant. Also, no stock-based compensation cost is reÖected in our net income for our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The cost associated with our restricted stock grants, stock appreciation rights
and restricted stock units is included in net income.

The following table summarizes the pro forma eÅect of stock-based compensation on net income and net
income per share as if the fair value expense recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, ""Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation,'' as amended by SFAS No. 148, ""Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Ì
Transition and Disclosure,'' had been adopted.

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Net Income, as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $174.5 $143.4 $149.9

Add: Stock compensation cost included in net income, net of tax
beneÑts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.8 0.7 0.7

Deduct: Total stock compensation cost under fair-value method
for all awards, net of tax beneÑts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (10.5) (7.7) (6.9)

Pro forma Net IncomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $165.8 $136.4 $143.7

Basic EPS:

As reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.37 $ 1.93 $ 1.89

Pro formaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.25 $ 1.83 $ 1.81

Diluted EPS:

As reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.30 $ 1.87 $ 1.84

Pro formaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.18 $ 1.77 $ 1.76

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

2003 2002 2001

Expected dividend yield ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0% 0% 0%

Expected stock volatility ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30% 30% 30%

Risk-free interest rateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.94% 3.98% 4.52%

Expected holding period (years)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.9 5.0 4.9

Weighted average fair value of options grantedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $11.08 $11.82 $11.30
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Financial Instruments. We have adopted SFAS No. 133, ""Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities,'' as amended by SFAS No. 137, ""Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities Ì Deferral of the EÅective Date of Financial Accounting Standards Board (""FASB'') Statement
No. 133 an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133'' and SFAS No. 138, ""Accounting for Certain
Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities'' commencing January 1, 2001. These statements
require recognition of all derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and the measurement of
those instruments at fair value.

We use foreign exchange forward and option contracts to hedge cross-border intercompany transactions
and certain non-U.S. earnings. These forward and option contracts are marked to market and gains and losses
are recorded as other income or expense. In addition, foreign exchange forward controls are used to hedge
certain of our foreign net investment. The gains and losses associated with these contracts are recorded in
""Cumulative Translation Adjustments,'' a component of equity.

We use interest rate swap agreements to hedge long-term Ñxed-rate debt. When executed, we designate
the swaps as fair-value hedges and assess whether the swaps are highly eÅective in oÅsetting changes in the
fair value of the hedged debt. We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and
hedged items, and we have documented policies for our risk management exposures. Changes in derivative fair
values marked to market and changes that are designated fair-value hedges are recognized in earnings. The
eÅectiveness of the hedge accounting is monitored on an ongoing basis, and if considered ineÅective, we will
discontinue hedge accounting prospectively. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 did not have a material impact on
our consolidated results of operations and Ñnancial position.

Note 2. Recent Accounting Announcements

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, ""Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.'' This
standard requires that obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets be recorded as
liabilities when those obligations are incurred, with the amount of the liability initially measured at fair value.
Upon initially recognizing a liability for an asset retirement obligation, an entity must capitalize the cost by
recognizing an increase in the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, this liability is
accreted to its present value, and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset.
Upon settlement of the liability, an entity either settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain
or loss upon settlement. As of January 1, 2003, we have adopted the provision of SFAS No. 143 and the
standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated Ñnancial statements.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, ""Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets,'' which supercedes SFAS No. 121, ""Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and
for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.'' SFAS No. 144 applies to all long-lived assets, including
discontinued operations, and consequently amends APB Opinion No. 30, ""Reporting the Results of
Operations Ì Reporting the EÅects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.'' SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets that are to be
disposed of by sale be measured at the lower of book value or fair value less cost to sell. Additionally, SFAS
No. 144 expands the scope of discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations
that (1) can be distinguished from the rest of the entity and (2) will be eliminated from the ongoing
operations of the entity in a disposal transaction. As of January 1, 2002, we have adopted the provision of
SFAS No. 144. As discussed in Note 3, during 2002, we recognized impairment losses of $10.6 million related
to assets being sold or abandoned during the year as a result of actions taken under our Financial Flexibility
program.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, ""Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities.'' SFAS No. 149 clariÑes the accounting and reporting for derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities
under SFAS No. 133, ""Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.'' In particular, SFAS
No. 149 clariÑes under what circumstances a contract with an initial net investment meets the characteristic
of a derivative as described in SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is generally eÅective for derivative instruments
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entered into or modiÑed after June 30, 2003 and for hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003. The
adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have a material impact on our consolidated Ñnancial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, ""Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.'' SFAS No. 150 requires certain Ñnancial instruments that have
both equity and liability characteristics to be classiÑed as a liability on the balance sheet. The adoption of
SFAS No. 150, beginning July 1, 2003 did not have a material impact on our consolidated Ñnancial
statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (""FIN'') No. 45, ""Guarantor's Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness to Others,''
which expands previously issued accounting guidance and disclosure requirements for certain guarantees.
Under the provisions of FIN No. 45, we are required to recognize an initial liability for the fair value of an
obligation assumed by issuing a guarantee. The provision for initial recognition and measurement of the
liability has been applied on a prospective basis to all guarantees issued or modiÑed after December 31, 2002.
Guarantees issued or modiÑed during year-ended December 31, 2003 did not have a material impact on our
consolidated Ñnancial statements.

D&B is potentially liable for certain tax matters and a legal proceedings. See Note 13 of our consolidated
Ñnancial statements for a discussion of our obligations with respect to these matters.

Additionally, in the normal course of business, D&B indemniÑes other parties, including customers,
lessors and parties to other transactions with D&B, with respect to certain matters. D&B has agreed to hold
the other party harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations or covenants, or out of other
claims made against certain parties. These agreements may limit the time within which an indemniÑcation
claim can be made and the amount of the claim. D&B has also entered into indemnity obligations with its
oÇcers and directors of the company. Additionally, in certain circumstances, D&B issues guarantee letters on
behalf of our wholly owned subsidiaries for speciÑc situations. It is not possible to determine the maximum
potential amount of future payments under these indemniÑcation agreements due to the limited history of
prior indemniÑcation claims and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement.
Historically, payments made by D&B under these agreements have not had a material impact on our
consolidated Ñnancial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, ""Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,'' which
amended Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, ""Consolidated Financial Statements,'' and established
standards for determining the circumstances under which a variable interest entity (""VIE'') should be
consolidated with its primary beneÑciary. FIN No. 46 also requires disclosure about VIEs that we are not
required to consolidate but in which we have a signiÑcant variable interest. The consolidation requirements of
FIN No. 46 apply immediately to VIEs created after January 31, 2003. The consolidation requirements apply
to older entities in the Ñrst Ñscal year or interim period beginning after December 31, 2003. We have reviewed
FIN No. 46 to determine its impact on future periods, and do not expect any material accounting or disclosure
requirements under this interpretation.

In November 2002, the EITF reached a Ñnal consensus on Issue No. 00-21, ""Revenue Arrangements
with Multiple Elements'' (""EITF Issue No. 00-21''), which provides guidance on how arrangement
consideration should be measured, whether the arrangement should be divided into separate units of
accounting, and how the arrangement consideration should be allocated among the separate units of
accounting. EITF Issue No. 00-21 also requires a description of multiple-element arrangements and disclosure
of the accounting policy for recognition of revenue from these arrangements. The guidance of EITF Issue
No. 00-21 is eÅective for revenue arrangements entered into in Ñscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003.
We have reviewed our revenue recognition practices with respect to multiple deliverables. The adoption of
EITF Issue No. 00-21 did not have a material impact on our current revenue recognition practices and did not
have a material impact on our consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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Note 3. Impact of Implementation of the Blueprint for Growth Strategy and Other Transactions

Restructuring Charges

Following our separation from Moody's in October 2000, we launched a new business strategy, the
Blueprint for Growth. One component of this strategy is a structured process we call ""Creating Financial
Flexibility,'' during which we identify activities that will improve our performance, both in terms of cost and
quality, as a result of eliminating, consolidating, standardizing, automating and/or outsourcing operations of
our business.

Since the launch of our Blueprint for Growth strategy, we have implemented four phases of Financial
Flexibility initiatives. In each of these phases, we have incurred a restructuring charge, which generally
consists of employee severance and termination costs, asset write-oÅs, and/or costs to terminate lease
obligations.

During 2003, we recorded $17.4 million of restructuring charges in connection with the fourth phase of
our Financial Flexibility program. The charge includes $17.1 million for severance and termination costs
related to approximately 500 employees (including a $0.5 million pension plan curtailment charge due to the
fourth phase as discussed in the following paragraph) and $0.3 million for lease termination obligations. As of
September 30, 2003, all of the approximately 500 employees had been terminated under the fourth phase of
our Financial Flexibility program.

In accordance with SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No. 88, we are required to recognize a one-time curtailment
charge for the estimated pension expense impact to the Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Retirement Account
(the ""U.S. QualiÑed Plan'') related to the headcount actions of the fourth phase of our Financial Flexibility
program announced on January 13, 2003. The curtailment accounting requirement of SFAS No. 88 requires
us to recognize immediately a pro-rata portion of the unrecognized prior service cost and the cost of any
special charges related to beneÑt enhancements that might occur as a result of the layoÅs (e.g., full vesting).
For the U.S. QualiÑed Plan, these items together resulted in an immediate curtailment charge to earnings of
$0.5 million in the Ñrst quarter 2003, which is included in the $17.1 million severance and termination charge
described above.

During the second quarter of 2002, we recognized a $30.9 million restructuring charge in connection with
the third phase of our Financial Flexibility program. The charge included $18.6 million for severance and
termination costs relating to approximately 1,050 employees, $10.6 million for the loss on asset disposals and
the write-oÅ of assets that were abandoned (including $9.7 million from the outsourcing discussed in the
following paragraph), and $1.7 million for lease termination obligations.

As part of this third phase of the Financial Flexibility program, we outsourced certain technology
functions to Computer Sciences Corporation (""CSC''). Under the terms of the agreement, approximately 400
D&B employees who performed data center operations, technology help desk and network management
functions in the United States and in the United Kingdom were transitioned to CSC. In addition, as part of
the agreement, CSC acquired our data center and print-mail facility located in Berkeley Heights, New Jersey,
and related assets for $10 million, which we considered the fair value for the assets. This resulted in a
$9.7 million impairment loss noted above.

During the second quarter of 2001, we incurred a $32.8 million restructuring charge to re-engineer
administrative functions and institute common business practices worldwide, comprised of $20.7 million for
severance costs related to approximately 800 employees, $3.2 million for lease termination obligations and
$8.9 million for the write-oÅ of assets that were abandoned in the consolidation of oÇces, primarily in Europe.
During 2001, we also reversed $4.0 million of the charge taken in 2000 related to the Ñrst phase of our
Financial Flexibility program. We determined that severance for 50 people would not be utilized, due to
higher than anticipated voluntary attrition ($2.9 million), and that the remaining lease termination obligations
were lower than originally estimated as a result of more favorable market conditions and higher than
anticipated sub-lease rent ($1.1 million).
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As of December 31, 2003, we have terminated approximately 3,200 employees under all four phases of
the Financial Flexibility program, including the approximately 400 employees who were transitioned to CSC,
as mentioned above. This will bring the total number of employees terminated (via termination and voluntary
attrition) in connection with the four phases of the Financial Flexibility program, since its inception in
October 2000, to approximately 3,200, reÖecting the elimination of 3,500 positions (including 300 open
positions). All headcount actions were completed as of September 30, 2003.

The following table sets forth, in accordance with SFAS No. 146, ""Accounting for Costs Associated with
Exit or Disposal Activities,'' the restructuring reserves and utilization to date related to the fourth phase of our
Financial Flexibility program.

Severance Lease
and Pension Termination

Termination Curtailment Obligations Total

2003 (Phase IV) Restructuring Charges Ì

Total Charge Incurred during 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $16.6 $ 0.5 $ 0.3 $17.4

Charge Taken during First Quarter 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $10.1 $ 0.5 $ 0.3 $10.9

Payments/Curtailment during First Quarter 2003 (2.6) (0.5) Ì (3.1)

Balance Remaining as of March 31, 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 7.5 $ Ì $ 0.3 $ 7.8

Charge Taken during Second Quarter 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4.9 $ Ì $ Ì $ 4.9

Payments during Second Quarter 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.5) Ì (0.1) (4.6)

Balance Remaining as of June 30, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 7.9 $ Ì $ 0.2 $ 8.1

Charge Taken during Third Quarter 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.6 $ Ì $ Ì $ 1.6

Payments during Third Quarter 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.0) Ì Ì (4.0)

Balance Remaining as of September 30, 2003 ÏÏÏ $ 5.5 $ Ì $ 0.2 $ 5.7

Payments during Fourth Quarter 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.6) Ì (0.1) (4.7)

Balance Remaining as of December 31, 2003(1) $ 0.9 $ Ì $ 0.1 $ 1.0

(1) Severance and Lease Termination Payments will be completed during 2004.

The following table sets forth, under the requirements of EITF Issue No. 94-3, the reserves and
utilization to date related to the third phase of our Financial Flexibility program.

Original 2002 Payments/ Balance at 2003 Balance at
Charge Asset Write-oÅs 12/31/2002 Payments 12/31/2003

2002 (Phase III) Restructuring
Charge for:

Severance and Termination ÏÏÏÏÏÏ $18.6 $ (7.3) $11.3 $(10.9) $0.4(2)

Asset Write-OÅs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10.6 (10.6) Ì Ì Ì

Lease Termination Obligations ÏÏÏ 1.7 (0.2) 1.5 (0.2) 1.3(2)

$30.9 $(18.1) $12.8 $(11.1) $1.7

(2) Severance payments will be completed by June 30, 2004 and Lease Termination Payments will continue
beyond 2004.

We completed all the actions contemplated under the four phases of our Financial Flexibility program by
September 30, 2003. There have not been any signiÑcant changes to our original Financial Flexibility
programs.
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Additionally, in February 2004, we announced our intentions to implement the next phase of our
Financial Flexibility Program (see Note 17).

Divestitures

As part of our Blueprint for Growth strategy, we review our non-core businesses and assets with a view to
converting them into cash. This has led to various dispositions over the past three years.

During the third quarter of 2003, we sold our equity interest in our Singapore investment and our
operations in Israel and recognized a pre-tax gain of $1.8 million and a pre-tax loss of $4.3 million,
respectively, in ""Other Income (Expense) Ì Net.''

During the second quarter of 2002, we exited Avantrust LLC (""Avantrust''), our joint venture with
American International Group, Inc. (""AIG''). As the market opportunity for e-marketplaces originally
envisioned for Avantrust did not develop, AIG and D&B agreed that the focus of Avantrust should shift to
selling and marketing AIG solutions. We had an ownership share of 41.8%, which had been accounted for
under the equity method. As a result of exiting this joint venture, we recorded a $2.9 million pre-tax write-oÅ
of the remaining investment in ""Other Income (Expense) Ì Net'' in the second quarter of 2002. We
recognized, ""Equity in Net Losses of AÇliates'' of $1.7 million and $3.5 million for the years 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

During the third quarter of 2002, we sold a portion of our equity interest in our Singapore operations for
$3.0 million, recognizing a pre-tax gain of $2.6 million in ""Other Income (Expense) Ì Net'' on this
transaction.

We sold our Korean operations during the fourth quarter of 2002 and received proceeds of $3.1 million,
consisting of $1.8 million in cash and a note for $1.3 million payable by the purchaser over the 12 months
following the closing, which has been paid in full. We recognized a pre-tax gain of $2.4 million within ""Other
Income (Expense) Ì Net.''

During the second quarter of 2001, we completed the sale of the operations of our Receivable
Management Services (""RMS'') product lines in the U.S., Canada and Hong Kong to the RMS senior
management team. Our European RMS operations were sold to Intrum Justitia, B.V. We received $90 million
from the sale of the businesses comprising approximately $76 million in cash and a note for approximately
$14 million that was paid in the fourth quarter of 2001. We recognized a pre-tax gain on the sale of
$36.4 million within ""Other Income (Expense) Net''. Additionally, we entered into a $35 million exclusive
contract to provide the buyers with Risk Management Solutions products over Ñve years, which was recorded
in deferred revenue when received and is being recognized as revenue ratably over the contract period.

During the third quarter of 2001, we completed the sale of a majority stake in our Australia/New
Zealand operations. We received proceeds of $23 million, consisting of $12 million in cash and a note of
$11 million. The note was paid in the fourth quarter of 2001. The pre-tax gain was $17.7 million within ""Other
Income (Expense) Net''.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, we sold a major portion of our equity investment in Information Trust
Corporation (Proprietary) Limited in South Africa for $6 million in cash. We have an option, exercisable after
three years, to sell our remaining shares in this company to the buyer. We recognized a pre-tax gain of
$2.2 million within ""Other Income (Expense) Net''.

Other Transactions

During the third quarter of 2003, we sold our High Wycombe, England, building and received proceeds of
$80.2 million. We continue to operate a portion of the building under a multi-year lease after the sale. We
recognized a pre-tax loss on the sale of the building of $13.8 million within Operating Costs.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, we had announced our intention to sell our Murray Hill, New Jersey
facility and consequently wrote it down to its net realizable value, recognizing a pre-tax, impairment loss of
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$6.5 million at that time. This charge was recorded within Operating Costs. During the second quarter of
2002, we sold this facility and received proceeds of $11.5 million.

Also, during 2001, we recorded, within Operating Costs, pre-tax charges of $6.2 million resulting from the
write-oÅ of capitalized software associated with products and internal-use systems no longer in use
($2.3 million), write-down of customer lists in Europe ($2.0 million), lease and contract termination costs
and miscellaneous other costs ($1.9 million). We also recorded within Operating Costs a $1.0 million write-oÅ
of assets lost in the World Trade Center attack.

We recorded a $6.1 million pre-tax write-oÅ of Internet-related investments in the third quarter of 2001.

Note 4. Acquisitions and Other Investments

Hoover's, Inc.

During the Ñrst quarter of 2003, we acquired Hoover's, Inc. with cash on hand. The results of Hoover's
operations have been included in our consolidated Ñnancial statements since that date. Hoover's provides
industry and market intelligence on public and private companies, primarily to sales, marketing and business
development professionals.

The transaction was valued at $7.00 per share in cash, for a total of $119.4 million. In addition, we
capitalized $3.3 million of transaction costs in accordance with SFAS No. 141. The acquisition was accounted
for under the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price was allocated to the acquired assets and
liabilities on the basis of respective fair value. As a result, we recognized goodwill and intangible assets of
$66.4 million and $14.5 million, respectively. The goodwill was assigned to our North American segment. Of
the $14.5 million of acquired intangible assets, $5.1 million was assigned to trademarks and trade names that
are not subject to amortization and $9.4 million was assigned to subscriber relationships and licensing
agreements with useful lives from one to Ñve years. The impact the acquisition would have had on our results
had the acquisition occurred at the beginning of 2003 is not material, and as such, pro forma results have not
been presented.

We are in the process of Ñnalizing the valuation of the acquired deferred tax asset in connection with the
acquisition. As a result, the allocation of the purchase price is subject to reÑnement.

Italian Real Estate Data Companies

During the second quarter of 2003, we paid $6.2 million to acquire controlling interests in three privately
held Italian real estate data companies: 100% interests in Italservice Bologna S.r.l. and Datanet S.r.l. and a
51% interest in RDS S.r.l. In addition, we paid $1.9 million to acquire 17.5% of RIBES S.p.A., a leading
provider of business information to Italian banks. As a result, together with the minority interest held by our
subsidiary Data House S.p.A., our interest in RIBES S.p.A. increased to 35%. The transaction was funded
with cash on hand.

These three Italian acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting in
accordance with SFAS No. 141. The purchase price for controlling interests of the three companies, together
with the capitalized transaction costs allowed under SFAS No. 141, was allocated to the acquired assets and
liabilities on the basis of their respective fair value. As a result, goodwill of $7.2 million was recognized and
assigned to our International segment. The impact the acquisition would have had on our results had the
acquisition occurred at the beginning of 2003 is not material, and as such, pro forma results have not been
presented.

Data House

During the third quarter of 2002, we acquired Data House, an Italian provider of commercial and
personal real estate information that is used in Italy by banks, notaries, real estate agencies and corporations in
business loan decisions, for $22.0 million ($21.2 million, net of cash acquired). The acquisition was funded
with cash on hand. We recognized goodwill of $22.6 million in connection with the acquisition all of which was
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assigned to our International segment. No separately identiÑable intangible assets were acquired. Subsequent
to the acquisition we re-evaluated the valuation allowance with respect to deferred tax assets, and in
accordance with SFAS No. 109, reduced the valuation allowance and the original goodwill by approximately
$2.3 million. The impact the acquisition would have had on our results had the acquisition occurred at the
beginning of 2002 is not material, and as such, pro forma results have not been presented.

iMarket» and Harris InfoSourceTM

During 2001, we acquired 100% of the issued share capital of iMarket» and Harris InfoSourceTM for a
total cost of $34.5 million (net of cash acquired). We recognized $4.5 million of intangible assets primarily
amortized over 5 years and $27.8 million of goodwill in connection with these acquisitions. The goodwill was
all assigned to our North American segment. The impact the acquisitions would have had on our results had
the acquisitions occurred at the beginning of 2001 is not material, and as such pro forma results have not been
presented.

All of the acquisitions noted above were stock acquisitions, and as a result there was no goodwill
deductible for tax purposes.

Note 5. Income Taxes

Income before provision for income taxes consisted of:

2003 2002 2001

U.S. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $246.4 $215.2 $230.1

Non-U.S. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34.0 24.0 23.5

Income Before Provision for Income TaxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $280.4 $239.2 $253.6

The provision (beneÑt) for income taxes consisted of:

2003 2002 2001

Current Tax Provision (BeneÑt):

U.S. federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 50.5 $56.0 $ 73.6

State and localÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.9 8.1 (6.6)

Non-U.S. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17.4 4.2 18.2

Total current tax provisionÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 74.8 68.3 85.2

Deferred Tax Provision (BeneÑt):

U.S. federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32.1 22.9 10.4

State and localÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.8 1.9 11.4

Non-U.S. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6.5) 1.0 (6.8)

Total deferred tax provision ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31.4 25.8 15.0

Provision for Income Taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $106.2 $94.1 $100.2
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The following table summarizes the signiÑcant diÅerences between the U.S. Federal statutory tax rate
and our eÅective tax rate for Ñnancial statement purposes.

2003 2002 2001

Statutory tax rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State and local taxes, net of U.S. federal tax beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.0 2.9 1.2

Non-U.S. taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.4) (1.3) 1.0

Capital and ordinary losses recognizedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.6) Ì Ì

Interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.9 2.1 0.6

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 0.6 1.6

EÅective tax rateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 37.9% 39.3% 39.4%

Income taxes paid were approximately $59.2 million, $40.9 million and $61.7 million in 2003, 2002, and
2001, respectively. Income taxes refunded were approximately $11.7 million, $12.6 million and $12.2 million
in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following at December 31:

2003 2002 2001

Deferred Tax Assets:

Operating LossesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 93.8 $ 64.4 $ 78.9

Postretirement BeneÑtsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 6.4

Intangibles ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35.2 35.6 38.3

Post-employment BeneÑts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.2 2.3 2.2

Restructuring and Reorganization Costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12.8 12.0 20.9

Bad Debts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.9 5.4 7.2

Deferred Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.3 12.0 9.4

Minimum Pension Liability ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 51.9 47.7 22.0

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.9 0.6 0.8

Total Deferred Tax AssetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 201.0 180.0 186.1

Valuation AllowanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (76.4) (56.8) (70.2)

Net Deferred Tax Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 124.6 123.2 115.9

Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Tax Leasing TransactionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.6) (8.5) (12.5)

Postretirement BeneÑtsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (33.6) (12.2) Ì

DepreciationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.9) (0.2) (1.0)

Total Deferred Tax Liability ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (41.1) (20.9) (13.5)

Net Deferred Tax AssetÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 83.5 $102.3 $102.4

The Company has not provided for U.S. deferred income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on
$239.7 million of undistributed earnings of its non-U.S. subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003, since we intend
to reinvest these earnings indeÑnitely. Additionally, we have not determined the tax liability if such earnings
were remitted to the U.S. as the determination of such liability is not practicable.

We have federal, state and local, and foreign tax loss carryforwards, the tax eÅect of which is
$93.8 million for 2003. Approximately $44.9 million of these tax beneÑts have an indeÑnite carryforward
period. Of the remainder, $5.4 million expire in 2004, and $43.5 million expire at various times between 2005
and 2023.
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We have established a valuation allowance against non-U.S. net operating losses in the amount of
$76.4 million, $56.8 million, and $70.2 million in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively, that in the opinion of
management, are more likely than not to expire before we can utilize them.

Note 6. Notes Payable, Indebtedness, and Minority Interest Obligation

Our borrowings at December 31, 2003 and 2002, including interest rate swaps designated as hedges, are
summarized below:

2003 2002

Liability (Asset)

Fair value of long-term, Ñxed rate notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $304.7 $305.7

Fair value of interest rate swapsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.9) (6.0)

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.1 0.2

Long-Term Debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $299.9 $299.9

The notes with face value of $300 million have a Ñve-year term maturing in March 2006 and bear interest
at a Ñxed annual rate of 6.625%, payable semiannually. We have entered into interest rate swap agreements to
hedge a portion of this long-term debt (see Note 7). The weighted average interest rates on the long-term
notes including the beneÑt of the swaps on December 31, 2003 and 2002, were 5.53% and 5.75%, respectively.

Other Credit Facilities

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, we had a total of $275 million of bank credit facilities available at
prevailing short-term interest rates, including a 364-day term facility which is renewed annually, and a multi-
year term facility which will expire in September 2005. These facilities also support our commercial paper
borrowings up to $275 million. We have not drawn on either facility since their inception nor did we have any
borrowings outstanding under either facility at December 31, 2003 and 2002. We have also not borrowed
under our commercial paper program in 2003. We believe that cash Öows generated from operations,
supplemented as needed with readily available Ñnancing arrangements, are suÇcient to meet our short-term
and long-term needs, including any payments that may be required in connection with our Financial Flexibility
program restructuring charges discussed in Note 3, to meet commitments and contract obligations as
presented in Note 12, and to settle the contingencies discussed in Note 13 to these consolidated Ñnancial
statements, excluding the legal matters identiÑed therein for which the exposures are not estimable. The
facilities require the maintenance of interest coverage and total debt to EBITDA ratios (as deÑned in the
agreement). We were in compliance with this requirement at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, certain of our international operations also had non-committed lines of
credit of $8.0 million and $11.9 million, respectively. We had no borrowings outstanding under these lines of
credit as of December 31, 2003 and 2002. These arrangements have no material commitment fees or
compensating balance requirements.

Interest paid totaled $17.2 million, $18.5 million and $11.1 million for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Minority Interest Obligation

During 1993, we participated in the formation of a limited partnership to invest in various securities,
including our own. In April 1997, the partnership raised $300 million of minority-interest Ñnancing from an
unrelated investor. This transaction was assumed by D&B2 in connection with the 1998 Distribution and
thereafter by D&B3 in the 2000 Distribution. For Ñnancial reporting purposes, the results of operations, assets,
liabilities and cash Öows of the partnership are included in our consolidated Ñnancial statements.

In the Ñrst quarter of 2001, we purchased the unrelated partner's $300 million interest in the limited
partnership using funds generated by the issuance of the Ñve-year, Ñxed-rate notes. Since that date, we have
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had no third party obligations related to the partnership. The results of operations of the partnership
attributable to the minority interest prior to the date of the purchase were included in our consolidated
statements of operations as ""Minority Interest Expense'' for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Note 7. Financial Instruments with OÅ-Balance Sheet Risks

We use short-term foreign exchange forward and option contracts to reduce exposure to Öuctuations in
foreign exchange rates. We use interest rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to changes in interest
rates. We do not use derivative Ñnancial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. If a hedging
instrument ceases to qualify as a hedge, any subsequent gains and losses are recognized currently in income.
Collateral is generally not required for these types of instruments.

By their nature, all such instruments involve risk, including the credit risk of non-performance by
counterparties. However, at December 31, 2003 and 2002, in our opinion there was no signiÑcant risk of loss in
the event of non-performance of the counterparties to these Ñnancial instruments. We control our exposure to
credit risk through monitoring procedures.

Our trade receivables do not represent a signiÑcant concentration of credit risk at December 31, 2003 and
2002, due to the fact that we sell to a large number of customers in diÅerent geographical locations.

Interest Rate Risk Management

Our objective in managing exposure to interest rates is to limit the impact of interest rate changes on
earnings, cash Öows and Ñnancial position, and to lower overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives,
we maintain a policy that Öoating rate debt be managed within a minimum and maximum range of our total
debt exposure. To manage our exposure, we may use Ñxed-rate debt, Öoating-rate debt and/or interest rate
swaps.

In connection with the $300 million, Ñve-year, Ñxed-rate note maturing March 2006, we entered into
Ñxed to Öoating (LIBOR rate indexed) interest rate swap agreements in the third quarter of 2001 with a
notional principal amount totaling $100 million, and designated these swaps as fair-value hedges against the
long-term Ñxed rate notes. The arrangement is considered a highly eÅective hedge, and therefore the
accounting for these hedges has no impact on earnings. The changes in the fair value of the hedge and the
designated portion of the notes are reÖected in our consolidated balance sheet. At December 31, 2003 and
2002, we had no Öoating rate debt outstanding.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

Our objective in managing exposure to foreign currency Öuctuations is to reduce the earnings, cash Öow
and Ñnancial position volatility of our international operations. We follow a policy of hedging balance sheet
positions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency applicable to each of our various
subsidiaries. In addition, we are subject to foreign exchange risk associated with our international earnings and
investments. We use short-term, foreign exchange forward and option contracts to implement our hedging
strategies. Typically, these contracts have maturities of six months or less. These contracts are executed with
creditworthy institutions and are denominated primarily in the British pound sterling, the euro and the
Swedish krona. The gains and losses on the forward contracts associated with the balance sheet positions
hedge are recorded in ""Other Income (Expense) Ì Net'' in our consolidated Ñnancial statements and are
essentially oÅset by the gains and losses on the underlying foreign currency transactions. The gains and losses
on the forward contracts associated with net investment hedges are recorded in ""Cumulative Translation
Adjustment'' in our consolidated Ñnancial statement.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, we had approximately $189.2 million and $220.8 million, respectively,
of foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding that oÅset foreign currency denominated intercompany
loans. Gains and losses associated with these contracts were $0.5 million and $0.2 million, respectively, at
December 31, 2003, $0.8 million and $2.3 million, respectively, at December 31, 2002, and $1.2 million and
$2.1 million, respectively, at December 31, 2001. In addition, at December 31, 2003, we had $83.6 million of
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foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding associated with our international investment. Losses associ-
ated with these contracts were $4.7 million at December 31, 2003. These contracts have various expiration
dates within three months.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, our Ñnancial instruments included cash and cash equivalents (including
commercial paper investments), accounts receivable, other receivables, accounts payable, short-term and
long-term borrowings and foreign exchange forward contracts.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other
receivables, accounts payable and short-term borrowings approximated carrying value due to the short-term
nature of these instruments. The estimated fair values of other Ñnancial instruments subject to fair-value
disclosures, determined based on third-party quotes from Ñnancial institutions, are as follows:

At December 31, 2003 At December 31, 2002

Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value
(Asset) Liability (Asset) Liability (Asset) Liability (Asset) Liability

Long-term, Ñxed-rate note ÏÏ $304.7 $304.7 $305.7 $305.7

Risk management contracts:

Interest rate swaps
(long-term) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (4.9) $ (4.9) $ (6.0) $ (6.0)

Foreign exchange forwards
(short-term) Ì NetÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.4 4.4 1.5 1.5

$ (0.5) $ (0.5) $ (4.5) $ (4.5)

Note 8. Capital Stock

The total number of shares of all classes of stock that we have authority to issue under our CertiÑcate of
Incorporation is 220,000,000 shares, of which 200,000,000 shares, par value $.01 per share, represent Common
Stock (the ""Common Stock''); 10,000,000 shares, par value $.01 per share, represent Preferred Stock (the
""Preferred Stock''); and 10,000,000 shares, par value $.01 per share, represent Series Common Stock (the
""Series Common Stock''). Our board of directors has designated 500,000 shares of the Preferred Stock as
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share. The Preferred Stock and the
Series Common Stock can be issued with varying terms, as determined by our board of directors.

On September 30, 2000, we separated from Moody's, and 81,213,520 shares of our Common Stock were
distributed to the shareholders of Moody's/D&B2. Since we have been treated as the successor entity for
accounting purposes, our historical Ñnancial statements reÖect the recapitalization in connection with the 2000
Distribution, including the elimination of treasury shares (which shares became treasury shares of Moody's)
and the authorization of our Common Stock, Preferred Stock and Series Common Stock.

In connection with our separation from Moody's, we entered into a Rights Agreement with EquiServe
Trust Company, N.A., designed to:

‚ minimize the prospects of changes in control that could jeopardize the tax-free nature of the separation
by assuring meaningful board of directors' involvement in any such proposed transaction; and

‚ enable us to develop our businesses and foster our long-term growth without disruptions caused by the
threat of a change in control not deemed by our board to be in the best interests of shareholders.

Under the Rights Agreement, each share of our Common Stock has a right that trades with the stock
until the right becomes exercisable. Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase one one-thousandth
of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share, at a price of $125 per one
one-thousandth of a share, subject to adjustment. The rights will generally not be exercisable until a person or
group (an ""Acquiring Person'') acquires beneÑcial ownership of, or commences a tender oÅer or exchange
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oÅer that would result in such person or group having beneÑcial ownership of, 15% or more of the outstanding
Common Stock.

In the event that any person or group becomes an Acquiring Person, each right will thereafter entitle its
holder (other than the Acquiring Person) to receive, upon exercise, that number of shares of our Common
Stock having a market value of two times the exercise price.

In the event that, after a person or group has become an Acquiring Person, we are acquired in a merger or
other business combination transaction or 50% or more of our consolidated assets or earning power are sold,
each right will entitle its holder (other than the Acquiring Person) to receive, upon exercise, that number of
shares of common stock of the person with whom we have engaged in the foregoing transaction (or its parent).
Such holder may acquire that number of shares having a market value of two times the exercise price.

We may redeem the rights, which expire on August 15, 2010, for $.01 per right, under certain
circumstances.

An independent board committee will periodically review the Rights Agreement and other anti-takeover
measures to determine whether such measures continue to be in the best interests of our shareholders, and
whether modiÑcations to such measures are appropriate. In June 2002, our independent board aÅairs
committee reviewed the measures and determined that they continue to be in shareholders' best interests.

Note 9. Reconciliation of Weighted Average Shares

2003 2002 2001

(Share data in thousands)

Weighted average number of shares Ì basicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 73,490 74,511 79,391

Dilutive eÅect of shares issuable under stock options, restricted stock
and performance share plans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,213 2,309 2,003

Adjustment of shares applicable to stock options exercised during
the period and performance share plansÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 123 54 116

Weighted average number of shares Ì diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 75,826 76,874 81,510

In 2003, we repurchased 1.4 million shares of stock for $56.1 million to mitigate the dilutive eÅect of the
shares issued under our stock incentive plans and Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Additionally, in 2003, we
repurchased 2.4 million shares to complete a previously announced $100 million share repurchase program for
$100.0 million. During the Ñrst quarter of 2002, we repurchased 2.5 million shares at the market price of
$85.1 million, in a privately negotiated block trade. In addition, over the course of the year, we repurchased an
additional 855,200 shares for $32.6 million to mitigate the dilutive eÅect of the shares issued under our
employee beneÑt plans. During 2001, we repurchased 3.2 million shares of outstanding stock at prevailing
market prices for a total cost of $100 million and an additional 1.6 million shares for $44.9 million to mitigate
the dilutive eÅect of shares issued under our employee beneÑt plans.

Options to purchase 0.2 million, 1.6 million, and 1.8 million shares of common stock were outstanding at
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings
per share because the options' exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the common
stock. Our options generally expire 10 years after the grant date.

Note 10. Pension and Postretirement BeneÑts

We oÅer substantially all of our U.S.-based employees coverage in a deÑned beneÑt plan called The
Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Retirement Account (the ""U.S. QualiÑed Plan''). The beneÑts to be paid upon
retirement are based on a percentage of the employee's annual compensation. The percentage of compensation
allocated annually to a retirement account ranges from 3% to 12.5%, based on age and service. Amounts
allocated under the plan also receive interest credits based on the 30-year Treasury rate or equivalent rate
published by the Internal Revenue Service. Pension costs are determined actuarially and funded in accordance
with the Internal Revenue Code. We also maintain supplemental and excess plans in the United States (the
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""U.S. Non-QualiÑed Plans'') to provide retirement beneÑts in excess of levels allowed by the Internal
Revenue Code. These plans are unfunded, pay-as-you-go plans. Our employees in certain of our international
operations are also provided retirement beneÑts through deÑned beneÑt plans. The U.S. QualiÑed Plan and
the U.S. Non-QualiÑed Plans account for approximately 75% and 15% of our pension obligation, respectively,
at December 31, 2003.

In addition to providing pension beneÑts, we provide various health care and life insurance beneÑts for
retired employees. U.S.-based employees who retire after age 45 with 10 years of vesting service are eligible to
receive beneÑts. Postretirement beneÑt costs and obligations are also determined actuarially.

Certain of our non-U.S.-based employees receive postretirement beneÑts through government-sponsored
or -administered programs.

We use an annual measurement date of December 31 for our U.S. and Canada plans and November 30
for other non-U.S. plans.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003), ""Employers' Disclosures About
Pensions and Other Postretirement BeneÑts.'' The provisions of this statement do not change the measure-
ment and recognition provisions of SFAS No. 87, ""Employers' Accounting for Pensions,'' SFAS No. 88,
""Employers' Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of DeÑned BeneÑt Pension Plans and for
Termination BeneÑts'' and SFAS No. 106, ""Employers' Accounting for Postretirement BeneÑts Other Than
Pensions.'' Our disclosures in this note reÖect the revised requirements under SFAS No. 132 (revised).

BeneÑt Obligation and Plan Assets

The following table sets forth the changes in our beneÑt obligations and plan assets for our pension and
postretirement plans. The table also reconciles the funded status of these obligations to the amounts reÖected
in our Ñnancial statements, and identiÑes the line items in our consolidated balance sheets where the related
assets and liabilities are recorded:

Postretirement
Pension Plans BeneÑts

2003 2002 2003 2002

Change in BeneÑt Obligations

BeneÑt obligation at January 1ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(1,366.0) $(1,225.0) $(250.9) $(219.0)

Service costÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (13.9) (14.7) (1.2) (1.5)

Interest cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (84.6) (86.2) (14.3) (16.6)

BeneÑts paidÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 90.5 86.3 16.7 16.4

Plan amendment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.1) (1.2) 85.8 Ì

Impact of curtailment gain (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.6 2.9 Ì (0.1)

Plan participant contributionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (3.8) (3.2)

Actuarial gain (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.5) (20.2) 5.6 (26.9)

Assumption change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (72.2) (96.8) Ì Ì

EÅect of changes in foreign currency exchange
ratesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (10.1) (11.1) Ì Ì

BeneÑt obligation at December 31ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(1,455.3) $(1,366.0) $(162.1) $(250.9)
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Postretirement
Pension Plans BeneÑts

2003 2002 2003 2002

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at January 1 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,113.7 $ 1,315.2 $ Ì $ Ì

Actual return on plan assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 235.6 (146.0) Ì Ì

Employer contributionÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 24.5 22.1 12.9 13.2

Plan participant contributionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 3.8 3.2

BeneÑts paidÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (90.5) (86.3) (16.7) (16.4)

EÅect of changes in foreign currency exchange
ratesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.6 8.7 Ì Ì

Fair value of plan assets at December 31 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,289.9 $ 1,113.7 $ Ì $ Ì

Reconciliation of Funded Status to Total Amount
Recognized

Funded status of plan ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (165.4) $ (252.3) $(162.1) $(250.9)

Unrecognized actuarial loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 481.1 519.6 42.5 50.0

Unrecognized prior service cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19.7 22.9 (83.3) Ì

Net amount recognized ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 335.4 $ 290.2 $(202.9) $(200.9)

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets

Prepaid pension costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 414.5 $ 367.3 $ Ì $ Ì

Accrued pension and postretirement beneÑts ÏÏÏÏÏ (240.6) (229.5) (202.9) (200.9)

Intangible assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16.9 17.5 Ì Ì

Accumulated other comprehensive incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 144.6 134.9 Ì Ì

Net amount recognized ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 335.4 $ 290.2 $(202.9) $(200.9)

Accumulated BeneÑt Obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,399.9 $ 1,299.7 N/A N/A

Increase in minimum liability included in other
comprehensive income Ì Pretax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 9.7 $ 79.3 N/A N/A

The amount recorded in ""Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income,'' is included in our Consolidated
Statements of Shareholders' Equity as ""Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment,'' net of tax. The associated
deferred tax assets were $51.5 million and $47.7 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We
recorded a ""Change in Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment'' of $5.9 million and $53.6 million, net of
applicable tax, in the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Grantor Trusts are used to fund the U.S. Non-QualiÑed Plans. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the
balances in these trusts were approximately $15.5 million and $24.5 million, respectively.
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Additional Minimum Pension Liability

Under SFAS No. 87, we are required to recognize an additional minimum pension liability for pension
plans with accumulated beneÑt obligations in excess of plan assets. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, our
unfunded accumulated beneÑt obligations and the related projected beneÑt obligations were as follows:

2003 2002

Accumulated BeneÑt Obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $330.0 $306.3

Fair Value of Plan AssetÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 89.4 76.8

Unfunded Accumulated BeneÑt Obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $240.6 $229.5

Projected BeneÑt Obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $355.4 $329.9

The unfunded accumulated beneÑt obligations at December 31, 2003, consisted of $205.5 million and
$35.1 million related to our U.S. Non-QualiÑed Plans and non-U.S. deÑned beneÑt plans, respectively. At
December 31, 2002, the unfunded accumulated beneÑt obligations consisted of $195.8 million and $33.7 mil-
lion related to our U.S. Non-QualiÑed Plans and non-U.S. deÑned beneÑt plans, respectively.

Net Periodic Pension Costs

The following table sets forth the components of the net periodic cost associated with our pension plans
and our postretirement beneÑt obligations:

Pension Plans Postretirement BeneÑts

2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

Components of Net Periodic Cost

Service costÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 13.9 $ 14.7 $ 13.8 $ 1.2 $ 1.5 $ 1.8

Interest cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 84.6 86.2 84.8 14.3 16.6 14.0

Expected return on plan assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (128.1) (142.8) (136.4) Ì Ì Ì

Amortization of transition asset ÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (2.0) Ì Ì Ì

Amortization of prior service cost ÏÏÏÏ 3.2 3.2 3.5 (2.4) Ì Ì

Recognized actuarial loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.2 4.7 0.6 1.8 1.8 Ì

Net periodic (income) cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (18.2) $ (34.0) $ (35.7) $14.9 $19.9 $15.8

We apply our long-term expected rate of return assumption to the market-related value of assets to
calculate the expected return on plan assets, which is a major component of our annual net periodic pension
expense. The market-related value of assets recognizes short-term Öuctuations in the fair value of assets in a
systematic and rational manner over a period of Ñve years, using a straight-line amortization basis. The
methodology has been utilized to reduce the eÅect of short-term market Öuctuations on the net periodic
pension cost, as provided under SFAS No. 87. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the market-related value of
assets of our U.S. QualiÑed Plan was $1,379.9 million and $1,404.4 million, respectively.

The following table sets forth the assumptions we used to determine our pension plan and postretirement
beneÑts plan obligations for December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Postretirement
Pension Plans BeneÑts

2003 2002 2003 2002

Weighted average discount rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.96% 6.42% 6.00% 6.50%

Weighted average rate of compensation increase ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.64% 3.65% N/A N/A

Cash balance accumulation/conversion rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.00% 4.75% N/A N/A
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The following table sets forth the assumptions we used to determine net periodic beneÑt cost for the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Postretirement
Pension Plans BeneÑts

2003 2002 2003 2002

Weighted average discount rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.44% 7.21% 6.45% 7.25%

Weighted average expected long-term return on plan assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.65% 9.67% N/A N/A

Weighted average rate of compensation increase ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.65% 4.38% N/A N/A

Cash balance accumulation/conversion rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.75% 5.50% N/A N/A

For 2004, we will continue to use a rate of 8.75% as the expected long-term rate of return assumption on
plan assets for the U.S. QualiÑed Plan. This assumption is based on the plan's target asset allocation of 65%
equity securities, 29% debt securities and 6% real estate. It reÖects long-term capital market return forecasts
for the asset classes employed, assumed excess returns from active management within each asset class, the
portion of plan assets that are actively managed, and periodic rebalancing back to target allocations. Current
market factors such as inÖation and interest rates are evaluated before the long-term capital market
assumptions are determined. In addition, peer data and historical returns are reviewed to check for
reasonableness. Although we review our expected long-term rate of return assumption annually, our plan
performance in any one particular year does not, by itself, signiÑcantly inÖuence our evaluation. Our
assumption is generally not revised unless there is a fundamental change in one of the factors upon which it is
based, such as the target asset allocation or long-term capital market return forecasts.

The following table sets forth the weighted average asset allocations and target asset allocations by asset
category, as of the measurement dates of the plans.

Asset Allocations Target Asset Allocations

2003 2002 2003 2002

Equity securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 69% 67% 65% 66%

Debt securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26% 26% 29% 28%

Real estateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5% 7% 6% 6%

TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 100% 100% 100% 100%

The U.S. QualiÑed Plan, our principal plan, employs a total return investment approach in which a mix of
equity, debt and real estate investments are used to maximize the long-term return on plan assets at a prudent
level of risk. The plan's target asset allocation is 65% equity securities, 29% debt securities and 6% real estate.
The target allocation is controlled by periodic rebalancing back to target. Plan assets are invested using a
combination of active and passive (indexed) investment strategies. Active strategies employ multiple
investment management Ñrms.

The plan's equity securities are diversiÑed across U.S. and non-U.S. stocks. The active investment
managers employ a range of investment styles and approaches that are combined in a way that compensates
for capitalization and style biases versus benchmark indices, while focusing primarily on issue selection as a
means to add value. The plan's debt securities are diversiÑed principally among securities issued or guaranteed
by the U.S. government or its agencies, mortgage-backed securities, including collateralized mortgage
obligations, corporate debt obligations and dollar-denominated obligations issued in the U.S. by non-U.S.
banks and corporations. Generally, up to 10% of the debt securities may be invested in securities rated lower
than A. The plan's real estate investments are made through a commingled fund of U.S. properties diversiÑed
by property type and geographic location.

Investment risk is controlled through diversiÑcation among multiple asset classes, managers, styles and
securities. Risk is further controlled at the investment manager level by requiring managers to follow formal
written investment guidelines and by assigning excess return and tracking error targets. Investment results and
risk are measured and monitored on an ongoing basis, and quarterly investment reviews are conducted. The
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plan's active investment managers are prohibited from investing plan assets in equity or debt securities issued
or guaranteed by D&B. In addition, D&B is not part of any index fund in which the plan invests.

We expect to contribute $19.1 million to our Non-QualiÑed U.S. plans and non-U.S. pension plans and
$16.8 million to our postretirement beneÑt plan in 2004.

For measurement purposes, a 8.75% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care
beneÑts was assumed for 2004. The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 4.75% in 2009 and remain at
that level thereafter.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have an eÅect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A
one-percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following eÅects.

1% Point

Increase Decrease

BeneÑt obligation at end of yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $0.1 $(0.1)

Service cost plus interest cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $0.9 $(0.8)

In the fourth quarter of 2003, an amendment was made to D&B's Postretirement BeneÑt Plan. Starting
January 1, 2004, we will limit the amount of our insurance premium contribution based on the amount D&B
contributed in 2003 per retiree. This change is expected to reduce our postretirement beneÑt obligation by
approximately $85 million, subject to changes in economic conditions and actual plan experience. This non-
cash reduction will be amortized over the next Ñve to six years, reducing the annual postretirement beneÑt
costs by approximately $17 million a year and approximately $3 million in 2003.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
was signed into law. The Act expands Medicare, primarily by adding a prescription drug beneÑt for Medicare-
eligibles starting in 2006. The Act provides employers currently sponsoring prescription drug programs for
Medicare-eligibles with a range of options for coordinating with the new government-sponsored program
potentially to reduce program cost. These options include supplementing the government program on a
secondary payor basis or accepting a direct subsidy from the government to support a portion of the cost of the
employer's program.

In connection with this Act, the FASB issued FASB StaÅ Position (""FSP'') No. FAS 106-1,
""Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003'' which permits a company that provides prescription drug beneÑts to make a one-
time election to defer accounting for the eÅects of this Act. Pursuant to this guidance, we have chosen to defer
recognition of the potential eÅects of the Act in our 2003 Ñnancial statements. This decision was made largely
due to the number of open questions about select provisions of the Act and a lack of authoritative accounting
guidance concerning certain technical matters. Therefore, the postretirement beneÑt obligations and costs
reported in this Ñnancial statement do not yet reÖect any potential impact of the Act. SpeciÑc, authoritative
guidance on the accounting for the government subsidy is still pending. Once issued, the guidance will deÑne
the speciÑc transition accounting requirements that may require companies to change their current
accounting.

D&B will review its retiree health care strategy in light of the Act. We may need to amend our retiree
health program in order to obtain the Ñnancial beneÑts allowed under the new Medicare prescription drug
program.

ProÑt Participation Plan

We have a proÑt participation plan covering substantially all U.S. employees that provides for an
employee salary deferral contribution and employer contributions. Employees may contribute up to 16% of
their pay. We contribute an amount equal to 50% of employee contributions, up to a maximum of 6% of the
employee's pay. We also make contributions to the plan if certain Ñnancial performance objectives are met,
based on performance over a one-year period. We recognized expense associated with our employer
contributions to the plan of $8.7 million, $12.4 million, and $11.4 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Note 11. Employee Stock Plans

Under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (""2000 SIP'') and Non-Employee
Directors' Stock Incentive Plan (""2000 DSIP''), we have granted options to certain employees and non-
employee directors to purchase shares of our common stock at the market price on the date of the grant.
Options granted under the 2000 SIP generally vest in three equal installments, beginning on the third
anniversary of the grant. Options granted under the 2000 DSIP generally vest 100% on the Ñrst anniversary of
the grant. All options expire 10 years from the date of the grant. The 2000 SIP and 2000 DSIP provide for the
granting of up to 9.7 million and 0.3 million shares of our common stock, respectively.

Under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (""ESPP''), which
became eÅective October 2000, we are authorized to sell up to 1.5 million shares of our common stock to our
eligible employees. Under the terms of the ESPP, employees may have up to 10% of their earnings withheld to
purchase our common stock. The purchase price of the stock on the date of purchase is 85% of the average
high and low sale prices of shares on the New York Stock Exchange on the last trading day of the month.
Under the ESPP, we sold 108,440, 120,894, and 142,673 shares to employees in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

We apply APB No. 25, ""Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,'' and related interpretations in
accounting for our plans. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for grants under the stock
option plans or purchases under the ESPP. (See Note 1 for the pro forma eÅect disclosure under the provision
of SFAS No. 123.)

Options outstanding at December 31, 2003, were originally granted during the years 1994 through 2003
and are exercisable over periods ending not later than 2013. At December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, options for
3,479,627 shares, 1,667,013 shares and 2,036,585 shares of our common stock, respectively, were exercisable,
and 3,650,541 shares, 4,847,316 shares, and 4,813,459 shares of our common stock, respectively, were
available for future grants under the plans.

Changes in stock options for the three years ended December 31, 2003, are summarized as follows:

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Shares Price($)

Options outstanding at January 1, 2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,921,048 16.50

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,560,348 32.76

Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,397,775) 10.96

Surrendered or expiredÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,401,923) 18.88

Options outstanding at December 31, 2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,681,698 20.81

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 478,995 34.92

Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (718,352) 11.67

Surrendered or expiredÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (750,100) 23.31

Options outstanding at December 31, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,692,241 21.99

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,895,645 35.15

Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,414,827) 14.07

Surrendered or expiredÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (969,939) 28.40

Options outstanding at December 31, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,203,120 25.25

For 2002 and 2003, the annual stock options awarded to employees were granted in February of the
following year after the approval of the 2003 and 2004 compensation program and Business Plan, respectively.
1,580,300 and 659,940 options were granted at an exercise price of $34.17 and $53.30 in February 2003 and
2004, respectively.
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003:

Stock Options Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average
Range of Contractual Exercise Exercise
Exercise Prices Shares Life Price Shares Price

$9.53-$14.41 1,620,409 4.8 Years $13.35 1,178,787 $13.30

$14.50-$17.58 1,512,484 5.8 Years $15.65 1,493,855 $15.64

$23.72-$27.94 2,503,007 7.0 Years $24.14 772,710 $23.72

$31.27-$35.81 1,919,642 8.9 Years $34.14 4,897 $35.35

$36.16-$39.84 1,471,978 8.1 Years $36.38 29,378 $36.41

$40.23-$49.16 175,600 9.5 Years $42.63 Ì $ Ì

Total 9,203,120 3,479,627

The 2000 SIP and 2000 DSIP plans also provide for the granting of stand-alone stock appreciation rights
(""SARs''), as well as limited stock appreciation rights (""LSARs''), in tandem with stock options to certain
key employees. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, 3,326,200 shares and 3,188,983 shares of LSARs attached to
stock options have been granted, respectively, which are exercisable only if, and to the extent that, the related
option is exercisable, and only upon the occurrence of speciÑed contingent events. During 2003, 2002 and
2001, 4,600 shares, no shares and 4,300 shares of SARs were granted, respectively. At December 31, 2003 and
2002, 57,235 shares and 64,257 shares of SARs were outstanding, respectively, and we have recognized the
associated expense of $0.6 million, $0.2 million, $0.2 million within ""Operating Costs'' for the years 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, 147,870 shares, no shares and 40,000 shares of restricted stock were
granted, respectively. During 2003, 11,300 shares of restricted stock were forfeited. There were no forfeitures
during 2002 or 2001. The restrictions on the majority of such shares lapse over a period of three years from the
date of the grant, and the cost is charged to compensation expense ratably. We recognized expense associated
with the restricted stock of $2.1 million, $1.1 million, and $1.1 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, 27,550 shares, 10,890 shares and 7,726 shares of restricted stock units were
granted, respectively. During 2003, 2,290 shares of restricted stock units were forfeited. There were no
forfeitures during 2002 and 2001. The restrictions on the majority of such shares lapse over a period of three
years from the date of the grant. We recognized expense associated with the restricted stock units of
$0.7 million, $0.4 million and $0.2 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Note 12. Lease Commitments and Contractual Obligations

Most of our operations are conducted from leased facilities, which are under operating leases that expire
over the next 10 years, with the majority expiring within Ñve years. We also lease certain computer and other
equipment under operating leases that expire over the next three years. These leases are frequently
renegotiated or otherwise changed as advancements in computer technology produce opportunities to lower
costs and improve performance. Rental expenses under operating leases (cancelable & non-cancelable) were
$34.7 million, $29.4 million and $41.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

In July 2002, we outsourced certain technology functions to CSC under a 10-year agreement, which
D&B may terminate for a fee at any time eÅective after July 2003 and under certain other conditions. Under
the terms of the agreement, CSC will be responsible for the data center operations, technology help desk and
network management functions in the United States and in the United Kingdom and for certain application
development and maintenance through July 31, 2012. The obligation under the contract is based on our
historical and expected future level of usage and volume. If our future volume changes, payments under the
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contract could vary up or down based on speciÑed formulas. Charges are subject to increases to partially oÅset
inÖation. In 2003, D&B incurred $58.9 million under this contract.

In December 2003, we signed a three-year agreement with ICT eÅective January 2004 to outsource
certain marketing calling activities. D&B may terminate this agreement for a fee at any time. Under the terms
of the agreement, ICT will be responsible for performing certain marketing and credit calling activities
previously performed by D&B's own call centers in North America. The obligation under the contract is based
upon transmitted call volumes, but shall not be less than $3 million per contract year.

The following table quantiÑes our future contractual obligations as discussed above as of December 31,
2003:

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Total

Operating Leases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $35.4 $29.2 $23.3 $17.9 $10.3 $ 0.9 $117.0

Obligations to Outsourcers ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $57.8 $58.1 $59.7 $59.6 $61.3 $234.0 $530.5

Note 13. Contingencies

We are involved in tax and legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of
business. We periodically assess our liabilities and contingencies in connection with these matters based upon
the latest information available. For those matters where it is probable that we have incurred a loss and the
loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated, we have recorded reserves in our consolidated Ñnancial
statements. In other instances, we are unable to make a reasonable estimate of any liability because of the
uncertainties related to the probability of the outcome and/or amount or range of loss. As additional
information becomes available, we adjust our assessment and estimates of such liabilities accordingly.

Based on our review of the latest information available, we believe our ultimate liability in connection
with pending tax and legal proceedings, claims and litigation will not have a material eÅect on our results of
operations, cash Öows or Ñnancial position, with the possible exception of the matters described below.

In order to understand our exposure to the potential liabilities described below, it is important to
understand the relationship between us and Moody's Corporation, our predecessors and other parties that,
through various corporate reorganizations and contractual commitments, have assumed varying degrees of
responsibility with respect to such matters.

In November 1996, the company then known as The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (""D&B1'')
separated through a spin oÅ into three separate public companies: D&B1, ACNielsen Corporation
(""ACNielsen'') and Cognizant Corporation (""Cognizant'') (the ""1996 Distribution''). This was accom-
plished through a spin oÅ by D&B1 of its stock in ACNielsen and Cognizant. In June 1998, D&B1 separated
through a spin oÅ into two separate public companies: D&B1, which changed its name to R.H. Donnelley
Corporation (""Donnelley/D&B1''), spun oÅ its stock in a new company named The Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation (""D&B2'') (the ""1998 Distribution''). During 1998, Cognizant separated into two separate
public companies: IMS Health Incorporated (""IMS'') and Nielsen Media Research, Inc. (""NMR'') (the
""1998 Cognizant Distribution''). In September 2000, D&B2 separated through a spin oÅ into two separate
public companies: D&B2, which changed its name to Moody's Corporation (""Moody's'' and also referred to
elsewhere in this Form 10-K as ""Moody's/D&B2''), spun oÅ its stock in a new company named The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation (""we'' or ""D&B3'' and also referred to elsewhere in this Form 10-K as ""D&B'') (the
""2000 Distribution'').

Tax Matters

Moody's/D&B2 and its predecessors entered into global tax-planning initiatives in the normal course of
business, principally through tax-free restructurings of both their foreign and domestic operations. The status
of Internal Revenue Service reviews of these initiatives is summarized below.

Pursuant to a series of agreements, IMS and NMR are jointly and severally liable for and must pay one-
half, and we and Moody's/D&B2 are jointly and severally liable for and must pay the other half, of any
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payments over $137 million for taxes, accrued interest and other amounts resulting from unfavorable IRS
rulings on the tax matters summarized below (other than the matter summarized below as ""Amortization and
Royalty Expense Deductions/Royalty Income 1997-2003,'' for which we and Moody's/D&B2 are solely
responsible). Moody's/D&B2 was contractually obligated to pay, and did pay, that $137 million in connection
with the matter summarized below as ""Utilization of Capital Losses Ì 1989-1990.''

Under the terms of the 2000 Distribution, we and Moody's/D&B2 have agreed to each be Ñnancially
responsible for 50% of any potential liabilities of Moody's/D&B2 that may arise to the extent such potential
liabilities are not directly attributable to each party's respective business operations.

Utilization of Capital Losses Ì 1989-1990

The IRS completed its review of the utilization of certain capital losses generated during 1989 and 1990
and, on June 26, 2000, issued a formal notice of adjustment. On May 12, 2000, an amended tax return was
Ñled for the 1989 and 1990 tax periods, which reÖected $561.6 million of tax and interest due. Moody's/D&B2
paid the IRS approximately $349.3 million of this amount on May 12, 2000, and IMS paid the IRS
approximately $212.3 million on May 17, 2000. The payments were made to the IRS to stop further interest
from accruing. We are continuing to contest, on behalf of Donnelley/D&B1, the IRS's formal assessment and
would also contest any assessment of penalties or other amounts, if any, in excess of the amounts paid.
Donnelley/D&B1 Ñled a complaint for a refund in the U.S. District Court on September 21, 2000. The case is
expected to go to trial in 2005, unless otherwise resolved between the parties. D&B would share in the Ñnal
resolution of this matter with IMS, NMR, and Moody's/D&B2, as disclosed above.

Royalty Expense Deductions Ì 1993-1997

In the second quarter of 2003, we received on behalf of Donnelley/D&B1 an IRS examination report
with respect to a partnership transaction entered into in 1993.

SpeciÑcally, the IRS is proposing to disallow certain royalty expense deductions claimed by Donnelley/
D&B1 on its 1993-1996 tax returns. We estimate that the disallowance of the 1993 and 1994 royalty expense
deductions would result in a loss to us of $5 million in pending tax refunds. We also estimate that the net
impact to cash Öow with respect to the disallowance of the 1995 and 1996 royalty expense deductions could be
up to $44.1 million (tax, interest and penalties, net of associated tax beneÑts).

In addition, and also in the second quarter of 2003, we received on behalf of the partnership associated
with the above transaction an IRS examination report challenging the tax treatment of certain royalty
payments received by the partnership in which Donnelley/D&B1 was a partner. In that report, the IRS is
seeking to reallocate certain partnership income to Donnelley/D&B1. In January 2004, we received additional
IRS Notices (similar to those received in the second quarter of 2003) reÖecting a net impact to cash Öow of
$1.6 million (tax, interest and penalties, net of associated tax beneÑts) associated with Donnelley/D&B1's
remaining interest in the partnership transaction (as described above) for the three months in 1997 for which
the entities were partners. The net impact to cash Öow with respect to our share of this income for the Notices
received in the second quarter of 2003 and January 2004 could be up to $21.9 million (tax, interest and
penalties, net of associated tax beneÑts). We believe that these positions regarding the partnership are
inconsistent with the IRS' position with respect to the same royalty expense deductions described above. This
$21.9 million would be in addition to the $44.1 million noted above related to royalty expense deductions
discussed in the previous paragraph.

We have Ñled protests relating to these proposed adjustments with the IRS OÇce of Appeals. The parties
are attempting to resolve these matters at the Appeals phase before proceeding to litigation, if necessary. If the
IRS were to prevail in its position, we would share responsibility for the matter with Moody's/D&B2, IMS
and NMR, as disclosed above. If we, on behalf of Donnelley/D&B1, were to challenge any of these IRS
positions at any time, set forth above in a U.S. District Court or the U.S. Court of Federal Claims, rather than
in U.S. Tax Court, the disputed amounts would need to be paid in advance for the Court to have jurisdiction
over the case.
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Amortization and Royalty Expense Deductions/Royalty Income Ì 1997-2003

In the fourth quarter of 2003, we received on behalf of Donnelley/D&B1 and Moody's/D&B2, IRS
Notices of Proposed Adjustment with respect to a partnership transaction entered into in 1997. In addition, we
received, on behalf of the partnership, various IRS materials further explaining the examining agent's position
with respect to the activities of the partnership in 1997-1998.

SpeciÑcally, the IRS asserted that certain amortization expense deductions claimed by Donnelley/D&B1
and Moody's/D&B2 on their 1997-1998 tax returns should be disallowed. We estimate that the net impact to
cash Öow as a result of the disallowance of the 1997 and 1998 amortization deductions and the disallowance of
such deductions claimed from 1999 to date could be up to $52 million (tax, interest and penalties, net of
associated tax beneÑts but not taking into account the Moody's/D&B2 repayment to us of $41.3 million
described below). This transaction is scheduled to expire in 2012 and, unless terminated by us, the net impact
to cash Öow, based on current interest rates and tax rates would increase at a rate of approximately
$2.5 million per quarter (including potential penalties) as future amortization expenses are deducted. At the
2000 Distribution Date, we paid Moody's/D&B2 approximately $55 million in cash representing the
discounted value of future tax beneÑts associated with this transaction. However, pursuant to the terms of the
2000 Distribution Agreement, should the transaction be terminated, Moody's/D&B2 would be required to
repay us an amount equal to the discounted value of its 50% share of the related future tax beneÑts. If the
transaction was terminated at December 31, 2003, the amount of such repayment from Moody's/D&B2 to us
would be approximately $41.3 million and would decrease by approximately $4 million to $5 million per year.

In addition, the IRS has asserted that royalty expense deductions, claimed by Donnelley/D&B1 and
Moody's/D&B2 on their tax returns for 1997-1998, for royalties paid to the partnership, should disallowed.
Relatedly, the IRS has asserted that the receipt of these same royalties by the partnership should be
reallocated to and reported as royalty income by Donnelley/D&B1 and Moody's/D&B2, including the
portions of the royalties that were allocated to third-party partners in the partnership, and, thus, included in
their taxable income. We believe that the IRS' stated positions with respect the treatment of the royalty
expense and royalty income are mutually inconsistent, making it unlikely that the IRS will prevail on both of
the positions. If the IRS prevails on one of the positions with respect to the royalty expense and royalty
income, we believe that it is unlikely that it will prevail on the other position. As a result, we believe that after
taking into account certain other tax beneÑts resulting from the IRS' position on the partnership it is unlikely
that there will be any net impact to cash Öow in addition to the amounts noted above related to the
amortization expense deduction.

In the unlikely event the IRS were to prevail on both positions with respect to the royalty expense/
income, we estimate that the net impact to cash Öow as a result of the disallowance of the 1997-1998 royalty
expense deductions, the disallowance of such deductions claimed from 1999 to date and the inclusion of the
reallocated royalty income for all relevant years could be up to $137 million (tax, interest, and penalties, net of
associated tax beneÑts). This $137 million would be in addition to the $52 million noted above related to the
amortization expense deduction.

We are discussing the foregoing assertions with the IRS and are attempting to resolve these matters with
the IRS before proceeding to IRS Appeals or litigation, if necessary. If we, on behalf of Donnelley/D&B1 and
Moody's/D&B2, were to challenge any of these IRS positions, at any time, set forth above for years 1997 and
1998 in U.S. District Court or the U.S. Court of Federal Claims, rather than in U.S. Tax Court, the disputed
amounts for each applicable year would need to be paid in advance for the Court to have jurisdiction over the
case.

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

We have considered the foregoing tax matters and the merits of the legal defenses and the various
contractual obligations in our overall assessment of potential tax liabilities. We have $104 million recorded in
the consolidated Ñnancial statements, made up of the following components: $49 million of reserves in
Accrued Income Tax, since we expect to resolve this amount within one year; $7 million receivable in Other
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Receivables, representing the tax beneÑt for deductible interest since we expect to realize this amount within
one year; and $62 million of reserves in Other Non-Current Liabilities since we do not expect to resolve this
amount within one year. We believe that these reserves are adequate for our share of the liabilities in these tax
matters. Any payments that would be made for these exposures could be signiÑcant to our cash from
operations in the period a cash payment took place.

Legal Proceedings

Information Resources, Inc.

Introduction

The following is a description of an antitrust lawsuit Ñled in 1996 by Information Resources, Inc.
(""IRI''). As noted below, D&B has contingent liability for this matter as a result of contractual commitments
undertaken in connection with various corporate reorganizations since 1996, including our spin oÅ from
Moody's/D&B2 in 2000. As more fully described below, VNU N.V., a publicly traded Dutch company, and
its subsidiary ACNielsen Corporation (""ACNielsen'') have exclusive liability for any Ñnal judgment or
settlement of this antitrust lawsuit, subject to a cap. The cap is determined based on the Ñnancial ability of
VNU N.V. and ACNielsen to pay for any judgement or settlement. Under the contractual agreements
described below, amounts in excess of the cap, if any, would be shared as follows: 25% for D&B; 25% for
Moody's; and the remaining 50% is shared by IMS and NMR (a subsidiary of VNU N.V.). For a description
of the terms ""Donnelly/D&B1,'' Moody's/D&B2 and ""Moody's'' and the relationship between Don-
nelly/D&B1, Moody's, Moody's/D&B2  and D&B, see page 15 under the heading ""Legal Proceedings.''

Overview of the Lawsuit

In July 1996, IRI Ñled a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York,
naming as defendants a company then known as The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation and now known as R.H.
Donnelly (referred to in this 10-K as Donnelley/D&B1), A.C. Nielsen Company (a subsidiary of ACNiel-
sen) and IMS International, Inc. (a subsidiary of the company then known as Cognizant Corporation). At the
time of the Ñling of the complaint, each of the other defendants was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Donnelley/D&B1.

The complaint alleges various violations of United States antitrust laws under Sections 1 and 2 of the
Sherman Antitrust Act. The complaint also alleges a claim of tortious interference with a contract and a claim
of tortious interference with a prospective business relationship. These claims relate to the acquisition by
defendants of Survey Research Group Limited (""SRG''). IRI alleges SRG violated an alleged agreement
with IRI when it agreed to be acquired by the defendants and that the defendants induced SRG to breach that
agreement.

IRI's antitrust claims allege that the defendants developed and implemented a plan to undermine IRI's
ability to compete within the U.S. and foreign markets in North America, Latin America, Asia,Europe and
Australia/New Zealand through a series of anti-competitive practices, including: unlawfully tying/bundling
services in the markets in which defendants allegedly had monopoly power with services in markets in which
ACNielsen competed with IRI; entering into exclusionary contracts with retailers in certain countries to deny
IRI's access to sales data necessary to provide retail tracking services or to artiÑcially raise the cost of that
data; predatory pricing; acquiring foreign market competitors with the intent of impeding IRI's eÅorts to
expand; disparaging IRI to Ñnancial analysts and clients; and denying IRI access to capital necessary for it to
compete.

IRI's complaint originally alleged damages in excess of $350 million, which IRI asked to be trebled under
antitrust laws. IRI has since revised its allegation of damages to exceed $650 million, which IRI also asked to
be trebled. IRI also seeks punitive damages in an unspeciÑed amount.

In April 2003, the Court denied a motion for partial summary judgment by the defendants that sought to
dismiss certain of IRI's claims and granted in part a motion by IRI seeking reconsideration of certain
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summary judgment rulings the Court had previously made in favor of the defendants. The motion granted by
the Court concerns IRI's claims of injuries from defendants' alleged conduct in certain foreign markets.

Discovery in the lawsuit is ongoing. The Court earlier set a trial date for September 2004. The Court
rescinded that date in January 2004 and there is currently no trial date set.

The Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement

In connection with the 1996 Distribution, Cognizant (now NMR), ACNielsen and Donnelley/D&B1
entered into an Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement (the ""JDA''), pursuant to which they agreed to:

‚ allocate potential liabilities that may relate to, arise out of or result from the IRI lawsuit (""IRI
Liabilities''); and

‚ conduct a joint defense of such action.

In particular, the JDA provides that:

‚ ACNielsen will assume exclusive liability for IRI Liabilities up to a maximum amount to be calculated
at such time as such liabilities become payable as a result of a Ñnal non-appealable judgment or any
settlement permitted under the JDA (the ""ACN Maximum Amount''); and

‚ Donnelley/D&B1 and Cognizant/NMR will share liability equally for any amounts in excess of the
ACN Maximum Amount.

As noted above, ACNielsen is responsible for the IRI Liabilities up to the ACN Maximum Amount. The
JDA provides that ACNielsen initially is to determine the amount that it will pay at the time of settlement or
a Ñnal judgment, if any, in IRI's favor (the ""ACN Payment''). The ACN Payment could be less than the
ACN Maximum Amount. The JDA also provides for Donnelley/D&B1and Cognizant/NMR to pay IRI 50%
of the diÅerence between the settlement or judgment amount and the ACN Payment. In exchange, the JDA
requires ACNielsen to issue a secured note (the ""ACN Note''), subject to certain limits and oÅsets, to each
of Donnelley/D&B1and Cognizant/NMR for the amount of their payment. The ACN Notes would become
payable upon the completion of the recapitalization plan described in the paragraph below.

The ACN Maximum Amount will be determined by an investment banking Ñrm as the maximum
amount that ACNielsen is able to pay after giving eÅect to:

‚ any recapitalization plan submitted by such investment bank that is designed to maximize the claims-
paying ability of ACNielsen without impairing the investment banking Ñrm's ability to deliver a
viability opinion and without requiring stockholder approval; and

‚ payment of interest on the ACN Notes and related fees and expenses.

For these purposes, ""viability'' means the ability of ACNielsen, after giving eÅect to such recapitalization
plan, the payment of interest on the ACN Notes, the payment of related fees and expenses, and the payment
of the ACN Maximum Amount, to:

‚ pay its debts as they become due; and

‚ Ñnance the current and anticipated operating and capital requirements of its business, as reconstituted
by such recapitalization plan, for two years from the date any such recapitalization plan is expected to
be implemented.

The JDA also provides that if it becomes necessary to post any bond pending an appeal of an adverse
judgment, then Cognizant/NMR and Donnelley/D&B1 shall obtain the bond required for the appeal, and
each shall pay 50% of the costs of such bond, if any, which cost will be added to IRI Liabilities. Under the
terms of the 2000 Distribution, we would be responsible for 25% of the total costs of any bond.
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VNU N.V.'s and D&B's Involvement in the Lawsuit

In 2001, ACNielsen was acquired by VNU N.V. VNU N.V. assumed ACNielsen's liabilities under the
JDA, and pursuant to the JDA VNU N.V. is to be included with AC Nielsen for purposes of determining the
ACN Maximum Amount.

Under the terms of the 1998 Distribution, D&B2 assumed all potential liabilities of Donnelley/D&B1
arising from the IRI action. Under the terms of the 2000 Distribution, D&B undertook to be jointly and
severally liable with Moody's/D&B2 for D&B2's obligations to Donnelley/D&B1 under the 1998 Distribution,
including for any liabilities arising under the JDA and arising from the IRI action itself. However, as between
us and Moody's/D&B2, we agreed that under the 2000 Distribution, each of us and Moody's/D&B2 will be
responsible for 50% of any payments required to be made by Moody's/D&B2 with respect to the IRI action
under the terms of the 1998 Distribution, including legal fees or expenses related to the IRI action.

D&B's Potential Exposure in the Lawsuit

As a result of the allocations of liability described above, we will be responsible for the payment of 25% of
the portion of any judgment or settlement in excess of the ACN Maximum Amount (as adjusted to include
VNU N.V.). Moody's/D&B2 will be responsible for the payment of an additional 25% (together constituting
Donnelley/D&B1's liability under the JDA for 50% of such amount) and Cognizant will be responsible for
payment of the remaining 50% of liability in excess of the ACN Maximum Amount. IMS and NMR are each
jointly and severally liable for all Cognizant liabilities under the JDA. IMS is responsible for 75% of any such
liability and NMR is responsible for 25% of any such liability up to $125 million. However, because liability
for violations of the antitrust laws is joint and several and because many of the rights and obligations relating
to the JDA are based on contractual relationships, the failure of a party to the JDA to fulÑll its obligations
could result in the other parties bearing a greater share of the IRI Liabilities. Joint and several liability means
that even where more than one defendant is determined to have been responsible for an alleged wrongdoing,
the plaintiÅ can collect all or part of the judgment from just one of the defendants. This is true regardless of
whatever contractual allocation of responsibility the defendants and any other indemnifying parties may have
made, including the allocations described above between VNU N.V., ACNielsen, IMS, Donnelly/D&B1,
NMR, Moody's/D&B2 and D&B.

We are unable to predict the outcome of the IRI action or the Ñnancial condition of ACNielsen and
VNU N.V. at the time of any such outcome (and hence we cannot estimate the ACN Maximum Amount and
the portion of any judgment to be paid by VNU N.V. and ACNielsen under the JDA). Therefore, we are
unable to predict at this time whether the resolution of this matter could materially aÅect our results of
operations, cash Öows or Ñnancial position. No amount in respect of this matter has been accrued in our
consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Hoover's Ì Initial Public OÅering Litigation

On November 15, 2001, a putative shareholder class action lawsuit was Ñled against Hoover's, certain of
its then current and former oÇcers and directors (the ""Individual Defendants''), and one of the investment
banks that was an underwriter of Hoover's July 1999 initial public oÅering (""IPO''). The lawsuit was Ñled in
the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and purports to be a class action Ñled
on behalf of purchasers of the stock of Hoover's during the period from July 20, 1999, through December 6,
2000.

A Consolidated Amended Complaint, which is now the operative complaint, was Ñled on April 19, 2002.
The purported class action alleges violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the ""1933
Act'') and Sections 10(b), Rule 10b-5 and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against the
Company and Individual Defendants. PlaintiÅs allege that the underwriter defendant agreed to allocate stock
in Hoover's IPO to certain investors in exchange for excessive and undisclosed commissions and agreements
by those investors to make additional purchases of stock in the aftermarket at predetermined prices above the
IPO price. PlaintiÅs allege that the Prospectus for Hoover's IPO was false and misleading in violation of the
securities laws because it did not disclose these arrangements. The action seeks damages in an unspeciÑed
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amount. The defense of the action is being coordinated with more than 300 other nearly identical actions Ñled
against other companies. On July 15, 2002, Hoover's moved to dismiss all claims against it and the Individual
Defendants. On October 9, 2002, the Court dismissed the Individual Defendants from the case without
prejudice based upon Stipulations of Dismissal Ñled by the plaintiÅs and the Individual Defendants. On
February 19, 2003, the Court denied the motion to dismiss the complaint against the Company. The Company
has approved a Memorandum of Understanding (""MOU'') and related agreements that set forth the terms of
a settlement among the Company, the plaintiÅ class and the vast majority of the other approximately 300
issuer defendants. The MOU and related agreements are subject to a number of contingencies, including the
negotiation of a settlement agreement and approval by the Court.

If the settlement is ultimately approved and implemented in its current form, Hoover's reasonably
foreseeable exposure in this matter, if any, would be limited to amounts that would be covered by existing
insurance. If the settlement is not approved in its current form, we cannot predict the Ñnal outcome of this
matter or whether such outcome or ultimate resolution of this matter could materially aÅect our results of
operations, cash Öows or Ñnancial position. No amount in respect of any potential judgment in this matter has
been accrued in our consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Pension Plan Litigation

In March 2003, a lawsuit seeking class action status was Ñled against us in federal court in Connecticut
on behalf of 46 speciÑed former employees. The complaint, as amended in July 2003 (the ""Amended
Complaint''), sets forth the following putative class:

‚ current D&B employees who are participants in The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Retirement
Account and were previously participants in its predecessor plan, The Dun & Bradstreet Master
Retirement Plan;

‚ current employees of Receivable Management Services Corporation (""RMSC'') who are participants
in The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Retirement Account and were previously participants in its
predecessor plan, The Dun & Bradstreet Master Retirement Plan;

‚ former employees of D&B or D&B's Receivable Management Services (""RMS'') operations who
received a deferred vested retirement beneÑt under either The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation
Retirement Account or The Dun & Bradstreet Master Retirement Plan; and

‚ former employees of D&B's RMS operations whose employment with D&B terminated after the sale
of the RMS operations but who are not employees of RMSC and who, during their employment with
D&B, were ""Eligible Employees'' for purposes of The Dun & Bradstreet Career Transition Plan.

The Amended Complaint estimates that the proposed class covers over 5,000 individuals.

There are four counts in the Amended Complaint:  Count 1 claims that we violated ERISA by not paying
severance benefits to plaintiffs under our Career Transition Plan. Count 2 claims a violation of ERISA in that
our sale of the RMS business to RMSC and the resulting termination of our employees constituted a prohibited
discharge of the plaintiffs and/or discrimination against the plaintiffs for the ""intentional purpose of interfering
with their employment and/or attainment of employee benefit rights which they might otherwise have attained.''
Count 3 claims that the plaintiffs were materially harmed by our alleged violation of ERISA's requirements that
a summary plan description reasonably apprise participants and beneficiaries of their rights and obligations under
the plans and that, therefore, undisclosed plan provisions (in this case, the actuarial deduction beneficiaries incur
when they leave D&B before age 55 and elect to retire early) cannot be enforced against them. Count 4 claims
that the 63/5% interest rate (the rate is actually 63/4%) used to actuarially reduce early retirement benefits is
unreasonable and, therefore, results in a prohibited forfeiture of benefits under ERISA.

The plaintiÅs purport to seek payment of severance beneÑts; equitable relief in the form of either
reinstatement of employment with D&B or restoration of employee beneÑts (including stock options);
invalidation of the actuarial reductions applied to deferred vested early retirement beneÑts, including
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invalidation of the plan rate of 63/5% (the actual rate is 63/4%) used to actuarially reduce former employees'
early retirement beneÑts; attorneys' fees and such other relief as the court may deem just.

We deny all allegations of wrongdoing and are aggressively defending the case. In September 2003, we
Ñled a motion to dismiss a majority of the claims in the Amended Complaint on the ground that plaintiÅs
cannot prevail with respect to those claims under any set of facts. The motion did not address the claim in
Count 2 that challenges the sale of the RMS business as an intentional interference with employee beneÑt
rights. Although we believe this claim is without merit, the nature of the allegation requires that it be
addressed by a summary judgment motion at a later stage of the litigation after discovery has taken place. We
are unable to predict at this time the Ñnal outcome of this matter or whether the resolution of this matter
could materially aÅect our results of operations, cash Öows or Ñnancial position. No amount in respect of this
matter has been accrued in our consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Note 14. Segment Information

The operating segments reported below are our segments for which separate Ñnancial information is
available and upon which operating results are evaluated on a timely basis to assess performance and to
allocate resources. We report our business on a geographical basis Ì with two operating segments, North
America and International. Our product lines are Risk Management Solutions, Sales & Marketing Solutions,
Supply Management Solutions and E-Business Solutions. We reclassify Receivable Management Services
and all other divested businesses as ""Receivable Management Services and Other Divested Businesses'' (see
Note 3). The accounting policies of our segments are the same as those described in Note 1. Inter-segment
sales are immaterial and no single customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenues. For management
reporting purposes, we evaluate business segment performance before restructuring charges, certain other
items we do not consider to reÖect our underlying business performance and non-operating income or
expenses. Additionally, transition costs, which are period costs such as consulting fees, costs of temporary
employees, relocation costs and stay bonuses incurred to implement our Financial Flexibility program, are not
allocated to our business segments.

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Operating Revenues:

North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 960.1 $ 912.1 $ 909.8

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 426.3 363.5 394.8

Consolidated TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,386.4 $1,275.6 $1,304.6

Operating Income (Loss):

North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 329.9 $ 313.1 $ 295.8

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 59.9 43.5 23.3

Total Divisions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 389.8 356.6 319.1

All Other(1)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (98.0) (100.7) (95.5)

Consolidated TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 291.8 255.9 223.6

Non-Operating Income (Expense) Ì Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11.4) (16.7) 30.0

Income before Provision for Income Taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 280.4 $ 239.2 $ 253.6

Depreciation and Amortization:(2)

North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 41.1 $ 57.7 $ 56.9

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19.6 23.9 33.1

Total Divisions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 60.7 81.6 90.0

All OtherÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.3 2.6 4.5

Consolidated TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 64.0 $ 84.2 $ 94.5
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Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Capital Expenditures:

North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 7.7 $ 10.6 $ 10.7

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.3 5.2 4.9

Total Divisions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11.0 15.8 15.6

All OtherÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 0.6

Consolidated TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 11.0 $ 15.8 $ 16.2

Additions to Computer Software and Other Intangibles:

North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 16.5 $ 29.8 $ 30.0

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.8 7.7 4.4

Total Divisions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19.3 37.5 34.4

All OtherÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 0.2 2.6

Consolidated TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 19.3 $ 37.7 $ 37.0

Assets:

North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 456.8 $ 366.0 $ 387.7

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 541.1 493.1 473.7

Total Divisions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 997.9 859.1 861.4

All Other (primarily domestic pensions and taxes)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 626.8 668.6 601.2

Consolidated TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,624.7 $1,527.7 $1,462.6

Goodwill:

North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 118.0 $ 51.6 $ 45.9

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 138.9 131.7 93.7

Consolidated TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 256.9 $ 183.3 $ 139.6

Supplemental Geographic and Product Line Information:

Long-Lived Assets:

North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 642.8 $ 534.8 $ 531.5

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 167.5 267.8 252.9

Consolidated TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 810.3 $ 802.6 $ 784.4

Product Line Revenues:

North America:

Risk Management SolutionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 603.6 $ 594.3 $ 586.9

Sales & Marketing Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 294.1 289.1 257.1

Supply Management SolutionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 33.4 28.7 26.4

E-Business Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29.0 Ì Ì

Total North America Core ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 960.1 912.1 870.4

Receivable Management Services and Other Divested Businesses Ì Ì 39.4

Total North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 960.1 912.1 909.8
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Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

International:

Risk Management SolutionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 339.0 283.2 274.0

Sales & Marketing Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 72.2 65.4 71.0

Supply Management SolutionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11.8 8.8 3.3

Total International Core ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 423.0 357.4 348.3

Receivable Management Services and Other Divested Businesses 3.3 6.1 46.5

Total International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 426.3 363.5 394.8

Consolidated Total:

Risk Management SolutionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 942.6 877.5 860.9

Sales & Marketing Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 366.3 354.5 328.1

Supply Management SolutionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45.2 37.5 29.7

E-Business Solutions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29.0 Ì Ì

Consolidated Total Core ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,383.1 1,269.5 1,218.7

Receivable Management Services and Other Divested Businesses ÏÏ 3.3 6.1 85.9

Consolidated TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,386.4 $1,275.6 $1,304.6

(1) The following table itemizes ""All Other'':

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Operating Income (Loss):

Corporate CostsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(44.5) $ (38.4) $(31.6)

Transition Costs (Costs to implement our Financial Flexibility
program) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (22.3) (31.4) (28.4)

Restructuring Expense Ì Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (17.4) (30.9) (28.8)

Loss on High Wycombe Building SaleÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (13.8) Ì Ì

Reorganization Costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 7.0

Asset Write-oÅs for World Trade Center Attack ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (1.0)

Other Asset ImpairmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (6.2)

Murray Hill Facility Impairment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (6.5)

Total ""All Other'' ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(98.0) $(100.7) $(95.5)

(2) Includes depreciation and amortization of Property, Plant and Equipment, Computer Software, Goodwill
(prior to 2002) and Other Intangibles.

Note 15. Supplemental Financial Data

Other Current Assets:

At December 31,

2003 2002

Deferred Income TaxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $27.5 $20.4

Prepaid Expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.4 12.9

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.0 5.8

$41.9 $39.1
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Other Accrued and Current Liabilities:

At December 31,

2003 2002

Restructuring Accruals ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.7 $ 18.2

Other Accrued Liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 126.6 133.9

$129.3 $152.1

Property, Plant and Equipment Ì Net, carried at cost:

At December 31,

2003 2002

Land ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4.7 $ 21.2

Buildings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28.9 125.9

Machinery and Equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 221.0 236.4

254.6 383.5

Less: Accumulated Depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 209.7 241.8

44.9 141.7

Leasehold Improvements, less:

Accumulated Amortization of $20.4 and $17.9 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10.2 8.0

$ 55.1 $149.7

Other Income (Expense) Ì Net:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Other Expense Ì Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(1.5) $(2.3) $(3.9)

Gain (Loss) on Sale of Businesses(1)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.5) 5.0 56.3

Write-oÅ of Investments(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (2.9) (6.1)

Insurance RecoveryÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.0 Ì Ì

$ 3.0 $(0.2) $46.3

(1) See Note 3 to these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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Computer Software and Goodwill:

Computer
Software Goodwill

January 1, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $103.6 $139.6

Additions at cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 37.6 Ì

AmortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (63.3) Ì

Divestitures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8.9) Ì

AcquisitionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.4 22.6

Other(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.1 21.1

December 31, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 69.5 183.3

Additions at cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19.3 Ì

AmortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (40.9) Ì

Divestitures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (2.3)

Assets Held for Sale ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (20.9)

AcquisitionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.2 71.3

Other(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.9) 25.5

December 31, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 47.2 $256.9

(2) Impact of foreign currency Öuctuations.

Other Intangibles:

Customer Trademarks,
Lists Patents and Other Total

January 1, 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 9.2 $ 0.2 $ 9.4

Additions at costÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 0.2 0.2

Operating Amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.9) (1.0) (1.9)

Other(3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.7) 0.7 Ì

December 31, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.6 0.1 7.7

Additions at costÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.4 5.1 14.5

Operating Amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3.1) Ì (3.1)

Other(4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6.3) Ì (6.3)

December 31, 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 7.6 $ 5.2 $12.8

(3) Impact of foreign currency Öuctuations.

(4) Due to assets held for sale.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:

January 1, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 19.5

Additions changed to costs and expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13.3

Write-oÅsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11.8)

December 31, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 21.0

Additions charged to costs and expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.3

Write-oÅsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (13.3)

December 31, 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 23.0

Additions charged to costs and expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.1

Write-oÅsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5.3)

December 31, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 21.8

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance:

January 1, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 77.6

Additions charged (credited) to costs and expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7.4)

December 31, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 70.2

Additions charged (credited) to costs and expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (13.4)

December 31, 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 56.8

Additions charged (credited) to costs and expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 21.9

Additions charged (credited) to other accounts(5) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.3)

December 31, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 76.4

(5) Amount represents a decrease to goodwill associated with the Data House acquisition. See Note 4 to
these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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Note 16. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Year

2003

Operating Revenues:

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $226.5 $229.3 $229.2 $275.1 $ 960.1

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 88.2 105.7 103.1 129.3 426.3

Consolidated Operating RevenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $314.7 $335.0 $332.3 $404.4 $1,386.4

Operating Income (Loss):

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 80.3 $ 68.4 $ 75.3 $105.9 $ 329.9

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.3 16.4 10.8 31.4 59.9

Total Divisions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 81.6 84.8 86.1 137.3 389.8

All Other(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (26.0) (23.7) (32.0) (16.3) (98.0)

Consolidated Operating Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 55.6 $ 61.1 $ 54.1 $121.0 $ 291.8

Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 37.1 $ 35.1 $ 28.8 $ 73.5 $ 174.5

Basic Earnings Per Share of Common
Stock(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ .50 $ .47 $ .39 $ 1.01 $ 2.37

Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common
Stock(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ .48 $ .46 $ .38 $ .98 $ 2.30

2002

Operating Revenues:

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $239.7 $215.2 $212.2 $245.0 $ 912.1

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 75.0 90.7 86.7 111.1 363.5

Consolidated Operating RevenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $314.7 $305.9 $298.9 $356.1 $1,275.6

Operating Income (Loss):

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 80.2 $ 66.0 $ 67.6 $ 99.3 $ 313.1

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.0) 14.1 7.8 25.6 43.5

Total Divisions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 76.2 80.1 75.4 124.9 356.6

All Other(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (17.2) (49.3) (16.6) (17.6) (100.7)

Consolidated Operating Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 59.0 $ 30.8 $ 58.8 $107.3 $ 255.9

Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 33.5 $ 10.9 $ 34.7 $ 64.3 $ 143.4

Basic Earnings Per Share of Common
Stock(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ .45 $ .15 $ .47 $ .86 $ 1.93

Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common
Stock(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ .43 $ .14 $ .45 $ .84 $ 1.87

(1) The following table itemizes the components of the ""All Other'' category of Operating Income (Loss)
(see Note 3 to these consolidated Ñnancial statements):
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Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Year

Operating Income (Loss):

2003:

Restructuring ExpenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(10.9) $ (4.9) $ (1.6) $ Ì $ (17.4)

Loss on High Wycombe,
England, Building Sale ÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (13.8) Ì (13.8)

Corporate Costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (9.7) (11.3) (9.9) (13.6) (44.5)

Transition Costs (Costs to
implement our Financial
Flexibility program)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5.4) (7.5) (6.7) (2.7) (22.3)

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(26.0) $(23.7) $(32.0) $(16.3) $ (98.0)

2002:

Restructuring ExpenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $(30.9) $ Ì $ Ì $ (30.9)

Corporate Costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (9.8) (9.1) (8.0) (11.5) (38.4)

Transition Costs (Costs to
implement our Financial
Flexibility program)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7.4) (9.3) (8.6) (6.1) (31.4)

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(17.2) $(49.3) $(16.6) $(17.6) $(100.7)

(2) The number of weighted average shares outstanding changes as common shares are issued for employee
beneÑt plans and other purposes or as shares are repurchased. For this reason, the sum of quarterly
earnings per share may not be the same as earnings per share for the year.

Note 17. Subsequent Events (Unaudited)

Assets Held for Disposal Ì Nordic Operations

On October 9, 2003, we signed an agreement to sell our operations in Sweden, Denmark, Norway, and
Finland (""Nordic operations'') to Bonnier AÅarsinformation AB. On December 1, 2003, the transaction
closed and we received proceeds of $42.7 million, consisting of cash of $35.5 million, notes receivable of
$5.9 million and another receivable of $1.3 million. We will recognize a pre-tax gain of $7.9 million in the Ñrst
quarter of 2004 as a result of our International November 30 Ñscal year end. Our Nordic operations generated
approximately $50.9 million in revenue in 2003.

We have reclassiÑed the assets and liabilities relating to the Nordic operations to Assets and Liabilities
Held for Sale in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2003. Assets Held for Sale of
$41.5 million is primarily made up of accounts receivable, other intangible assets, and goodwill. Liabilities
Held for Sale of $12.5 million is primarily made up of accounts payable, accrued liabilities and deferred
revenue. The Nordic operations belong to our International segment.

Assets Held for Disposal Ì India Operations

On December 13, 2003, we signed an agreement to sell our operations in India and our distribution
channels in Pakistan and the Middle East for $7.7 million. We will recognize a pre-tax gain of approximately
$3.5 million in the Ñrst quarter of 2004 as a result of our International November 30 Ñscal year end. In 2003
revenue generated from these operations and distribution channels was approximately $6.4 million. The
transaction closed on February 29, 2004.

We have reclassiÑed the assets and liabilities relating to the India operations to Assets and Liabilities
Held for Sale in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2003. Assets Held for Sale of
$11.1 million is primarily made up of cash and goodwill. Liabilities Held for Sale of $1.4 million is primarily
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made up of accrued liabilities and deferred revenue. The Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale are subject to
change through the closing of the transaction. The Indian operations belong to our International segment.

Share Repurchase Program

In February 2004, we announced that our board of directors authorized a one-year share repurchase
program of up to $200 million, funded with cash on hand and future cash Öow. This program is in addition to
our existing share repurchase program to oÅset the dilutive eÅect of shares issued under employee beneÑt
plans. At current market prices, this represents approximately 6% of shares outstanding. Through February 29,
2004, we repurchased 632,000 shares at an aggregate cost of $33.9 million. At current market prices, when we
complete this program, we will have reduced shares outstanding by over 15% since the beginning of 2001.

Financial Flexibility Program

In February 2004, we announced our intentions to implement the next phase of our Financial Flexibility
program. The actions associated with this phase, which will be implemented continuously throughout 2004,
include continuing to streamline our data acquisition to delivery process, re-engineering business operations in
our international segment, consolidating technology spending, improving controls and increasing emphasis on
business-decision support, and consolidating our purchasing spend worldwide

These program actions are expected to deliver $70 million to $80 million on an annualized basis before
any reallocation of spending. As a result, we expect to incur restructuring charges recognized in accordance
with SFAS No. 146, in 2004, of $30 million to $35 million associated with this series of initiatives. In addition,
we anticipate that we will incur transition costs of between $18 million to $22 million to complete the actions
embedded within the plan.

This re-engineering phase will have a high start-up cost, due to the use of consultants in lieu of in-house
staÅ. As such, we will incur a signiÑcant amount of consulting costs, within Corporate and Other, in the Ñrst
quarter of 2004. In April 2004, we plan on communicating the Ñnal program estimates for each of these
actions including Ñnal annual savings amounts, restructuring charges, transition costs, and headcount
impacted by this series of initiatives.

104



Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Auditing and Financial Disclosure

Not Applicable.

Item 9a. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls

We evaluated the eÅectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (""Disclosure Controls'') as of
the end of the 2003 Ñscal year. This evaluation (""Controls Evaluation'') was done with the participation of our
chairman and chief executive oÇcer (""CEO'') and chief Ñnancial oÇcer (""CFO'').

Disclosure Controls are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we Ñle or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(""Exchange Act'') is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods speciÑed in the
SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure Controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we Ñle under
the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Limitations on the EÅectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our Disclosure Controls or our
internal controls over Ñnancial reporting (""Internal Controls'') will prevent all error and all fraud. A control
system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
that the objectives of a control system are met. Further, any control system reÖects limitations on resources,
and the beneÑts of a control system must be considered relative to its costs. Because of the inherent limitations
in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within D&B have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that
judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or
mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two
or more people, or by management override of a control. A design of a control system is also based upon
certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, there can be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-eÅective control system, misstatements due to error
or fraud may occur and may not be detected.

Conclusions

Based upon the Controls Evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that, subject to the limitations
noted above, the Disclosure Controls are eÅective in providing reasonable assurance that material information
relating to D&B is made known to management on a timely basis during the period when our periodic reports
are being prepared.

There were no changes in our Internal Controls that occurred during the quarter covered by this report
that have materially aÅected, or are reasonably likely to materially aÅect, our Internal Controls.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive OÇcers of the Registrant*

Our Corporate Governance Principles, Code of Conduct and the charters of our Audit, Board AÅairs and
Compensation & BeneÑts committees are available on our Web site and are available in print, without charge,
to any shareholder upon request by contacting our Corporate Secretary, c/o The Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation 103 JFK Parkway, Short Hills, New Jersey 07078-2708. Our website address is
http://www.dnb.com.

We have adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all of our directors, oÇcers and employees (including
our Chief Executive OÇcer, Chief Financial OÇcer and Corporate Controller) and have posted the Code of
Conduct on our Web site. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K relating
to amendments to or waivers from any provision of our Code of Conduct applicable to our Chief Executive
OÇcer, Chief Financial OÇcer and Corporate Controller by posting this information on our Web site. Our
Web site address is listed above.

The information on our Web site is not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part of this report or
incorporated into any other Ñlings we make with the SEC.

Item 11. Executive Compensation*

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneÑcial Owners and Management*

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2003, regarding shares of our common stock
that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

(A) (B) (C)

Number of Securities
Number of Securities Remaining Available for
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Future Issuance Under

Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plans
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, (Excluding Securities

Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights ReÖected in Column(A))

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,253,742(2) $25.10 4,748,111(3)

(1) This table includes information for two equity compensation plans adopted in connection with our
separation from Moody's. As of December 31, 2003, a total of 3,139,639 shares of D&B common stock
were issuable upon exercise of outstanding options and other rights under those two plans. The weighted
average exercise price of those outstanding options and other rights is $14.43 per share. No additional
options or other rights may be granted under those two plans.

(2) Includes options for 9,203,120 shares of D&B common stock, restricted stock units for 43,876 shares of
D&B common stock and deferred performance shares for 6,746 shares of D&B common stock. This
amount does not include outstanding shares of restricted common stock of 176,570.

* Information regarding our Corporate Governance Principles, Code of Conduct and Committee
Charters is set forth in Item 10 of this Form 10-K. Information regarding our equity compensation plans is set
forth under Item 12. Information relating to our executive oÇcers is set forth in Part I of this Form 10-K. All
other information called for by Items 10-14 will be contained in our deÑnitive proxy statement for use in
connection with our annual meeting of shareholders scheduled to be held on May 4, 2004. Such information is
incorporated into this Form 10-K by reference. Such incorporation by reference shall not be deemed to
speciÑcally incorporate by reference the information referred to in Item 402(a)(8) of Regulation S-K.
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(3) Includes shares available for future purchases under our 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the
""ESPP''). As of December 31, 2003, an aggregate of 1,097,570 shares of D&B common stock were
available for purchase under the ESPP.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions*

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services*
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) List of documents Ñled as part of this report.

(1) Financial Statements.

See Index to Financial Statements and Schedules in Part II, Item 8 on page 58 of this Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

None.

(3) Exhibits.

See Index to Exhibits on pages 110 to 113 of this Form 10-K.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

During the last quarter of our Ñscal year ended December 31, 2003, we furnished a Current Report on
Form 8-K on October 27, 2003, covering Item 7. Financial Statements and Exhibits and Item 12. Results of
Operations and Financial Conditions.

Since the end of our Ñscal year ended December 31, 2003, we have furnished one report on Form 8-K.
We furnished a Current Report on Form 8-K on February 2, 2004, covering Item 7. Financial Statements and
Exhibits and Item 12. Results of Operations and Financial Conditions. This Form 8-K included the press
release announcing our Ñnancial results for the fourth quarter and full year ended December 31, 2003.

(c) Exhibits.

See Index to Exhibits on pages 110 to 113 of this Form 10-K.

(d) Financial Statement Schedules.

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized,
on March 5, 2004.

THE DUN & BRADSTREET CORPORATION

(Registrant)

By: /s/ ALLAN Z. LOREN

Allan Z. Loren
Chairman and Chief Executive OÇcer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on March 5, 2004.

/s/ ALLAN Z. LOREN Director and Chairman and Chief
Executive OÇcer(principal executiveAllan Z. Loren

oÇcer)

/s/ SARA MATHEW Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial OÇcer(principal ÑnancialSara Mathew

oÇcer)

/s/ MARY JANE RAYMOND Vice President and Corporate
Controller(principal accountingMary Jane Raymond

oÇcer)

/s/ STEVEN W. ALESIO Director and President and Chief
Operating OÇcerSteven W. Alesio

/s/ JOHN W. ALDEN Director

John W. Alden

/s/ RONALD L. KUEHN, JR. Director

Ronald L. Kuehn, Jr.

/s/ VICTOR A. PELSON Director

Victor A. Pelson

/s/ SANDRA E. PETERSON Director

Sandra E. Peterson

/s/ MICHAEL R. QUINLAN Director

Michael R. Quinlan

/s/ FREDERIC V. SALERNO Director

Frederic V. Salerno

/s/ NAOMI O. SELIGMAN Director

Naomi O. Seligman
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Regulation
S-K

Exhibit
Number

3. Articles of Incorporation and By-laws

3.1 Restated CertiÑcate of Incorporation of the Registrant, as amended eÅective October 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant's Report on Form 8-K, Ñle
number 1-15967, Ñled October 4, 2000).

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form 10, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled June 27, 2000).

4. Instruments DeÑning the Rights of Security Holders, Including Indentures

4.1 Specimen Common Stock CertiÑcate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form 10, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled September 11,
2000).

4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of August 15, 2000, between the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B
Corporation) and EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., as Rights Agent, which includes the
CertiÑcate of Designation for the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock as Exhibit A
thereto, the Form of Right CertiÑcate as Exhibit B thereto and the Summary of Rights to
Purchase Preferred Shares as Exhibit C thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 to the
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form 8-A, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled September 15,
2000).

4.3 Five Year Credit Agreement, dated as of September 11, 2000, among the Registrant (f.k.a. The
New D&B Corporation), The Chase Manhattan Bank, Citibank, N.A. and the Bank of New
York (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled November 14, 2000).

4.4 Indenture dated as of March 22, 2001, by and between the Registrant and The Bank of New
York, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled May 15, 2001).

4.5 Forms of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled May 15, 2001).

4.6 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 5, 2003, among the
Registrant, JPMorgan Chase Bank, Citibank, N.A., Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi Trust Company,
The Bank of New York and the Northern Trust Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled
November 6, 2003).

10. Material Contracts

10.1 Distribution Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2000, between Moody's Corporation (f.k.a.
The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K, Ñle
number 1-15967, Ñled October 4, 2000).

10.2 Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2000, between Moody's Corporation
(f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B
Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Report on
Form 8-K, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled October 4, 2000).

10.3 Employee BeneÑts Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2000, between Moody's Corporation
(f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B
Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Report on
Form 8-K, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled October 4, 2000).
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10.4 Undertaking of the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation), dated September 30, 2000,
to Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled October 4,
2000).

10.5 Undertaking of the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation), dated September 30, 2000,
to R.H. Donnelley Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant's
Report on Form 8-K, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled October 4, 2000).

10.6 Distribution Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1998, between R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a.
The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and Moody's Corporation (f.k.a. The New Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q of Moody's Corporation, Ñle number 1-14037, Ñled August 14, 1998).

10.7 Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1998, between R.H. Donnelley Corporation
(f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and Moody's Corporation (f.k.a. The New Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q of Moody's Corporation, Ñle number 1-14037, Ñled August 14, 1998).

10.8 Employee BeneÑts Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1998, between R.H. Donnelley Corporation
(f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and Moody's Corporation (f.k.a. The New Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q of Moody's Corporation, Ñle number 1-14037, Ñled August 14, 1998).

10.9 Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley Corporation
(f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(x) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.H.
Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for the year ended
December 31, 1996, Ñle number 1-7155, Ñled March 27, 1997).

10.10 Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley Corporation
(f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(y) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.H.
Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for the year ended
December 31, 1996, Ñle number 1-7155, Ñled March 27, 1997).

10.11 Employee BeneÑts Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley
Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(z) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K
of R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for the year ended
December 31, 1996, Ñle number 1-7155, Ñled March 27, 1997).

10.12 Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley
Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit l0(aa) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K
of R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for the year ended
December 31, 1996, Ñle number 1-7155, Ñled March 27, 1997).

10.13 Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of D&B Investors L.P., dated
April 1, 1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q of Moody's Corporation, Ñle number 1-14037, Ñled August 14, 1998).

10.14 D&B Guaranty, dated as of April 1, 1997, given by The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation in favor
of Utrecht-America Finance Co. and Leiden Inc. (as assumed by the Registrant) (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle
number 1-15967, Ñled November 14, 2000).
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10.15‰ The Dun & Bradstreet Executive Transition Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled
November 14, 2000) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled November 14, 2000).

10.16‰ Forms of Change in Control Severance Agreements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21
to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled November 14,
2000).

10.17‰ Pension BeneÑt Equalization Plan of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q, Ñle
number 1-15967, Ñled November 14, 2000).

10.18‰ Supplemental Executive BeneÑt Plan of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle
number 1-15967, Ñled November 14, 2000).

10.19‰ ProÑt Participation BeneÑt Equalization Plan of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled November 14, 2000).

10.20‰ Employment Agreement, dated May 15, 2000, by and between Moody's Corporation (f.k.a. The
Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and Allan Z. Loren (as assumed by the Registrant)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on
Form 10/A-3, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled September 14, 2000).

10.21‰ The Dun & Bradstreet Career Transition Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to
the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled March 4, 2002).

10.22‰ 2000 Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Replacement Plan for Certain Directors Holding Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation Equity-Based Awards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled November 14, 2000).

10.23‰ 2000 Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Replacement Plan for Certain Employees Holding Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation Equity-Based Awards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled November 14, 2000).

10.24‰ The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated
June 20, 2001) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Registrant's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled August 1, 2001).

10.25‰ 2000 Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Non-Employee Directors' Stock Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled February 21, 2001).

10.26‰ The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Nonfunded Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee
Directors (as assumed by the Registrant) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to
Moody's Corporation Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-14037, Ñled October 20,
1999).

10.27‰ Form of Limited Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.25 to Moody's Corporation Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-14037,
Ñled August 14, 1998).

10.28‰ The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Covered Employee Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, Ñle
number 1-15967, Ñled February 21, 2001).

10.29‰ The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to to the
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled February 21, 2001).
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10.30‰ Form of Detrimental Conduct Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled March 4, 2002).

10.31‰ Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated February 2002, by and between Allen Z. Loren
and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled March 4, 2002).

10.32‰ Key Employees' Non-QualiÑed Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled
May 6, 2002).

10.33‰ Letter Agreement dated March 20, 2002, between the Registrant and Steven W. Alesio
(incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle
number 1-15967, Ñled May 6, 2002).

10.34 Technology Services Agreement between the Registrant and Computer Sciences Corporation,
dated June 27, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled August 13, 2002).

10.35‰ Employment Agreement dated July 8, 2002, by and between Steven W. Alesio and the
Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, Ñle number 1-15967, Ñled August 13, 2002).

10.36‰ The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, Ñle
number 1-15967, Ñled March 38, 2003).

21. Subsidiaries of the Registrant

21.1* List of Active Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003.

23. Consents of Experts and Counsel

23.1* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

31. Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) CertiÑcations

31.1* CertiÑcation of Chief Executive OÇcer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* CertiÑcation of Chief Financial OÇcer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32. Section 1350 CertiÑcations

32.1* CertiÑcation of Chief Executive OÇcer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2* CertiÑcation of Chief Financial OÇcer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed herewith.

‰ Represents a management contract or compensatory plan.
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